### Discussion Paper

No. 08 September 2018

#### **Population Europe**

THE NETWORK OF EUROPE'S LEADING DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH CENTRES



## **Similar but Different**

Inclusion and Exclusion of Immigrant Communities Sharing Similar Cultural Backgrounds with Their Host Societies

Edited by Aimie Bouju and Andreas Edel

#### **Population Europe Discussion Papers Series**

#### Number 1:

Perspectives of Policy-Relevant Population Studies (Authors: Tommy Bengtsson et al.), 2012.

#### Number 2:

Demographic Change on the Political Agenda of the European Commission (Author: Ann Zimmermann), 2015.

#### Number 3:

EU Civil Society and Demographic Change (Author: Ann Zimmermann), 2015.

#### Number 4:

Social Vulnerability as an Analytical Perspective (Author: Ann Zimmermann), 2017.

#### Number 5:

Family Diversity and its Challenges for Policy Makers in Europe. Evidence and Recommendations from the FP7 Project *FamiliesAndSocieties* (Authors: Daniela Vono de Vilhena and Livia Sz. Oláh), 2017.

#### Number 6:

Green Book Ageing Society: How "New Ageing" Will Change Our Lives (Editors: James W. Vaupel and Andreas Edel), 2017.

#### Number 7:

Knowing the Unknown: Irregular Migration in Germany (Author: Daniela Vono de Vilhena), 2018.

## **Similar but Different**

**Inclusion and Exclusion of Immigrant Communities Sharing Similar Cultural Backgrounds** with Their Host Societies

Edited by Aimie Bouju and Andreas Edel

www.population-europe.eu

#### Imprint:

© 2018 Max Planck Society for the Advancement of Science on behalf of the collaborative network "Population Europe". Quotations are permitted as long as the network Population Europe is given credit.



This discussion paper received funding from the project "*The Challenges of Migration, Integration and Exclusion. Wissenschaftsinitiative Migration der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft (WiMi Project)*", financed by the Max Planck Society.

ISSN: 2512-6172
Editors: Aimie Bouju, Andreas Edel
Technical Coordination: Aimie Bouju, Emily Lines
Layout: The Brettinghams GmbH, Berlin, Germany
Copyright Front Page: Jacob Ammentorp Lund, Istockphoto.
Print: Newprint blue GmbH, Berliner Str. 13-14, 10715 Berlin, Tel.: (030) 48 48 23 23, Fax: (030) 48 48 23 24,
E-Mail: mail@newprint-blue.de, Web: www.newprint-blue.de
Contact: Population Europe Secretariat, Markgrafenstraße 37, 10117 Berlin, Germany
Phone: +49 (0)30 2061 383 30, Fax: +49 (0)30 2061 383 50
Email: office@population-europe.eu
Web: www.population-europe.eu

## **Table of contents**

### 01 Introduction

Aimie Bouju

- 03 **Beyond Shared Background?** The Inclusion of Commonwealth Citizens in the UK in Education and the Labour Market *Laurence Lessard-Phillips*
- 11 African Migrants in France A Shared Background, but Distinct Integration Experiences Tatiana Eremenko
- 19 Selective Migration Policies in Spain The Case of Latin Americans Andreu Domingo i Valls
- 25 Patterns of Integration, Cultural Negotiations and the Roles of Brazilian Associations in Portugal (Late-1980s to the Present) João Sardinha
- 30 German Expellees in Post-War West Germany and Canada Pascal Maeder
- 35 German Expellees in West Germany After 1945 and Their Integration Into Church Communities Soňa Mikulová

- 41 **The Alchemy of Integration** Russians in Bulgaria *Anna Krasteva*
- 47 Historical Links and Integration of Migrants from Neighbouring Countries in Hungary Attila Melegh and Attila Papp Z.
- 54 **The End of Fraternity?** Twenty-Seven Years After the Collapse of the Soviet Union – Xenophobia in Russia *Paul Becker*
- 61 **Refugees in India After 1947** Deepra Dankedar

### 67 Conclusions

Reflections on Culture as a Driver of Inclusion (To Be Continued) Andreas Edel and Aimie Bouju

71 About the authors

### Introduction

#### Aimie Bouju

Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany

Social cohesion and cultural integration of immigrants is a recurrent topic in most public discourses in European countries (Algan et al., 2012). The persistent discussion about a dominant, guiding culture in Germany (the so-called Leitkultur-Debatte) or the French debate on the nature of secularism and the challenges of Islam (débats sur la Laïcité) are just some examples. In those debates, different cultural traditions, languages and/or religious affiliations have often been mentioned as hindrances for the integration of immigrants, suggesting that divergent values and traditions make it more difficult to acculturate in a host society. While cultural distance with the host society is assumed to be an obstacle towards integration, it is also widely believed that individuals who share a similar cultural background with local natives would integrate more smoothly and swiftly into host societies. This view - implicitly supported by assimilation theories - has dominated, for instance, much of the sociological thinking in the 20th century (Alba and Nee, 1997). Even if scientific evidence suggests nowadays much more nuanced perspectives and lead to the development of alternative approaches, this presumption is still at the very heart of public debate and integration policies (Schneider and Crul, 2010).

This discussion paper seeks to put this claim to the test. By analysing the integration process of immigrant groups in different national contexts, it puts into question the extent to which similar cultural backgrounds influence the integration of immigrants in the receiving society. Is the integration of culturally close or similar migrants into the new environment "easier" than the integration of other immigrant groups? Or do the former face similar difficulties and disadvantages as the latter? The answer might seem evident at first glance and we may think that "closeness" may have a greater impact on their integration chances. This discussion paper will highlight that overall acceptance regarding ethnically closed migrants does not always match with better integration levels.

This discussion paper adopts a cross-national and interdisciplinary approach. First, it seems relevant to compare diverse aspects of integration processes in selected countries with distinct immigration experiences, political developments and ethnic minorities. Each country has established its own migratory system defined by pull and push economic factors, but also by legislation, cultural and historical links (Haas, 2007; Massey et al., 1998). The cross-national perspective allows one to ask whether particular patterns of integration are recurrent in different contexts. Second, contributions from various disciplines permit an analysis of integration processes under different perspectives, revealing the multifaceted mechanisms of inclusion and exclusion of immigrants in their host societies. The phenomena of exclusion can be highlighted by socio-economic indicators, but may also be identified using ethnological or historical perspectives.

For this purpose, this discussion paper analysed three different scenarios: 1) Migrants originated from "broken" communities after a dissolution of the political entity they have been living in over centuries, such as German expellees in West Germany after 1945 (Soňa Mikulová) and Canada (Pascal Maeder), ethnic Hungarians migrating to Hungary (Attila Melegh and Attila Papp Z.) and refugees who migrated after the partition of India and Pakistan (Deepra Dandekar); 2) the situation of immigrants in multi-ethnic communities who share some cultural traditions with the majority of the population in the country of destination due to their common colonial past, for instance in the United Kingdom (Laurence Lessard-Phillips), France (Tatiana Eremenko), Spain (Andreu Domingo i Valls) and Portugal (João Sardinha); 3) societies where ethnic diversity has been a less pronounced obstacle on the way to integration due to an overarching concept of social cohesion, such as the socialist notion of transnational solidarity within the "working class" like Russians in Bulgaria (Anna Krasteva) and migrants from the former USSR in the Russian Federation (Paul

**Becker**). In this way, this discussion paper will show that even under "optimal" conditions with regard to aspects like bilingualism, shared cultural traditions and narratives, as well as similar religious beliefs, the pathway to inclusion is not necessarily any smoother.

This discussion paper received funding from the project "*The Challenges of Migration, Integration and Exclusion. Wissenschaftsinitiative Migration der Max-Planck-Gesellschaft (WiMi Project)*", financed by the Max Planck Society. This project seeks to put a strong focus on patterns and mechanisms of exclusion.

#### References

Alba, R. & Nee, V. (1997). Rethinking Assimilation Theory for a New Era of Immigration. *The International Migration Review 31*(4): 826-874.

Algan, Y., Bisin, A., Manning, A. & Verdier, T. (2012). *Cultural Integration of Immigrants in Europe*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Haas, H. d. (2009). *Migration System Formation and Decline. A Theoretical Inquiry into the Self-Perpetuating and Self-Undermining Dynamics of Migration Processes.* International Migration Institute, paper 19: 1-37.

Joppke, C. (2003). Citizenship Between De- and Re-Ethnicization. European Journal of Sociology 44(3), 429-458.

Joppke, C. (2005). *Selecting by Origin: Ethnic Migration in the Liberal State*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Massey, D., Arango, J., Hugo, G., Kouaouci, A., Pellegrino, A. & Taylor, J. E. (1998). *Worlds in Motion. Understanding International Migration at the End of the Millennium*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Schneider, J. and Crul, M. (2010). New Insights into Assimilation and Integration Theory: Introduction to the Special Issue. *Ethnic and Racial Studies 33*(7): 1143-1148.

## **Beyond Shared Background?**

### The Inclusion of Commonwealth Citizens in the UK in Education and the Labour Market

#### Laurence Lessard-Phillips

Institute for Research into Superdiversity (IRiS), University of Birmingham, United Kingdom

- The movement of people in and out of the UK has always been a feature of the country, with its colonial past playing an important role in patterns of migration and the shaping of post-war immigration policy.
- Perceptions and policy surrounding Commonwealth "migrants" has followed "patrial" lines, where preference has been historically granted to individuals from the Old (white) Commonwealth and opposition to "migration" from the New (ethnic minority) Commonwealth has been strong.
- Patrial tendencies are also present in the inclusion of Commonwealth citizens in education and the labour market, which do not always disappear over time and follow strong ethnic lines.
- It might be worth reconsidering the lens through which the inclusion of the Old Commonwealth should be explored.

#### Introduction: The UK as a country of immigration?

Migration, or individuals' "permanent or semipermanent change of residence" (Lee 1966, 49)<sup>1</sup>, has always been an important feature of population dynamics for the United Kingdom (UK), be it, for example, from conflict, settlement, trade, movement of UK citizens and subjects, free movement of EU citizens, movement of refugees and asylum seekers, or more regulated immigration.<sup>2</sup> According to official statistics, despite these historical trends, up until the 1990s the UK was a country of emigration rather than immigration (Office for National Statistics 2016a), with empire-building and consolidating, as well as economic circumstances, among others, leading to more people, quite often UK citizens, leaving the country, rather than entering (Hatton & Wheatley Price 2005). Recent net migration figures highlight how the outflow continues to be sizeable, but outnumbered by the significant increase of inflow. Concerns with the movement and settlement of individuals not born within the geographical boundaries of the UK, especially if ethnically different from the

"mainstream" white British population, and regardless of their entitlements to enter and remain, have almost always taken centre stage in the UK's political and public spheres. If we focus on the post-war period, this can be seen, among others, in speeches by Powell and Jenkins in the 1960s (Jenkins 1967; Powell 1968), opposition to immigration and multiculturalism (Ford 2011; Taylor-Gooby & Waite 2014), discussions about social integration (All Party Parliamentary Group on Social Integration 2017; Casey 2016) and debates about "EU immigration" in the run-up to the EU Referendum (Prosser, Mellon & Green 2016).

One central and recurring feature of post-war debates and policies around this topic concerns postcolonial migration. This is linked more specifically to the rejection and/or acceptance of postcolonial "migrants"<sup>3</sup> from the "Old" and "New" Commonwealth (see text box) as economically, socially and culturally viable for the UK (Joppke 2005). A recurring narrative has been that of "patriality": The differentiation between "wanted" (usually from the Old Commonwealth) and "unwanted" (usually from the New Commonwealth) migrants based on ancestry linked to the UK, and, by and large, ethnic differentiation and racial hierarchical preference (Hansen 2000, Joppke 2005, Miles 1991).

Thus, the question that is posed in this contribution is whether this patrial link reproduces itself beyond the political and public debates and into the educational and economic structures of the UK, or whether shared institutional background facilitates inclusion. One could argue that shared background through Commonwealth affiliation should, in theory, facilitate the integration of Commonwealth "migrants". Yet, the main answer, which should not come as a surprise, is that the patrial link remains, especially in the labour market. This contribution, via a review of the existing literature, will outline the areas of inclusion and exclusion for Old and New Commonwealth "migrants" and attempt to investigate which factors may, or may not, explain this. First, however, we delve a bit further into the context characterising the patterns and policies governing the movement of Commonwealth "migrants" to the UK.

#### Commonwealth citizens in the UK: Patterns and policy

Estimates<sup>4</sup> of the movement of people born in Commonwealth countries in and out of the UK (see Figure 1) show that, in the last three decades, net migration has been generally positive (more people in-migrating than out-migrating). Especially since the 1990s and early 2000s, the positive trends of New Commonwealth net migration tend to follow that of other groups, such as people born in the EU or other countries.



Figure 1: Estimates of net migration to the UK, 1975-2015, by country of birth<sup>5</sup>.

Source: Office for National Statistics (2016b). Crown copyright 2016. Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence (http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence).

This has occurred despite continued attempts to restrict the legal rights and entitlements of Commonwealth citizens to move and settle in the UK during that period.

Without going into too much detail (see, e.g., work by Solomos (1989), Hansen (2000) and Hampshire (2005) for more), the policies regulating the entry and settlement of Commonwealth citizens have greatly changed in the post-war period, steering away from a dependence on the Commonwealth and toward the European Community and the European

4

Old Commonwealth	New Commonwealth
Canada, Australia, New Zealand, South Africa*	Anguilla, Antigua and Barbuda, Bahamas (The), Bangladesh, Barbados, Belize, Bermuda, Botswa- na, British Indian Ocean Territory, British Overseas, British Virgin Islands, Brunei, Cameroon, Cayman Islands, Christmas Island, Cocos Island, Cook Island, ex Cyprus**** / Southern Cyprus**** / Northern Cyprus, Dominica, Falkland Islands / British Antarctic, Gambia (The)**, Ghana, Grenada, Guyana, India, Jamaica, Kenya, Kiribati (and other Pacific Islands), Lesotho, Malawi, Malaysia, Malta****, Mauritius, Montserrat, Mozambique, Namibia, Nauru, Nigeria, Niue Island, Norfolk Island, Pacific Islands (including Palau), Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Pitcairn Island, Rwanda***, Western Samoa, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Singapore, Solomon Islands, South Georgia and South Sandwich Islands, Sri Lanka, St Helena / Ascension / Tristan da Cunha, St Kitts and Nevis, St Lucia, St Vincent and the Grenadines, Swaziland, Tanzania, Tonga, Trinidad and Tobago, Turks and Caicos Islands, Tuvalu, Uganda, Vanuatu, Wallis and Futuna Islands, Zambia, Zimbabwe**.

Table 1: Old and New Commonwealth countries.

Notes: \*Often not included in Old Commonwealth in published research. \*\*Withdrew from the Commonwealth, but still included in that category. \*\*\*Admitted to the Commonwealth in 2009, so excluded from most statistics. \*\*\*\*Included as EU since 2004 Accession.

Source: Office for National Statistics (2015, 2016b).

Union (Spencer 2002). In more recent years, this also included reframing views of (non-EU) migrants along economic lines (Mulvey 2011). This has had the impact of re-labelling Commonwealth citizens, especially from the New Commonwealth, from British subjects to immigrants. The general narrative has been a "gradual" stripping of such rights and entitlements whilst keeping the advantages of patrial linkage embedded within new policies (Hansen 2000, Miles 1991).<sup>6</sup>

Like many European countries in the post-war period, the UK was outward-looking when attempting to fill labour shortages. The advantage of it being a colonial power meant that important labour shortages, such as within the health system, were filled from (usually New) Commonwealth countries (Raghuram & Kofman 2002). However, in the face of economic, political and public backlash, as well as more reliance on EU workers, rights of access and settlement for Commonwealth citizens became more and more restricted and tied to prior links to the UK, starting in the 1960s. Subsequent policies have sought to reduce various entitlements, especially with regard to settlement, citizenship acquisition (via the 1981 British Nationality Act), and family reunification. Yet, these policies exempted anyone with direct lineage to the UK (via, for example, emigrating parents or grandparents) from immigration control, hence ensuring the maintenance of the patrial link to the Old Commonwealth (Hansen 2000).

#### The inclusion of Commonwealth citizens and their descendants in education and work

Published research that identifies migrants from the Old/New Commonwealth in the field of education and work is quite rare, if not non-existent in the case of the latter. This may be due to the availability of existing data, or the reliance on more established measures of differentiation such as ethnicity. It is the case that identification with the Commonwealth in data sources is less and less common. The Labour Force Survey, often used for studies of inclusion in education and the labour market, has not used a Commonwealth-based classification of country of birth since 1991 (Office for National Statistics 2017a)<sup>7</sup>. Moreover, since 2015, the Office for National Statistics

ics has discontinued many tables allowing the identification of Old and New Commonwealth "migrants" in their official immigration estimates (Office for National Statistics 2017b).

A more common occurrence is the use of self-reported ethnicity as a measure, which has been a variable in official statistics since the 1991 National Census (Jivraj 2012) and used in many surveys. The current ethnicity categories, which have been present (though changing) in every Census since it was established in 1991, are as follows (Office for National Statistics n.d.):

- White: Welsh / English / Scottish / Northern Irish / British, Irish, Gypsy or Irish Traveller, any other White background;
- Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups: White and Black Caribbean, White and Black African, White and Asian, any other Mixed / Multiple ethnic background;
- Asian / Asian British: Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi, Chinese, any other Asian background;
- Black / African / Caribbean / Black British: African, Caribbean, any other Black / African / Caribbean background; and
- Other ethnic group: Arab, any other ethnic group.

As can be seen, these different categories of ethnic groups are linked to colonial heritage and allow for differentiation between groups from the New Commonwealth. Although a well-established, well-criticised and often challenged measure (Bhambra 2007; Burton, Nandi & Platt 2010), self-reported ethnicity does not, however, allow to directly identify Old Commonwealth "migrants" in the data. These tend to be lumped in the "White Other" category (along with, among others, EU nationals who identify as white).

Reference	Field	Target groups	Summary of results
Algan, Dust- mann, Glitz, & Manning (2010)	Education	Ethnic minority by gener- ation, compared to natives	High educational attainment for all groups except Black Caribbean and Bangladeshi men, Pakistani and Bangladeshi women. Improvement across generations.
Battu & Sloane (2004)	Education	Ethnic minority groups, some differentiation by country of birth, com- pared to white group	Over-education (mismatch between education and occupa- tion) for non-whites, especially among Indian and Afri- can-Asian group, and for Pakistani and Bangladeshi work- ers with foreign qualifications. Language fluency, being UK-born and having foreign credentials have impact on both over- and under-education.
Bell (1997)	Labour market	Migrant groups: Indians, West Indians and Whites (White European and Old Commonwealth)	Most disadvantaged group are immigrants from the West Indies, especially with foreign labour market experience, but differentials decrease with time spent in the UK. Wage advantage for white migrants that disappears over time.
Clark & Lindley (2009)	Labour market	Old and New Common- wealth migrants, broken down by ethnicity (white vs non-white). Men only	Non-white migrants have lower performance in the labour market than white migrants, but some Commonwealth advantage in terms of employment for labour market entrants. Advantage of having UK-based educational quali- fications, especially for white migrants.
Demireva (2011)	Labour market	Recently arrived Old and New Commonwealth migrants, compared to old migrants (<1990s) and newer migrant groups (e.g. EU-15, Eastern Europe, etc.)	Lower levels of economic activity for women compared to British-born whites, especially New Commonwealth. For men, Old Commonwealth migrants have lower rates of inactivity than British-born whites. Negative coefficient for employment for New Commonwealth, positive for Old Commonwealth (for men and women). Greater positive odds of good jobs for Old Commonwealth (men and women); same for women from New Commonwealth once education taken into account.
Demireva & Kesler (2011)	Labour market	Old and New Common- wealth migrants, com- pared to other groups (e.g. British-born whites, second generation, EU-8, Turks, etc.)	Greater risk of New Commonwealth group being out of employment and persisting over time, especially with regard to unemployment. Long-term inactivity more likely for women from the New Commonwealth groups. Old Com- monwealth labour market outcomes similar to the Brit- ish-born white group.
Dustmann & Fabbri (2003)	Labour market	Ethnic minority groups	Language fluency has a positive effect on employment, but lack of fluency has negative effect on earnings.
Dustmann & Fabbri (2005)	Labour market	Ethnic minority groups, White Old and New Com- monwealth groups	Employment and activity rates lower for ethnic minority migrant groups, especially women from the Bangladeshi and Pakistani groups. White migrant groups have similar rates of employment and participation compared to the British-born whites, but higher wages, especially from Old Commonwealth. Greater likelihood of self-employment for most groups (aside from Black Caribbean and Black Afri- can).
Dustmann, Machin, & Schön- berg (2010)	Education	Ethnic minority groups	Initial disadvantage for ethnic minority pupils, compared to the British-born white group, which diminishes over time for all groups aside from Black Caribbean pupils (especially boys). More improvement among female pupils. English language fluency at home an important factor for improve- ment. Institutional and teacher attitudes make a differ- ence.
Lessard-Phillips & Li (2017)	Education	Ethnic groups according to migrant generation	Educational advantage for ethno-generational groups (in terms of degree attainment) that tends to, but does not always, converge toward the outcomes of fourth genera- tion white British group (assimilation effect). Lack of advantage for Black Caribbean group and Pakistani and Bangladeshi 1.5 generation.
Lindley (2009)	Education	Ethnic minority groups, differentiated by country of birth (UK/non-UK)	Over-education on the part of non-white UK-born men and Indian and Pakistani/Bangladeshi women, as well as non-UK born African and Other ethnic minority group. Evidence of a penalty for most of the over-educated groups, but also advantage in terms of returns to skills for some.
Strand (2014)	Education	Ethnic minority groups	Better achievement of ethnic minority pupils from low SES status at age 16, as well as progress between ages 11 and 16, aside from Black Caribbean boys. Indian students from high SES having higher achievement than white British pupils.

6

#### Commonwealth citizens in education: Focus on ethnicity

When looking at research on education, affiliation to the Commonwealth is not used, whereas there is more research investigating migrant and/or ethnic educational inequalities, often interchangeably. Such research shows that there are varying levels of student performance according to migration status and ethnicity.8 It is the case, however, that not all research differentiates between ethnic minority individuals born in and outside of the UK (the latter being the focus of this essay). With regard to performance during compulsory schooling, which often focuses on the UK-born children of migrants, research shows lower, but at the same time improving, educational performance for ethnic minority pupils (Dustmann, Machin, & Schönberg 2010; Strand 2014). With regard to qualifications achieved, regardless of the measure used, the Indian, Black African and Chinese groups have the highest levels of educational attainment. The level of attainment is lower for the Pakistani group, whereas the Black Caribbean and Bangladeshi groups tend to exhibit the lowest levels of attainment, with some differences between men and women, and overall improvement across generations (Algan, Dustmann, Glitz & Manning 2010; Lessard-Phillips & Li 2017). There are also indications of over- and under-education, broadly following patterns of educational attainments (Battu & Sloane 2004; Lindley 2009).

#### Commonwealth citizens and the labour market: Presence of penalties

Contrary to educational research, there are some studies focusing on the differentiation between Old and New Commonwealth "migrants" when exploring inequalities in the labour market. Some of this research contrasts the labour market outcomes of Old Commonwealth groups to specific New Commonwealth groups, or differentiates between white migrants from the Old and New Commonwealth. The bulk of the research on inequalities in the labour market does, however, focus on the performance of ethnic groups, just as in the sphere of education. Here I focus on the former. Overall, such research shows negative effects that are stratified along patrial lines: Whereas "migrants" from the Old Commonwealth exhibit positive or similar performance in the labour market (with regard to, for example, participation, employment and earnings) compared

to the "native" British-born, there are some important negative differences for "migrants" from the New Commonwealth. Participation rates tend to be lower for New Commonwealth migrants, but this changes during the time spent in the country (Demireva 2011; Dustmann & Fabbri 2005).

In terms of employment (Clark & Lindley 2009; Demireva 2011; Demireva & Kesler 2011; Dustmann & Fabbri 2005), there are some positive effects, especially for white "migrants" from the Old and New Commonwealth with increased time spent in the UK. White Commonwealth "migrants" have greater initial advantages, particularly if they arrived in the UK as students or have language fluency. The initial disadvantages experienced by minority New Commonwealth "migrants" do not, however, always disappear over time. Patterns appear to repeat themselves in the second generation (Demireva & Kesler 2011) and language proficiency appears to have a positive effect on employment outcomes (Dustmann & Fabbri 2003, who investigated this without using a Commonwealth angle). With regard to earnings (Bell 1997; Clark & Lindley 2009; Dustmann & Fabbri 2005), "migrants" from the New Commonwealth, especially from the Caribbean, have the strongest disadvantage, which decreases, but remains throughout their career, whereas Old Commonwealth immigrants have a wage advantage that tends to converge toward that of the UK-born over time. Regarding job quality, self-employment rates are higher among all "migrant" groups, and New Commonwealth "migrants", especially men, are less likely to have high quality occupations (Demireva 2011; Dustmann & Fabbri 2005).

#### Conclusions

As we can see above, the research orientations, as well as patterns of differentiation in education and the labour market, follow ethnic lines, which indirectly concern "migrants" from the New Commonwealth, but does not allow for an assessment of the inclusion of Old Commonwealth migrants. What we tend to see are patterns of high educational attainments, with some variation, but disadvantage in the labour market as a common story for ethnic minority groups that sometimes, but not always, disappears over time. When the differentiation is possible, which is the case for work focusing on the labour market, patterns of inequality based on patriality emerge, especially with regard to the advantage of Old Commonwealth "migrants". One may assume that a country's colonial past would equip citizens of said country with a shared background that facilitates their inclusion in the host society. In the case of the UK, this does not appear to be the case.

A question that emerges from these results is whether other "shared" characteristics such as language, religion, length of stay and citizenship play a role. Existing research that engages with this shows some improvement when such measures are included, but inequalities tend to remain. There thus seem to be persisting ethnic inequalities in terms of the inclusion of Commonwealth "migrants" in the education and labour market structures of the UK. Issues of attitudes toward Commonwealth "migrants", especially with regard to the New Commonwealth, which can be based on ethnic prejudice and discrimination, should be explored in more detail. Another issue that needs further thought is whether migrants from the Old Commonwealth are considered migrants in legal, social and political terms. Given the fact that most of them are descendants of individuals emigrating from the UK, this may require the exploration of their inclusion through a different lens.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> This definition implies that children of migrants, or the second generation (Lessard-Phillips, Galandini, de Valk, & Fibbi, 2017) are not included in this discussion.

<sup>2</sup> For an interactive description of migration to the UK, see https://www.ourmigrationstory.org.uk/.

<sup>3</sup> Here I use the term migrant as an individual having established their place of residence in the UK, regardless of their legal imperative to do so.

<sup>4</sup> These are estimates taken from the International Passenger Survey.

<sup>5</sup> Note that the confidence intervals provided with the estimates are not included here; caution is required when comparing lines.

<sup>6</sup> The recent "Windrush scandal", which occurred after this contribution was written, can be linked to this narrative.

<sup>7</sup> It is, however, still possible to classify individuals manually.

8 Note that not all research is reviewed here except for pa-

pers that are indicative of results from the broader field.

#### References

Algan, Y., Dustmann, C., Glitz, A. & Manning, A. (2010). The Economic Situation of First and Second-Generation Immigrants in France, Germany and the United Kingdom. *The Economic Journal*, *120*(542), F4–F30.

All Party Parliamentary Group on Social Integration (2017). Integration Not Demonisation: The Final Report of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on Social Integration's Inquiry into the Integration of Immigrants. London. Retrieved from http://socialintegrationappg.sw16.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/06/TC0016\_AAPG\_Integration\_not\_Demonisation\_Report.pdf.

Battu, H. & Sloane, P. J. (2004). Over-Education and Ethnic Minorities in Britain. *The Manchester School, 72*(4), 535–559.

Bell, B. D. (1997). The Performance of Immigrants in the United Kingdom: Evidence from the GHS. *The Economic Journal*, *107*(441), 333–344.

Bhambra, G. M. (2007). Sociology and Postcolonialism: Another `Missing' Revolution? *Sociology*, *41*(5), 871–884.

Burton, J., Nandi, A. & Platt, L. (2010). Measuring Ethnicity: Challenges and Opportunities for Survey Research. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *33*(8), 1332–1349.

Casey, L. (2016). *The Casey Review: A Review into Opportunity and Integration*. London: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/575973/The\_Casey\_Review\_Report.pdf.

Clark, K. & Lindley, J. (2009). Immigrant Assimilation Pre and Post Labour Market Entry: Evidence from the UK Labour Force Survey. Journal of Population Economics, 22(1), 175–198.

Demireva, N. (2011). New Migrants in the UK: Employment Patterns and Occupational Attainment. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 37*(4), 637–655.

Demireva, N. & Kesler, C. (2011). The Curse of Inopportune Transitions: The Labour Market Behaviour of Immigrants and Natives in the UK. *International Journal of Comparative Sociology*, *52*(4), 306–326.

Dustmann, C. & Fabbri, F. (2003). Language Proficiency and

www.population-europe.eu

Labour Market Performance of Immigrants in The UK. *The Economic Journal, 113*(489), 695–717.

Dustmann, C. & Fabbri, F. (2005). Immigrants in the British Labour Market. *Fiscal Studies, 26*(4), 423–470.

Dustmann, C., Machin, S. & Schönberg, U. (2010). Ethnicity and Educational Achievement in Compulsory Schooling. *The Economic Journal*, *120*(546), F272–F297.

Ford, R. (2011). Acceptable and Unacceptable Immigrants: How Opposition to Immigration in Britain is Affected by Migrants' Region of Origin. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *37*(7), 1017–1037.

Hampshire, J. (2005). *Citizenship and Belonging: Immigration and the Politics of Demographic Governance in Postwar Britain.* Basingstoke: Springer.

Hansen, R. (2000). *Citizenship and Immigration in Postwar Britain*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hatton, T. J. & Wheatley Price, S. (2005). Migration, Migrants and Policy in the United Kingdom. In K. F. Zimmermann (Ed.), *European Migration: What Do We Know* (pp. 113–172). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Jenkins, R. (1967). *Essays and Speeches by Roy Jenkins*. London: Collins.

Jivraj, S. (2012). *How Has Ethnic Diversity Grown 1991-*2001-2011? *Dynamics of Diversity: Evidence from the 2011 Census.* Manchester: University of Manchester.

Joppke, C. (2005). *Selecting by Origin: Ethnic Migration in the Liberal State*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

Lee, E. S. (1966). A Theory of Migration. *Demography*, *3*(1), 47–57.

Lessard-Phillips, L., Galandini, S., de Valk, H. & Fibbi, R. (2017). Damned If You Do, Damned If You Don't: The Challenges of Including and Comparing the Children of Immigrants in European Survey Data. In C. Bolzman, L. Bernardi & J.-M. Le Goff (Eds.), *Situating Children of Migrants across Borders and Origins: A Methodological Overview* (pp. 25–53). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Lessard-Phillips, L. & Li, Y. (2017). Social Stratification of Education by Ethnic Minority Groups over Generations in the UK. *Social Inclusion*, 5(1), 45-54.

Lindley, J. (2009). The Over-Education of UK Immigrants

and Minority Ethnic Groups: Evidence from the Labour Force Survey. *Economics of Education Review, 28*(1), 80–89.

Miles, R. (1991). Migration to Britain: The Significance of a Historical Approach. *International Migration*, 29(4), 527– 543.

Mulvey, G. (2011). Immigration Under New Labour: Policy and Effects. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 37*(9), 1477–1493.

Office for National Statistics (n.d.). Ethnic Group, National Identity and Religion. Retrieved January 31, 2018, from https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsand-standards/measuringequality/ethnicgroupnationalidentityandreligion.

Office for National Statistics. (2015). Migration Statistics Quarterly Report, August 2015. Office for National Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/ peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/ internationalmigration/bulletins/migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/2015-08-27.

Office for National Statistics. (2016a). Explore 50 Years of International Migration to and from the UK. Retrieved from https://visual.ons.gov.uk/explore-50-years-of-internation-al-migration/.

Office for National Statistics. (2016b). International Passenger Survey 3.25, Country of Birth - Current and Old Country Groupings, UK - Discontinued. Retrieved from https:// www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/datasets/internationalpassengersurveycountryofbirthcurrentandnewcountrygroupingstable325.

Office for National Statistics. (2017a). Labour Force Survey – User Guidance. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/ employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/methodologies/labourforcesurveyuserguidance.

Office for National Statistics. (2017b). Migration Statistics Quarterly Report: November 2017. Retrieved from https:// www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/november2017.

Powell, E. (1968). Rivers of Blood. Birmingham Post, 22.

Prosser, C., Mellon, J. & Green, J. (2016). What Mattered Most to You When Deciding How to Vote in the EU Referen-

dum? Retrieved from http://www.britishelectionstudy.com/ bes-findings/what-mattered-most-to-you-when-decidinghow-to-vote-in-the-eu-referendum/#.W2ggRIVKhpg.

Raghuram, P. & Kofman, E. (2002). The State, Skilled Labour Markets, and Immigration: The Case of Doctors in England. *Environment and Planning A, 34*(11), 2071–2089.

Solomos, J. (1989). The Politics of Immigration since 1945. In J. Solomos (Ed.), *Race and Racism in Contemporary Britain* (pp. 40–67). London: Macmillan Education UK.

Spencer, I. R. G. (2002). *British Immigration Policy Since* 1939: The Making of Multi-Racial Britain. Abingdon: Taylor & Francis.

Strand, S. (2014). Ethnicity, Gender, Social Class and Achievement Gaps at Age 16: Intersectionality and "Getting It" for the White Working Class. *Research Papers in Educa-tion, 29*(2), 131–171.

Taylor-Gooby, P. & Waite, E. (2014). Toward a More Pragmatic Multiculturalism? How the U.K. Policy Community Sees the Future of Ethnic Diversity Policies. *Governance*, *27*(2), 267–289.

## **African Migrants in France**

### A Shared Background, but Distinct Integration Experiences

#### **Tatiana Eremenko**

National University of Distance Education (UNED) / French Institute for Demographic Studies (Ined)

- Migration from Africa is an important component of migration flows to France, the initiation and evolution of which can be traced to its' colonial past.
- The legal context in which these migrations take place has changed and Sub-Saharan African nationals appear to be particularly affected by restrictive migration policies.
- Migrants from Sub-Saharan Africa tend to be better educated than migrants from Northern Africa, but both groups experience difficulties in terms of labour market integration.
- These difficulties persist despite the fact that many migrants from Africa are French speakers, and more generally, individuals familiar with France before their migration.

#### Introduction: Migration from Africa at the centre of public debates

Immigration has been a permanent feature of French society since the 19<sup>th</sup> century. Initially the recruitment of workers from neighbouring European countries, and later colonial territories, was seen as necessary to compensate for labour shortages, especially during and in the aftermath of both World Wars. However, each time economic growth slowed down, policies were adopted that were aimed at restricting the entry, stay and work of foreigners (Borrel 1999). Legal routes for work migration were restricted beginning in the 1960s. Since then migration flows have diversified in terms of migration motives (family ties, asylum, studies) and national origins (Bouvier 2012).

Immigration and the integration of persons with a migrant background are topics constantly present in public debates in France. These issues have been at the top of the government's agenda, with legal reforms taking place every couple of years since 1980. They are especially visible during electoral campaigns, particularly during the campaign which led to the election of Nicolas Sarkozy as President in 2007. Most of these debates concern postcolonial migration flows, primarily from the Maghreb and Sub-Saharan Africa. The focus on the difficulties migrants and their descendants face in French society suggests the impossibility of a successful integration for these groups as compared to previous waves of migrants - from Southern Europe, for example - due in part to cultural differences.1 This situation may seem surprising given the historical ties between the countries of origin and France, a shared cultural background and a common language in the case of some of the migrants. In this context, it is useful to reconsider to what extent these ties with former colonies from Africa have shaped migration flows and migrants' experiences in France and have set the foundations for both advantages, but also obstacles they face in French society. To answer this question, I examine the position of these migrants in three areas: Their prospects of acquiring a stable legal status, a prerequisite for participation in other areas; their educational levels and labour market outcomes; and the role of the French language in their migration and integration process.

#### > Postcolonial flows: A diversity of situations, difficult to apprehend with existing data sources

The initiation and evolution of migration flows from Africa to France is linked to its' colonial past. The French colonial empire covered three continents before its' decomposition following the independence of Indochina (1954), Algeria (1962) and Sub-Saharan African countries in the 1960s. Morocco and Tunisia were previously French protectorates, but also gained their full independence in this period (1956). However, for a long time, relations between the independent states and the former metropole remained close in many areas: Politically, militarily, economically. In addition, French continues to be the official language or is widely used in many of the countries: It is spoken by around 274 million people<sup>2</sup>, their geographical distribution reflecting that of the former French colonial empire (Organisation Internationale de la Francophonie, OIF 2014).

Migrants from these countries have distinct migratory histories towards the former metropole. The arrival of nationals from Indochina is concentrated in

time (between 1975 and 1983) and primarily composed of refugees (Beauchemin et al. 2015b). Algerian migration to France has a longer history and more diversified flows (workers and their families, but also persons fleeing persecution at the end of the  $20^{th}$ century) (Zehraoui 2003). Migration from Sub-Saharan Africa pre-dates the independence of these countries, with initial flows from present-day Senegal, later followed by Mali and Mauritania, and important diversification in the last decades in terms of origins and profiles (workers and their families, students, asylum seekers) (Barou 2011). Since the start of the 21st century, migration from the African continent, more precisely from Sub-Saharan Africa, has progressed at a more rapid rate than for the rest of the immigrant population (Table 1): Whereas the total immigrant population increased by 36% between 1999 and 2014, it more than doubled for those from Sub-Saharan Africa as a group and from countries such as the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Côte d'Ivoire and Cameroon. However, it is important to note that this group continues to represent a minority of immigrants in France (14% of the total). The Maghreb remains one of the most numerous region of origin (30%), similar in size with that of Europe (32%, not in table).

To what extent do existing statistics provide information on describing characteristics and outcomes of migrants from former colonies? Whereas data sources (administrative sources, statistical surveys) often collect primary information that makes it possible to identify these migrants (based on their nationality and/or country of birth), published statistics generally do not use categories referring to former colonial history, making it difficult, if not impossible, to identify them. Historically, statistics have used categories related only to nationality, and have distinguished between "French" and "foreigners". The concept of "immigrant" - a person who is born a foreigner and abroad, and resides in France - was adopted by the High Council for Integration in 1991 and gradually introduced in official statistics since this time (population census, statistical surveys) (Héran 2002).3

	Number		% col		Increase in %
	1999	2014	1999	2014	11 -70
Maghreb	1,298,499	1,761,254	30.1	30.1	36
Algeria	575,740	773,742	13.4	13.2	34
Morocco	521,059	721,963	12.1	12.3	39
Tunisia	201,700	265,549	4.7	4.5	32
Sub-Saharan Africa	393,611	833,033	9.1	14.2	112
Senegal	53,859	91,949	1.3	1.6	71
Angola	8,392	19,759	0.2	0.3	135
Cameroon	26,890	76,369	0.6	1.3	184
Comoros	13,763	30,893	0.3	0,5	124
Congo	35,318	61,793	0.8	1.1	75
Dem. Rep. of the Congo	23,727	74,630	0.6	1.3	215
Côte d'Ivoire	29,879	78,480	0.7	1.3	163
Guinea	5,704	31,179	0.1	0.5	447
Madagascar	28,272	53,403	0.7	0.9	89
Mali	35,978	68,826	0.8	1.2	91
Mauritius	27,806	32,024	0.6	0.5	15
Mauritania	8,237	15,824	0.2	0.3	92
Other African countries	95,786	197,904	2.2	3.4	107
Total: Africa	1,692,110	2,594,287	39.3	44.4	53
Total: All countries	4,308,527	5,848,314	100	100	36

Table 1: Estimates of immigrants from African countries living in France, 1999-2014.

Source: INSEE, Population census 1999 (table CD-N1), 2014 (table IMG1B).

Given their numbers, immigrants born in Algeria, Morocco and Tunisia are usually distinguished, although at times they are merged into one category. The National Statistical Institute (INSEE) in the past sometimes distinguished immigrants from countries having formerly been under French rule<sup>4</sup> and those from other Sub-Saharan countries (for example, in the population census of 1999). However, this no longer appears to be the case and immigrants from all African countries other than Algeria, Morocco and Tunisia are often grouped together without further distinctions (with some exceptions).

Surveys specifically targeting persons with an immigrant background, such as the Trajectories and Origins Survey (TeO 2008-2009)<sup>5</sup> or the Longitudinal Survey of the Integration of First-time Arrivals (ELIPA 2010-2013)<sup>6</sup>, provide more detailed data in terms of national origins. Authors of the TeO study make a distinction between three groups of Sub-Saharan African countries in their analyses depending on their migratory history with France (Beauchemin et al. 2015a).

Statistics using ethnic and racial categories, such as those used in other "multicultural" societies like the United States or the United Kingdom, are non-existent in the French context. Although the categories of "race" and ethnicity are used in debates, and racism and racial discriminations are present in French society, "race" and ethnicity were never codified in France as categories in official statistics. Social sciences have also been reticent to introducing these categories in their analyses (Simon 2015).

#### Legal regime: Restrictive migration policies for all migrants

Understanding the migrants' legal context of reception is important as it determines their ulterior outcomes. Legal status is increasingly being recognised as a basis for social stratification, and having an important impact on different areas of migrants' lives, such as family relations or health. Migrants from former colonies have been coming to France under different legal regimes. Before independence, they were French subjects and could thus come and go freely. Many were actively recruited to come and work in France, although did not always have the same level of rights as other workers (for example, in terms of family benefits) (Math 1998). After their independence, some African states were able to negotiate more favourable legal agreements, particularly in terms of labour migration (Barou 2011). For example, nationals of some countries were not required to hold a visa until 1984 (Vickstrom 2014). However, these specific legal regimes were gradually aligned with the general one, which has in turn become more and more restrictive.

Migrants from Sub-Saharan African countries appear to be among those most affected by these policy changes. Of those migrants who received their first permanent residence permit, nationals from these countries (a majority of which were from Mali and Senegal) had the most complex and precarious migratory and administrative trajectories of all groups (Régnard & Domergues 2011). They were over-represented among migrants who had travelled through other countries (often due to the lack of documents allowing them to directly enter France), who had been in France for five or more years before being given permanent residency (often through regularisation for family or work reasons) and who had experienced greater difficulties in the prefectures while obtaining their residence permit. For those that had come directly to France within less than a year, a larger proportion of Sub-Saharan migrants had been refused a visa in the past compared to nationals of other origins. These findings are corroborated by another survey carried out among Sub-Saharan migrants in the greater Paris region showing that settlement in France (obtaining a permanent legal status, a personal dwelling and paid work) often took them many years (Gosselin et al. 2016).

#### Educational levels and labour market outcomes: A mismatch

Although stereotypes portray all immigrants as low educated, recent studies tell a more nuanced story and insist on the diversity of situations in terms of education among migrants. Migrants are generally "positively selected" among the origin population, meaning that their educational levels are higher than those of individuals who do not migrates, and this is equally the case in France (Ichou et al. 2017). In addition, specific flows have a higher proportion of individuals with a tertiary education than the native-born population (for example, in the case of a high presence of students or high-skilled migrants).

Indeed, migrants' educational levels need to be understood with regard to their migratory trajectories.

Migrants from Northern Africa have lower educational levels than the majority population in France (Beauchemin et al. 2015b): This situation is due to an important proportion of older migrants who arrived many years ago and who have no education (around one out of seven adult immigrants from Algeria and Morocco living in France). Inversely, Sub-Saharan male migrants hold a tertiary degree more often than the majority population, due to the fact that many of them arrived in France as students (Moguérou et al. 2015). Around one-fourth of residence permits issued to Sub-Saharan nationals in France in the 2008-2015 period were for studies, and this proportion was even higher for specific countries: Benin (51%), Gabon (66%), Guinea (31%), Senegal (34%) (the corresponding proportion was 30% for all third country nationals).7

When turning to the labour market outcomes of migrants, evidence also points to different situations for migrants from Africa. Whereas activity rates are similar for all men, regardless of their immigrant status and origin, among women, participation in the labour market is low for Northern Africans (around one half are active), but higher among Sub-Saharans (INSEE 2012). However, all immigrants from Africa often experience higher levels of unemployment and when they do find work, it is often in lower-skilled occupations, primarily in the services sector, and with lower income (INSEE 2012; Brinbaum et al. 2015a; Meurs et al. 2015).

One of the reasons for the mismatch between the migrants' qualifications and their occupations results from difficulties in transposing their human capital acquired abroad in the destination country. A study of the labour market trajectories of migrants from Sub-Saharan Africa in Europe based on the MAFE survey<sup>8</sup> showed that a larger proportion of them were inactive or in low-skilled occupations after their arrival than prior to their departure, regardless of their educational levels (Castagnone et al. 2015). Acquiring educational resources in Europe was a determining factor for improving their labour market situation. However, it is also important to mention that immigrants of African origin and their descendants more often than other groups experience discrimination in different spheres, including in the labour market (Brinbaum et al. 2015b).

### A common language as a factor of integration?

Language shapes international migration flows (Adsera & Pytlikova 2015) and has important (positive) consequences on migrants' socio-economic integration, particularly labour market outcomes (Chiswick & Miller 2014). Currently, language is also an important factor in order to understand migration dynamics in France. Figure 1 compares the proportion of French speakers among the total population in the origin country and among recently arrived migrants in France. French speakers are over-represented among migrants, particularly among Sub-Saharan nationals. For example, in Mali, 17% of adults were French speakers, but among Malians in France, they represented more than a half (31% spoke French as children and 54% had received education in French). Among migrants in France, French speakers declared that speaking the language played just as an important role in their decision to come to France as having family or friends living there (these two factors were declared by around 50% of French speakers),



Figure 1: Proportion of French speakers among total population in country of origin and migrants in France by country (%).

Source: \*OIF, 2014. \*\*ELIPA. Author's calculations.

in contrast to other migrants for which family and social ties were by far the most important reason for choosing France.

Does knowledge of French later translate into better socio-economic outcomes for the migrants involved? Contrary to other destination countries, this issue has not been widely addressed in the French context, in part due to the unavailability of statistical data on languages for a long time (Filhon 2016). Immigrants from African countries, particularly Sub-Saharans, do have a higher level of French than immigrants from other origins (Condon & Régnard 2015). A recent study using the Labour Force Survey (2014) showed that the command of the language did have a positive impact on employment, particularly in the first few years after arrival (Bechichi et al. 2016). The level of French was also crucial in understanding the income differences with non-immigrants. For immigrants who did not have an excellent command of the language, it was harder to value their education and experience, particularly for those with tertiary education.

However, this same study showed that immigrants from the Maghreb and other African countries (the two groups were not distinguished in the study) continued having worse outcomes than other groups, even after controlling for their language level. Thus, their better knowledge of French compared to other migrants did not always allow them to translate their human capital in the French context. This result raises the issue of the legitimacy of their linguistic resources in the context of migration (Martín Rojo & Marquez Reiter 2014). French spoken outside of mainland France, such as in the African countries studied in this paper, does differ from the "standard" French in terms of vocabulary and grammar (Fall 2010), as well as the accent. All these characteristics in conjunction with the position of the migrants in France may thus make it more difficult for them to use their linguistic resources. Indeed, accent and way of speaking is often declared as a reason for discrimination in different areas (work, housing, health) (Fundamental Rights Agency, FRA 2017).

#### Conclusion

France's colonial past has shaped migration flows and migrants' experiences at their destination, and will likely continue to do so in the near future. Factors such as historical ties and a shared cultural background (including the French language), as well as the existence of transnational family and social networks, have contributed to the initiation and continuation of migration from Maghreb and Sub-Saharan African countries to France. These factors would also suggest that upon arrival, migrants from these countries would have greater capabilities to integrate into the French society compared to other groups. Numerous studies in different destination countries point to the (usually) positive effects of language proficiency, social networks, prior information on the reception context on socio-economic outcomes. A shared cultural background and language could be even more important factors for a successful integration into the French context as these ideas are central to the concept of French identity (Raissiguier 2013).

However, an examination of African migrants' positions in different areas, such as their legal and socio-economic integration, has shown that in many cases they face greater obstacles than other groups, and this is particularly true for Sub-Saharan migrants. Indeed, including when migrants have educational and linguistic resources, transposing their social and cultural capital is not always possible and they face poor legal and socio-economic prospects, thus blocking them from full participation in the reception society. Two factors of exclusion - restrictive migration policies and the presence of ethnic and racial discrimination - often acting together and reinforcing each other (Thomas 2013), appear to negatively affect African migrants' integration prospects on a long-term basis.

#### Acknowledgments

This chapter has been produced in the framework of the TEMPER project, which received funding from the European Community's Seventh Framework Program under Grant agreement 613468.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> See, for example, the controversy around the book *The Denial of Cultures* by Hugues Lagrange that came out in 2010.

<sup>2</sup> French speakers include native speakers, persons who received an education in French and persons who took French classes as a foreign language (OIF 2014). <sup>3</sup> The criteria of citizenship at birth was introduced to distinguish French citizens born abroad, of which French "repatriates" from Algeria represent the largest group, from other migrants. When this information is unavailable, they are sometimes counted with other migrants (persons born abroad).

<sup>4</sup> Countries formerly under French rule include Benin, Burkina-Faso, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Chad, Comoros, Congo, Ivory Coast, Djibouti, Gabon, the Gambia, Republic of Equatorial Guinea, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal and Togo.

<sup>5</sup> The TeO survey was conducted in 2008-2009 by the National Statistical Institue (INSEE) and the National Institute for Demographic Studies (Ined). It is representative of the general population residing in ordinary households in mainland France, but over-samples persons with a migrant background (see Beauchemin et al. 2015a for more details).

<sup>6</sup> The ELIPA survey was carried out among third country nationals who had been issued a permanent residence permit allowing them to settle in France and eligible for the signature of the Reception and Integration Contract (CAI) in 2009. It was conducted by the Statistical Department of the Directorate of Foreigners (DSED) in three waves (2010, 2011 and 2013) (see Régnard & Domergue 2011 for more details).

<sup>7</sup> Source: Eurostat (table resfirst). Author's calculations.

<sup>8</sup> The MAFE project generated multi-sited, comparative and longitudinal surveys carried out in three African countries – Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Senegal – and six European countries – Belgium, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Spain, the United Kingdom (see Beauchemin & González-Ferrer 2011 for more details).

#### References

Adserà, A. & Pytliková, M. (2015). The Role of Language in Shaping International Migration. *The Economic Journal*, *125*(586), F49-F81.

Barou, J. (2011). La politique française vis-à-vis de l'immigration africaine, [French Policy Towards African Immigration]. In J. Barou (Ed.), *De l'Afrique à la France : d'une génération à l'autre [From Africa to France : From One Generation to Another]* (pp. 39-64). Paris: Armand Colin.

Beauchemin, C. & González-Ferrer, A. (2011). Sampling International Migrants with Origin-Based Snowballing Method: New Evidence on Biases and Limitations. *Demographic Research*, 25(3), 103-134.

Beauchemin, C., Hamel, C. & Simon, P. (Eds.). (2015a). Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France [Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France]. Paris: Ined.

Beauchemin, C., Lhommeau, B. & Simon, P. (2015b). Histoires migratoires et profils socioéconomiques, [Migration Histories and Socio-Economic Profiles]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France [Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France]* (pp. 33-60). Paris: Ined.

Bechichi, N., Bouvier, G., Brinbaum, Y. & Lê, J. (2016). *Maîtrise de la langue et emploi des immigrés : quels liens ?* [Mastering the Language and Employment of Immigrants: What Are the Links?]. Paris: INSEE.

Borrel, C. (Ed.) (1999). *Immigration, emploi et chômage. Un état des lieux empirique et théorique [Immigration, Jobs and Unemployment. An Empirical and Theoretical State of the Art]*. Paris: Connaissance de l'Emploi des Revenus et des Coûts - Association.

Bouvier, G. (2012). Les descendants d'immigrés plus nombreux que les immigrés : une position française originale en Europe [Descendants of Immigrants More Numerous Than Immigrants: The Originality of the French Situation in Europe]. Paris: INSEE.

Brinbaum, Y., Meurs, D. & Primon, J.-L. (2015a). Situation sur le marché du travail : statuts d'activité, accès à l'emploi et discrimination [Labour Market Situation: Activity Status, Access to Employment, Discrimination]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France [Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France]* (pp. 203-232). Paris: Ined.

Brinbaum, Y., Safi, M. & Simon, P. (2015b). Les discriminations en France: entre perception et expérience [Discrimination in France: Between Perception and Experience]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France* [*Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France*] (pp. 413-442). Paris: Ined.

Castagnone, E., Nazio, T., Bartolini, L. & Schoumaker, B. (2015). Understanding Transnational Labour Market Trajectories of African European Migrants: Evidence from the MAFE Survey. International Migration Review, 49(1), 200-231.

Chiswick, B. R. & Miller, P. W. (2014). *International Migration and the Economics of Language*. Discussion Paper Series 7880. Bonn: Institute for the Study of Labor.

Condon, S. & Régnard, C. (2015). Les pratiques linguistiques: langues apportées et langues transmises [Language Practices: Transported and Transmitted Languages]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France* [*Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France*] (pp. 117-144). Paris: Ined.

Fall, M. (2010). Le français d'Afrique noire: Problématique d'un « héritage linguistique ». Retrieved from http:// xalimasn.com/le-francais-d%E2%80%99afrique-noireproblematique-d%E2%80%99un-%C2%AB-heritage-linguistique-%C2%BB-par-moustapha-fall/.

Filhon, A. (2016). Les langues dans les enquêtes de la statistique publique: bilan et perspectives. [Languages in Publicly-Available Statistical Surveys: Viewpoints and an Overview]. *Langage et société, 155*(1), 15-38.

Fundamental Rights Agency. (2017). Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey - Main Results. Retrieved from http://fra.europa.eu/en/publication/2017/ eumidis-ii-main-results.

Gosselin, A., Desgrées du Loû, A., Lelièvre, E., Lert, F., Dray-Spira, R. & Lydié, N. (2016). Migrants subsahariens: combien de temps leur faut-il pour s'installer en France? [How Long Do Sub-Saharan Migrants Take to Settle in France?]. *Population & Sociétés, 533*(4).

Héran, F. (2002). Les immigrés et leurs descendants dans le système statistique français: réflexions sur les pratiques et les principes [Immigrants and Their Descendants in the French Statistical System: Thought on Practices and Principles]. In *Immigration, marché du travail, intégration : rapport du séminaire [Immigration, Labour Market, Integration: Seminar Report]* (pp. 121-133). Paris: France. Commissariat général du plan.

Ichou, M., Goujon, A. & DiPAS. (2017). Le niveau d'instruction des immigrés: varié et souvent plus élevé que dans les pays d'origine. [Immigrants' Educational Attainment: A Mixed Picture, but Often Higher Than the Average in Their Country of Origin]. *Population & Sociétés, 541*, 4.

INSEE. (2012). Immigrés et descendants d'immigrés en France [Immigrants and Descendants of Immigrants in France]. INSEE Références. Paris: INSEE.

Martín Rojo, L., & Marquez Reiter, R. (2014). *Position Paper. Workgroup 2 - Language and Migration*. COST Action IS1306 New Speakers in a Multilingual Europe: Opportunities and Challenges. Edinburgh.

Math, A. (1998). Les allocations familiales et l'Algérie coloniale. A l'origine du FAS et de son financement par les régimes de prestations familiales. [Family Benefits and Colonial Algeria. The Origins of the Social Action Fund for Immigrant Workers and Their Families (FAS) and Its Financing Through the Family Benefit Regime]. *Recherches et Prévisions, 53*, 35-44.

Meurs, D., Lhommeau, B. & Okba, M. (2015). Emplois, salaires et mobilité intergénérationnelle [Jobs, Wages, Intergenerational Mobility]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France [Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France]* (pp. 233-262). Paris: Ined.

Moguérou, L., Brinbaum, Y. & Primon, J.-L. (2015). Les ressources scolaires des immigrés à la croisée des histoires migratoires et familiales [Immigrants' Educational Resources, at the Intersection of Migration Trajectories and Family Histories]. In C. Beauchemin, C. Hamel, & P. Simon (Eds.), *Trajectoires et origines. Enquête sur la diversité des populations en France [Trajectories and Origins. Survey on Population Diversity in France]* (pp. 147-174). Paris: Ined.

Organisation Internationale de la Francophonie. (2014). La langue française dans le monde. Retrieved from https://www.francophonie.org/La-langue-francaise-dans-lemonde.html.

Raissiguier, C. (2013). Blood matters. Sarkozy's immigration policies and their gendered impact. In M. Schrover & D.
M. Moloney (Eds.), *Gender, Migration and Categorisation: Making Distinctions between Migrants in Western Countries, 1945-2010* (pp. 175-194). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.

Régnard, C. & Domergue, F. (2011). Enquête ELIPA -Les nouveaux migrants en 2009. [ELIPA Survey - The New Migrants of 2009]. Infos Migrations, 19. Retrieved from https://www.immigration.interieur.gouv.fr/Info-ressources/Etudes-et-statistiques/Etudes/Enquete-Longitudinale-sur-I-Integration-des-Primo-Arrivants-ELIPA/ Enquete-Longitudinale-sur-I-Integration-des-Primo-Arrivants-ELIPA/Les-publications/Enquete-ELIPA-Les-nouveaux-migrants-en-2009. Simon, P. (2015). The Choice of Ignorance: The Debate on Ethnic and Racial Statistics in France. In P. Simon, V. Piché, & A. A. Gagnon (Eds.), *Social Statistics and Ethnic Diversity: Cross-National Perspectives in Classifications and Identity Politics* (pp. 65-87). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Thomas, D. (2013). *Africa and France: Postcolonial Cultures, Migration, and Racism*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Vickstrom, E. (2014). Pathways into Irregular Status Among Senegalese Migrants in Europe. *International Migration Review*, *48*(4), 1062-1099.

Zehraoui, A. (2003). De l'homme seul à la famille: changements et résistances dans la population d'origine algérienne. [From the Lone Male to the Family: Changes and Permanency in the Population of Algerian Origin]. *Hommes et migrations, 1244*, 12-26.

## **Selective Migration Policies in Spain**

### **The Case of Latin Americans**

#### Andreu Domingo i Valls

Centre d'Estudis Demogràfics / CERCA, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain

#### Introduction

Migratory flows are quickly increasing, which is part of the globalisation process. This has led to the discussion of the issue of selective migratory flows in the context of European Union migration policies again. Citing their colonial past, many countries have tended to prioritise selection that favoured citizens of their former colonies, either directly through migration policies (Bauböck 2010), or indirectly with preferential access to citizenship. This selection, justified by the argument that the immigrants have a shared origin with citizens, is presented as restitution for the "colonial debt", and recognition of a common language and history. It is also perceived as an efficient mechanism for inclusion, and as aiding social cohesion by taking ethnocultural affinities into account. Nevertheless, the criteria for belonging may clash with other principles pertaining to the individual situations of potential immigrants or certain aspects of EU migration policy.1

Selective migratory policies implicitly assume that it is easier to integrate citizens of former colonies than citizens of other countries. However, ethnic selection has an impact on the entire integration process of all migrant groups, favoured or not. Examination of the paradigmatic case of Latin American immigrants in Spain may help to shed light on this question.

#### Latin American immigration in Spain in the 21<sup>st</sup> century

With the new millennium, Spain went from being a country of emigration to one of immigration with a remarkable rise in immigrants. Between 2000 and 2007, 4.9 million people entered the country, making Spain the EU's leading destination for immigrants from abroad (Pellegrino 2004), and second in the

world after the United States (OECD 2007). Immigration from Latin America, with 1.8 million immigrants during this period, represents 37% of the total flow. Due to the economic crisis of 2008 and associated structural adjustment measures, the volume of immigration dropped by more than half (Figure 1). Emigration increased, partly with the return of immigrants to their countries of origin (some 940,000 Latin American people between 2008 and 2016), but also with re-emigration, which is to say emigration from Spain to third countries.



Figure 1: Annual flow of Latin American immigrants to Spain, by country, 2000-2016.

Source: Compiled by author, on the basis of Statistics of Residential Variations (INE), 1996-2016.

After 2014, the flow of Latin American immigrants to Spain rose again, almost doubling from 80,685 arrivals in 2013 to 157,790 in 2016. These recent figures are probably more related to push factors in the countries of origin – political crisis (Venezuela and Colombia), citizen insecurity (Honduras and El Salvador) and economic crisis (Argentina) – than

with pull factors in Spain. In all, some three million immigrants came to Spain from Latin America between 2000 and 2016 (almost a third of the 9.4 million arrivals from abroad), most of them of working age, 28.7-years-old on average, and 54.5% of them women attracted by the opportunities in the service sector, especially as domestic workers and carers of young children and the elderly.

#### > Political and legal factors

Explanations of the increased number of immigrants from Latin America must take into account three kinds of favourable legislative measures: Access to citizenship through residence, regularisation and recruitment campaigns, and recognition of Spanish nationality for descendants of former Spanish emigrants.



Figure 2: Granting of Spanish citizenship, by continent, 2000 - 2016.

Source: Compiled by author, Ministry of Employment and Social Security. Permanent Immigration Observatory. 2000-2016.

First and foremost, one must consider the role of positive discrimination in accessing Spanish nationality. This goes back to 1954 and the Franco dictatorship, and is related to the notion of *Hispanidad* ("spanishness"), which suggests a pan-national community with a shared colonial legacy, language, history (and religion), although, at the time, the main feature of the migratory reality was Spanish emigration to Latin America.<sup>2</sup> The legal provisions came with bilateral agreements on dual nationality with 13 Latin American countries from 1958 to 1979 (Mateos 2015). The law was ratified with the 1990 Reform of the Civil Code. Once ratified, immigrants from these countries only needed to provide proof that they had lived in Spain as a legal resident, uninterrupted, for two years in order to acquire Spanish nationality. Other immigrants, in comparison, were required to reside in Spain for ten years.<sup>3</sup> As a result of this discrimination, Latin American immigrants far outnumber other immigrants in terms of nationalisation: 72.5% of a total of 1.3 million nationalisations from 2000 to 2016 were granted to citizens of Latin American countries (see Figure 2) (Domingo i Valls and Ortega-Rivera 2015).

Since the economic crisis, which has caused a sharp rise in the demand for Spanish citizenship by immigrants from all origins, the two-year residence requirement has meant that 88.7% of applications by Latin Americans for naturalisation have been successful, a figure far above the 9.2% for people who have married Spaniards and the 1.2% born in Spain.<sup>4</sup> Hence, of the 2.3 million people from Latin America residing in Spain in 2016, 1.26 million (55%) had Spanish nationality (Figure 3), representing no less than 64% of all foreign-born residents with Spanish nationality.



Figure 3: Pyramid of the Latin American population residing in Spain by place of birth and citizenship, 2016. Source: Population Register (INE).

Also significant are the measures taken since 2000: From 2000 to 2004, the conservative government obtained an absolute majority, which led to a change in the direction of migration policy. Although the policy was notable for its opacity, statements by members of the government and, in particular, the new State Secretary for Migration, signalled a preference for immigrants from Latin America over other countries of origin and, moreover, a project of ethnic substitution replacing migrants from other countries, especially Moroccans - then the most numerous group of foreigners residing in Spain - with citizens of Latin American countries (Joppke 2005).<sup>5</sup> Extraordinary mass regularisation of the status of immigrants (2000, 2001 and 2005) has therefore constantly entailed higher percentages of positive results for citizens from Latin America in comparison with immigrants from other origins. In 2000, 80% of applications by Argentines, 77% by Colombians and 76.6% of Ecuadorians were approved, while only 51% of those submitted by Moroccans, 53% by Algerians and 46.4% by Senegalese had a positive outcome.6

Moreover, this was the beginning of an active recruitment period of foreign workers through bilateral agreements in which Colombia was the first signatory, followed by Ecuador (2001) and, fourth, by the Dominican Republic (2002). In the early days, though, there were also agreements with the countries of origin of some of the more numerous groups of foreigners in Spain, for example Morocco (2001) being in fact the third signatory - and, later, Ukraine (2011), and others for border control reasons, like Mauritania (2007). The final result has been a certain incongruity between pan-Hispanic rhetoric and practice marked by pragmatism and compliance with EU interests. In fact, in terms of employment, only Chile and Peru - due to their respective bilateral contracts are exempt from the clauses prioritising Spanish citizens when carrying out contracted work. However, clear positive discrimination does appear in the recruitment of students, thanks to travelling facilities offered to Latin American students - now a gold mine for Spanish universities - and official recognition of foreign higher education degrees.<sup>7</sup>

There are initiatives making it easier to obtain Spanish nationality for descendants of Spanish emigrants, especially given the prominence of Latin America in the history of Spanish emigration.<sup>8</sup> One example of this is the more recent Historical Memory Law (Law 52/2007, 27 December 2011 was the deadline for submission of applications), which benefited more than half a million Spanish people or their descendants who had lost their citizenship after having to go into exile between 1939 and 1955 because of the Civil War and the Franco regime (Izquierdo 2011). These naturalisations, however, have not automatically led to an increase in migratory flows. For citizens from countries like Cuba, Venezuela and Argentina, this represents a chance for future moves if required, but not necessarily with Spain as the destination.

#### Socio-demographic complementarities and extraordinary assimilation

The Hispano-American migratory boom in Spain is related to economic changes and demographic potential in the countries of origin, but also with improved levels of education (Prieto Rosas and López Gay 2015), particularly among women and, in general, their greater "agency", which also contributes to female mobility. The increased demand for domestic workers in Spain is essentially the result of improved education among the country's young generations where the levels of higher education for women have surpassed those of men -, and the spread of dual-income households. These changes were not accompanied by policies reconciling family and working life (Domingo i Valls and Gill 2007). The demand for domestic and care workers, which is mainly covered by women, explains the peculiarity of immigration from Latin America in which women are more present than men and, moreover, have often been pioneers of migratory chains.

Besides the job market demand, there is also the marriage market, which is affected by a relative scarcity of women owing to a dramatic drop in Spain's birth rate after the end of the 1970s and has led to a series of dwindling generations. And given the continuing age difference between men and women in favour of the former, this creates the effect of the shortage of women in the marriage market (Cabré 1994).<sup>9</sup>

These features of the selection of migratory flows from Latin America have also given rise to an exceptional situation in terms of integration of these migrants into Spanish society compared to those of other origins. First of all, the preference expressed in opinion polls by the native population – always favouring Latin American immigrants over those from other origins – has shown a bias for including Latin Americans since, in terms of migration, they have been referred to as the "favourites" (Izquierdo et al. 2003). This might be summed up in a paradoxical absence of residential segregation - with better access to ownership (Módenas et al. 2013) or less discrimination in renting (Bosch et al. 2010) - and a high degree of segregation in employment associated with workers in domestic work (Sabater and Massey 2015). Similarly, Latin American participation in the job market is always higher, and unemployment levels for these workers are always lower than those of Africans (Amuedo-Dorantes and De la Rica 2007), both before and after the economic crisis (Aysa-Lastra 2015). This situation is one of dependency on a feminised niche which has paid the price of over-qualification with an initial decline in social mobility - linked with irregular status in the first years after arrival (Parella 2015) - although with a relatively faster subsequent rise in legal and social status than that achieved by immigrants of other origins (Vidal-Coso and Vono de Vilhena 2015, Vidal-Coso et al. 2014).

#### Summary

The answer to the question guiding the research is complex. While it is true that immigrants arriving in Spain from Latin American countries show better integration indicators than those from Africa or Asia in terms of residential segregation and employment, it does not mean that they are unaffected by diminished social mobility and over-qualification in general: The 47.5% of Latin Americans employed in domestic work - according to the Census 2011 (INE) had more than an elementary level of education and 11.8% had an even higher level, in contrast with natives (16.4% and 5.2% respectively) or Africans (24% and 7.2%), for example. What appears to be a mechanism for better integration could, in fact, reproduce inequality and aggravate exclusion. In sum, it is important to note the divergence between the pan-Hispanic rhetoric wielded by politicians and actual migration policy where, apart from differential access to nationality, personal situations and labour market characteristics are given higher priority than one's origin. Nonetheless, the following points should be kept in mind:

 The social capital represented by knowledge of the language, together with the professed greater openness of the Spanish population towards Latin American immigrants are, in themselves, relative advantages independent of positive discrimination in the law.

- Despite the homogenising discourse of *Hispan-idad* ("spanishness"), in practice, these migrants and their descendants are assimilated at different speeds and might even experience downward mobility depending on the ethnocultural label they are given in Spanish society, mainly as a result of race and class prejudices. This is what, in the United States, Portes and Zhou (1993) have called "segmented assimilation".
- Through its colonial-style *Hispanidad* discourse, Spanish nationalism tends to lump together immigrants from Latin America in an ideal category of "Spanish", which is both paternalistic and demeaning.
- Finally, the arrival of the Latin American population and its rapid assimilation by comparison with other immigrant groups would entail frustration among and exclusion of immigrants from other countries. This applies especially to Moroccans who arrived earlier and who saw the glass ceiling of social mobility being significantly lowered when they were replaced in the niches they had occupied by workers from Latin America.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> This contradiction has been summarised as the tension which gives rise in liberal states to a tendency of de-ethnicisation and another that is opposed to re-ethnicisation. See Joppke (2005).

<sup>2</sup> Law of 15 July 1954, reforming the first title of the Civil Code, "On Spanish and Foreign Peoples", justified in the Preamble: "*Hence, once again, owing to the manifest predilection and goodwill with which, faithful to its past and hopeful of a lofty spiritual design Spain looks upon those countries for reasons that are well-known and superior to any kind of contingency, it deems itself inextricably united* [...]."

<sup>3</sup> Besides immigrants from Latin America, citizens from the former colonies of Equatorial Guinea and the Philippines are included, as well as those from Andorra and, after the 1980s, descendants of the Sephardic population which was expelled from Spain in 1492.

<sup>4</sup> The Spanish-born offspring of two foreign immigrants were granted Spanish nationality to prevent the child from being stateless, which also happened when the legislatures of neither of the parents' countries conceded nationality to the child, as was the case with such well-represented origins as Ecuador, Colombia and Bolivia. The rule continued to be applied even after the laws regulating nationality were amended in these countries. See Álvarez Rodríguez (2006, 2014).

<sup>5</sup> Some statements made to the press at the time are collected here, showing how the then State Secretary for Migration, Enrique Fernández Miranda, was concerned with giving priority to immigrants from Latin America, citing as his reasons shared language, history and religion, and how the Minister for Defence Federico Trillo, wanted to replace Muslim members of the Spanish armed forces with people from Latin American countries.

<sup>6</sup> Delegación del Gobierno para la Extranjería y la Inmigración (Government Delegation on Aliens Affairs and Immigration), Process of Regularisation of Foreigners, from 21 March to 31 July 2000, Ministry of the Interior.

<sup>7</sup> See, in this regard, the "Andrés Bello" Agreement in 13 Latin American countries.

<sup>8</sup> Article 17.1 of the Civil Code establishes that sons and daughters of a Spanish father or mother are of Spanish origin so that, in the case of those born outside of Spain, the principle of *jus sanguinis* prevails. According to Article 22 of the Civil Code, descendants of Spaniards born outside of Spain with a father, mother, grandfather or grandmother who had originally been Spanish and had resided in Spain are eligible for Spanish citizenship. Law 36/2002 of 8 October, which amends the Civil Code with regard to citizenship, opened up new ways to recover citizenship or to pass it on to descendants.

<sup>9</sup> In this domain, the coming together of Latin American women and Spanish men can be explained by an intricate set of complementarities in their shared expectations with regard to gender roles. See Domingo i Valls et al. (2014).

#### References

Álvarez Rodríguez, A. (2006). Nacionalidad de los hijos de extranjeros nacidos en España [Nationality of the Children of Foreigners Born in Spain]. Madrid: Ministerio de Trabajo y Asuntos Sociales.

Álvarez Rodríguez, A. (2014). Algunos de los niños extranjeros nacidos en España son espanyoles [Some of the Foreign Children Born in Spain Are Spanish]. Retrieved from http://www.migrarconderechos.es/bibliografia/hijos\_extranjeros\_nacidos\_espana\_son\_espanoles. Amuedo-Dorantes, C. & De la Rica, S. (2007). Labour Market Assimilation of Recent Immigrants in Spain. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, *45*(2): 275-284.

Aysa-Lastra, M. (2015). Introduction: Vulnerability and Resilience of Latin American Immigrants During Great Recession. In M. Aysa-Lastra & L. Cachón (Eds.), *Immigrant Vulnerability and Resilience. Comparative Perspectives Furing the Great Recession* (pp. 1-21). New York: Springer.

Bauböck, R. (2010). Studying Citizenship Constellations. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *5*(36), 847-859.

Bosch, M., Carnero, M. A. & Farré, L. (2010). Information and Discrimination in the Rental Housing Market: Evidence from a Field Experiment. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, *35*(2), 317-334.

Cabré, A. (1994). Tensiones Inminentes en los Mercados Matrimoniales [Impending Tensions in the Marriage Markets]. In J. Nadal (Ed.), *El Mundo Que Viene [The World to Come]* (pp. 37-62). Madrid: Alianza Editorial.

Cea D'Ancona, M. A. & Valles Martínez, M. S. (2015). Changes in the Perception of Latin American Immigrants in Host Countries During the Great Recession. In M. Aysa-Lastra & L. Cachón (Eds.), *Immigrant Vulnerability and Resilience.Comparative Perspectives Furing the Great Recession* (pp. 129-146). Cham: Springer.

Díez Nicolás, J. (2005). *Las dos caras de la inmigración [The Two Faces of Immigration]*. Madrid: Observatorio Permanente de la Inmigración.

Domingo i Valls, A. & Gil, F. (2007). Immigration et Évolution de la Structure de la Main-D'Oeuvre au Sud de l'Union Européenne [Immigration and Changes in the Structure of the Labour Force in the South of the European Union]. *Population, 4*, 825-846.

Domingo i Valls, A., Bueno, X. & Esteve, A. (2014). El Rapto de las Latinas: Migración Latinoamericana y Mercados Matrimoniales en España [The Abduction of Latinas: Latin American Migration and Marriage Markets in Spain]. In Cosio-Zavala, M.E. & Rozée Gómez, V. (Eds.), *Género en Movimiento: Familias y Migraciones [Gender on the Move: Families and Migrations]* (pp.41-66). México: El Colegio de México.

Domingo i Valls, A. & Ortega-Rivera, E. (2015). Acquisition of Nationality as Migration Policy. In A. Domingo i Valls, A. Sabater & R. Verdugo (Eds.), *Demographic Analysis of Latin American Immigrants in Spain. From Boom to Bust* (pp. 29-54). New York: Springer. Izquierdo, A., López de Lera, D. & Martínez, R. (2003). The Favorites of the Twenty-First Century: Latin-American Immigration in Spain. *Studi Emigrazione*, *149*, 98-124.

Izquierdo A. (Ed.). (2011). *La Migración de la Memoria Histórica [The Migration of Historical Memory]*. Barcelona: Edicions Bellaterra.

Joppke, C. (2005). *Selecting by Origin: Ethnic Migration in the Liberal State*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Mateos P. (Ed.). (2015). *Ciudadania Múltiple y Migración. Perspectivas Latinoamericanas [Multiple Citizenship and Migration. Latin American Perspectives]*. México: Centro de Investigaciones y Docencia Económicas.

Módenas, J.A., Bayona, J. & López-Colás, J. (2013). Immigration and Residential Change in Spain. *Space and Place, 19*(3), 294-310.

OECD. (2007). *International Migration Outlook* (2007 edition). Paris: OECD.

Parella, S. (2015). Latin American Women During the Great Recession in the US and Spain. In M. Aysa-Lastra & L. Cachón (Eds.), *Immigrant Vulnerability and Resilience. Comparative Perspectives Furing the Great Recession* (pp. 67-88). Cham: Springer.

Pellegrino, A. (2004). Migration from Latin America to Europe: Trends and Policy Changes. IOM Migration Research Series, 16. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/ books/mrs-ndeg16-migration-latin-america-europe-trendsand-policy-challenges.

Portes, A. & Zhou, M. (1993). The New Second Generation: Segmented Assimilation and its Variants. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 530*, 74-96.

Prieto Rosas, V. & López Gay, A. (2015). Push and Pull Factors of Latin American Migration. In A. Domingo i Valls, A. Sabater & R. Verdugo (Eds.), *Demographic Analysis of Latin American Immigrants in Spain. From Boom to Bust* (pp. 1-28). New York: Springer.

Sabater, A. & Massey, D. (2015). Contrasting Patterns of Migration and Settlement. In A. Domingo i Valls, A. Sabater & R. Verdugo (Eds.), *Demographic Analysis of Latin American Immigrants in Spain. From Boom to Bust* (pp. 55-82). New York: Springer.

Vidal-Coso, E. & Miret-Gamundi, P. (2014). The Labour Tra-

jectories of Immigrant Women in Spain: Are There Signs of Upward Social Mobility. *Demographic Research, 31*, 337-380.

Vidal-Coso, E. & Vono de Vilhena, D. (2015). Entrapped as Domestic Workers? The Effect of Economic Context on Work Opportunities. In A. Domingo i Valls, A. Sabater & R. Verdugo (Eds.), *Demographic Analysis of Latin American Immigrants in Spain. From Boom to Bust* (pp. 83-104). New York: Springer.

### Patterns of Integration, Cultural Negotiations and the Roles of Brazilian Associations in Portugal (Late-1980s to the Present)

#### João Sardinha

University of Lisbon, Portugal

This contribution sets out to:

- Discuss how socio-cultural differences and stereotypes tied to exoticism and sexuality have been constructed through time as a way of defining Brazilians in Portugal.
- Delineate how differences and stereotypes are propagated by mass media in Portugal and the consequences felt by Brazilians in Portugal.
- Examine how Brazilian associations have adopted "offensive" (improved integration measures and the attainment of equal citizenship rights) and "defensive" (actions relating to identity preservation and diffusion of culture) strategies as a way of combating integration difficulties.

#### Introduction

With 500 years of cultural, linguistic and migratory interchange between Portugal and Brazil (with Brazil having been a Portuguese colony from 1500 until independence was declared in 1822), one might think that the integration of recently arrived Brazilian immigrants in Portugal's society would not be too strenuous; perhaps quite the opposite - simplified and effortless. Such a straightforward reading, however, is an over simplified one. Rarely is any coloniser/colonised relationship free from a complex historical past (Arenas 2005), and the Portugal/ Brazil case is no different. In recent times, with the ever-growing distribution of knowledge, information and people in an ever-growing globalised world, Brazilian culture has particularly become quite familiar to the Portuguese, with an existing "attraction" towards Brazilian pop culture being very present in Portuguese society. Taking these points into consideration, the questions that loom are:

1) To what extent do perceptions held by Portuguese society towards Brazilians affect the integration of Brazilian immigrants in Portugal?

2) Is the "physical presence" of Brazilians in Portugal

as welcome as Brazilian culture itself?

3) How is Brazilian immigrant integration eased?

This last question I will examine by observing the role of Brazilian immigrant associations when it comes to community integration and sense of belonging. With the aim of delving into these issues from a qualitative perspective, a "privileged" voice is given to representatives and intermediaries of Brazilian associations in Portugal. The findings are the result of interviews and informal conversations with 23 association leaders, members and volunteers, as well as information gathered through participant observation.

#### Cultural differences and a (not so) warm welcome

The very idea of migrating from Brazil to Portugal and the preconceived romantic notions and images possessed by Brazilians before commencing their migration experience is often proven wrong once they have settled. From the ethnographic information gathered, the general sentiment expressed is that Brazilians come with a preconceived notion of Portuguese society being liberal and open, similar to the way they perceive themselves. They see a country with a shared language, historical migration ties and common cultural roots, leading many to believe that integration will be eased. Instead, what they find is a nation and society many end up viewing as conservative. Once the differences are felt, culture shock often becomes a reality.

The most mentioned socio-cultural difference between Brazilians and the receiving society, according to the respondents, concerns the Portuguese being characterised as cold, unhappy, unreceptive, pessimistic and stand-offish, as opposed to Brazilians who are described as warm, friendly, happy and positive. Additional responses to what distinguishes Brazilians from the host society deal with personality traits such as experiences by the Portuguese society in the "warmth of the welcome" by Brazilians. The Portuguese are viewed as narrow-minded and judgemental, often willing to accept elements of Brazilian culture, but not too accepting of Brazilians.

The "exotic" or "tropical" side of Brazil, for example, has for centuries been present in Portugal (Machado 2007). Since colonising Brazil, the Portuguese have held a generalised, stereotypical image of that territory and its society, characterising it as sensual, tropical, liberal and extroverted. In the present day, the representations of Brazilians in Portugal, most frequently derived from images attached to Brazil – football, samba, soap operas, exotic women, etc., – are accentuated by the exoticism often attached to that imagery; an exoticism that many feel moulds the narrow-mindedness and stereotypical perceptions of the Portuguese towards Brazilians.

Job market niches on the part of Brazilians is particularly highlighted and considered to bring a doubleedged form of acceptance. Brazilians have taken up positions in jobs that are highly visible, requiring contact with the general public. Many find themselves in service industries, namely restaurants, catering, retail sales, etc., while others are still employed in leisure-related sectors, such as the entertainment industry (e.g. dancers, musicians, etc.) or nightlife (clubs, bars, etc.), a sub-sector referred to as the "market of joy" (Machado 2003). As "sellers of an exotic culture", Brazilians are thus seen as being in a privileged position, possessing the gualities that define "exotic Brazil" - as friendly, warm and sensual individuals who speak with an accent. This positive stereotyping puts Brazilians on the top of the list in the aforementioned labour sectors. However, the

placing of Brazilians in these labour niches has also created resentment, with the tag of "invasion" often applied, something reiterated by one informant:

[...] [T]here is this view of Brazilians being everywhere now [...] and it's as if people feel threatened. The Portuguese have watched Brazilian soap operas on television their whole lives; they love our food, our music and so on. But there's a love/hate relationship that people have towards us. People like our culture, but if you take that away, they don't seem to like our presence very much (Representative of the association House of Brazil of Lisbon).

Before the steady stream of Brazilians immigrating to Portugal commenced in the late 80's/early 90's, Portugal was in fact supplied on a daily basis with images of Brazil via Brazilian soap operas (at one point, up to 11 could be viewed daily on Portuguese television), while radio stations dedicated large percentages of their programming time to Brazilian music (Machado 2003). The exposition of Brazilian cultural production has thus assisted in diffusing Brazilian symbolism, often associating it with exoticism, eroticism, tropicalism and joyfulness. The popularity of Brazilian popular culture demonstrates that a "Brazilian invasion" has, on the one hand, always been a welcomed one, but only from a safe, controllable distance. A physical invasion, on the other hand, sees "other sides of Brazil" - ones that may be accepted via mass media propagation (e.g. symbolism and imagery displayed via television or music), but not in the everyday life of Portuguese society.

#### Propagating differences and stereotypes

From the interviews collected, it was expressed that the contributions of Portuguese media is most often to blame for perpetrating stereotypes in relation to Brazilian immigrants in Portugal. The accusations ranged from the way Portuguese media depicts Brazilians as bad neighbours (due to their constant partying and noisiness), as criminal offenders (e.g. often associated to the many that arrived in Portugal as undocumented immigrants, as well as Brazil's reputation as a country where crime runs rampant) and the association of Brazilian women with prostitution. The prostitution issue, in fact, was given particular attention by my study's participants and viewed as the issue that shines the most negative light on their community. Although the incorporation of Brazilian women in the Portuguese labour market sees the majority working either in the commercial, domestic or hospitality sectors, there is a tendency to affiliate Brazilian women to the leisure and sex industry (Padilla 2007). Still, even beyond this, a study released in 2006 on how the Portuguese perceive different immigrant groups revealed that 70% of the Portuguese believed that Brazilian women contribute significantly to the growth of prostitution in Portugal (Lages 2007). The propagation of this stereotype is primarily owed to two over-arching reasons (Padilla 2005):

1) The construction and proliferation of "the cult of the body" in Brazil which, in turn, has created the myth of Brazilian female sensuality and created an image of Brazilian women as sexually liberated beings;

2) News stories on illegal Brazilian sex workers carrying out their trade in nightclubs throughout Portugal, as well as Brazilian prostitutes blamed for the destruction of families.

Concerning the first point, the Portuguese stereotypical association of Brazilian women being sensual and extroverted has been perpetuated since the 15th century; going as far back as the first images of native populations walking around naked. These images still remain, although, today, re-adjusted to fit new contexts - one that includes prostitution. Furthermore, as pointed out by such authors as Machado (1999) and Feldman-Bianco (2001), the image of Brazilian women as highly sexual and "easy" has been re-enforced and re-interpreted through Brazilian soap operas. Such imagery has led Portuguese society to view highly sexual, liberal behaviour as a common characteristic that serves to define Brazilian women. Thus, the transmission of such images and the reinforcement of such stereotypes among the Portuguese, and, above all, Portuguese men, leads many to believe and expect that these preconceived characteristics and behaviours will be reproduced by Brazilian women in the immigration setting as the following citation attests:

I have heard all kinds of stories: From Brazilian women who get into taxis and are asked by the drivers if they would prefer to pay with sex, to women who get sexually harassed by their bosses who think that this is normal behaviour in Brazil and, therefore, think they're used to it. Because of certain images and stereotypes (...) we're all thrown into the same basket (Representative of the association House of Brazil of Lisbon).

Highlighted here is how preconceived labelling attached to Brazilian femininity is frequently associated to an ideology of exoticism and "easiness". For the migrant women, just the fact that they are Brazilian automatically confers the affiliation.

This characterisation of Brazilian female prostitutes has also come to imply that they are in greater demand by those who frequent prostitutes. As a result, in the past, this has led to Brazilian women being blamed for the destruction of Portuguese families. The most notorious example is that of the case of Bragança, the northern Portuguese city where, in 2003, a group of Portuguese women organised a group calling themselves Mothers of Bragança (Mães de Bragança), claiming that Brazilian women were stealing their husbands and destroying their families. The case of the Mothers of Bragança gained international recognition when the European edition of Time magazine published an article about their cause. The internationalisation of the occurrence led to an increased focus on the Brazilian prostitution issue in the Portuguese media with emphasis being placed on the Brazilian prostitutes as family wreckers. The media treatment the Bragança situation received came to typify Brazilian women as the evil-doers, characterising them as prostitutes and as opportunistic, "husband thieves", creating a gender bias not experienced by women of other nationalities in Portugal.

#### Associative strategies in time and space

Taking the mentioned integration hardships into consideration, I now ask what sort of collective "plan of attack" is being considered by Brazilian associations when it comes to bettering integration.

Immigrant associations will promote the needs of their respective clientele, pursuing actions and objectives based on the perceived needs of their members at specific stages of the immigration process and in accordance with the interests and characteristics of the individuals they represent. According to Schrover and Vermeulen (2005), immigrant associations will often act within an offensive/defensive dichotomy. They will carry out "offensive" actions when improved integration measures and the attainment of equal citizenship rights are on the line, working towards achieving rights to legalisation, labour, housing, education and health, among others. The "defensive" point-of-view is expressed through actions relating to identity preservation and diffusion of ethno-cultural interests, including the organisation of dance and/or music groups, organisation of festive and cultural events, religious celebrations and other events that promote the community.

In the case of Brazilians in Portugal, the importance given to the variables that frame the "offensive" side of the debate was in the late 90's / early 2000's. This was due to the fact that Brazilian immigration to Portugal – primarily characterised by the inflow of undocumented Brazilians – placed integration issues and citizenship rights at the forefront; a priority that meant ethno-cultural actions and/or identity-related issues often "took a backseat" (Sardinha 2009). Associations, therefore, worked as representatives of their members to obtain legal papers; on work-related issues such as the lack of labour contracts and combating labour market exploitation; as well as on rights to access social services, namely healthcare and housing.

Beyond these issues, a second set of insertion matters that has required attention is that of homesickness and loneliness, adaptation difficulties due to climate and geographical aspects, lack of acceptance on the part of Portuguese society, as well as discrimination, racism and stereotyping. Different from issues related to integration and rights, it is worth drawing attention to the fact that these problems are based on feelings of integration. Measuring "felt" integration, however, is a more complex process than measuring integration often influenced by State instruments and policies. It is here, in combating such "felt" integration difficulties, where the "defensive" side of Schrover and Vermeulen's (2005) dichotomy comes into play.

The association representatives highlighted the carrying out of social and cultural events created with the intent of building networks of camaraderie and socialisation, conceived with the aim of helping break isolation and curb homesickness. However, they also made it clear that the majority of Brazilians do not seek out formal associations when it comes to creating personal networks with other Brazilians, nor are associations viewed by community members as pivotal structures when it comes to cultural maintenance and preservation: You see large congregations of Brazilians intermingling and enjoying themselves in the esplanades, the beaches, at the bars where they often come together. Brazilians create their own groups of camaraderie with other Brazilians through work, through school, where they live and they don't need a formal association to be Brazilian. Just their coming together guarantees bringing out Brazilian culture as well (Representative of the association Brazilian Association of Portugal).

That said, however, respondents equally pointed out that the work of associations often extends beyond the preservation of ethno-cultural identity on a oneon-one level, giving equal importance to the transmission of Brazilian culture with the intent of bringing awareness and trying to create greater openness within Portuguese society towards the Brazilian community. The importance of intertwining cultural elements and intercultural exchanges is seen as a key integration strategy - a way in which greater visibility can be given to Brazilian cultural components and identity elements, not as an independent variable, but as an intercultural instrument to be pooled alongside Portuguese cultural and identity references and exchanged. On this issue, it is key to remember that integration is a "two-way street" - so no matter how much immigrants may want to be accepted by the host society, if the host society creates obstacles, hindering any attempt at integration or even assimilation, the immigrants will not succeed. This may come in the form of discriminatory practices or through stereotyping, and as an example, I return to the stereotypical image of Brazilian women as prostitutes. Although highly referred to by the associations as a primary concern when it comes to the insertion of Brazilian women into Portuguese society, only a reduced number of the organisations pointed out having this issue as a key action front.

A general consensus is that mentalities can only be changed through campaigning, raising awareness and bringing greater visibility to the issues. However, it is also felt that campaigning and raising awareness is often difficult when mass media contributes to setting the stereotypes, as many feel has been the case.

#### Conclusion

Immigrant communities will adjust and operate in accordance with the situations established by the receiving society, and carry out their actions and coordinate their visibility tactics in accordance with the host societies' openness. Consequently, the degree of differentiation, stereotypical perceptions, as well as lack of equal rights to citizenship plays a primary role in defining collective actions. The degree of integration of Brazilians in Portugal is thus determined by the ethno-cultural contrasts, and the acceptance and recognition of those contrasts by the host society, free of discrimination and stereotypes.

#### References

Arenas, F. (2005). (*Post*)colonialism, Globalization, and Lusofonia or The "Time-Space" of the Portuguese-Speaking World. Berkeley: UC Berkeley.

Feldman-Bianco, B. (2002). Entre a fortaleza da Europa e os laços afetivos da irmandade luso-brasileira: Um drama familiar em um só ato [Between the Fortress of Europe and the Affective Ties of the Luso-Brazilian Brotherhood: A Family Drama in One Act]. In C. Bastos, M. V. de Almeida & B. Feldman-Bianco (Eds.), *Trânsitos coloniais: Diálogos críticos luso-brasileiros [Colonial Transits: Luso-Brazilian Critical Dialogues]* (pp. 385-415). Lisbon: Imprensa de Ciências Sociais.

Lages, M. F. (Ed.). (2006). Os Imigrantes e a População Portuguesa: Imagens Recíprocas. Análise de duas sondagens. [Immigrants and the Portuguese Population: Reciprocal Images. Analysis of two polls]. Lisbon: Observatório da Imigração/ACIME.

Machado, I. (1999). A invenção do Brasil exótico entre imigrantes brasileiros no Porto, Portugal [The Invention of Exotic Brazil Among Brazilian Immigrants in Porto, Portugal]. Paper presented at the XXII Annual Meeting of ANPOCS, Working Group 09: International Migration. Caxambu, Brazil, October 24-28, 1998.

Machado, I. (2003). Cárcere Público Processos de Exotização entre Imigrantes Brasileiros no Porto, Portugal [Public Cárcere Exotization Processes Between Brazilian Immigrants in Porto, Portugal]. Ph.D. Thesis. Rio de Janeiro: Universidade Estadual de Campinas (mimeo).

Machado, I. (2007). Reflexões sobre as identidades brasileiras em Portugal [Reflections on Brazilian Identities in Portugal]. In J. Malheiros (Ed.), *Imigração Brasileira em Portugal [Brazilian Immigration in Portugal]* (pp. 171-190). Lisbon: ACIDI.

Padilla, B. (2005). Integration of Brazilian Immigrants in Portuguese Society: Problems and Possibilities. SOCIUS Working Paper 1. Lisbon: SOCIUS, Instituto Superior de Economia e Gestão, Universidade Técnica de Lisboa.

Padilla, B. (2007). A imigração brasileira em Portugal: considerando o género na análise [Brazilian Immigration in Portugal: Considering Gender in the Analysis]. In J. Malheiros (Ed.), *Imigração Brasileira em Portugal [Brazilian Immigration in Portugal]* (pp. 113-134). Lisbon: ACIDI.

Sardinha, J. (2009). *Immigrant Associations, Integration and Identity: Angolan, Brazilian and Eastern European Communities in Portugal*. Amsterdam: IMISCOE / Amsterdam University Press.

Schrover, M. & Vermeulen, F. (2005). Immigrant Organizations. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 31*(5), 823-832.

# German Expellees in Post-War West Germany and Canada

#### **Pascal Maeder**

NCCR LIVES, University of Applied Sciences and Arts - Western Switzerland (HES-SO), Switzerland

- As shown with the example of German expellees<sup>1</sup> in post-war West Germany and post-war German expellees living in Canada, xenophobia does not exempt migrants who share the same ethnic or racial background as the host society.
- To give meaning to successful social and economic integration processes and gain public acceptance, German expellees turned to local homeland traditions, like joining the general discourse of the Heimat in West Germany or, as in Canada, celebrating cultural diversity.
- In doing so, German expellees generated new identities of belonging and thereby reconfigured the confines of in- and exclusion, also based on personal experience. Hence in Canada, expellees saw themselves as equals to other Eastern European immigrants, which is in strong contrast to West Germany where returned expellees generally looked down on their former Eastern European neighbours.

#### Introduction

In the aftermath of World War II, more than 12 million Germans lost their homes in Central and Eastern Europe. The overwhelming majority resettled in Germany where they have since played a very prominent role, notably through powerful lobby associations which called for a return to the homeland well into the 1980s (Beer 2011; Connor 2007; Ahonen 2004). However, expellees – known in Germany as *Heimatvertriebene* or, simply, *Flüchtlinge* (refugees) – also found themselves stranded in Western Europe, Africa and the Americas. In fact, over 800,000 expellees came to live abroad<sup>2</sup>, notably in Canada where over 80,000 expellees settled (Maeder 2011).

How did these expellees fare compared to their counterparts on the old continent? One could expect considerably different outcomes in terms of social and cultural integration, especially when comparing West Germany and Canada. After all, in the immediate post-war years, the contrast between the two countries could not have been more different. On the one hand, Germany, or what was left of Germany, was an occupied country – politically, economically and morally bankrupt. The integration of nearly eight million expellees in the Western occupation zones seemed nearly impossible then (as it did for the 4 million in the eastern zone or what became the German Democratic Republic). In 1950, one in six residents in West Germany had an expellee background (Reichling 1989). In marked contrast, Canada, as a member of the Allied Alliance, was prosperous and prided itself as a land of democracy, opportunity and success. Certainly, expellees in Canada were comparatively few, but they were part of a long history of mass immigration. During the late 19th and early 20th century, in the post-World War II years, Canada admitted large numbers of immigrants: In the 15 years after World War II, there were over 1.5 million immigrants, who represented 10% of Canada's population in 1945. Germans figured prominently in what in Canada became known as the "post-war German immigration boom" (Knowles 2016; Schmalz 2000).

This contribution is based on recorded oral histories and (un)published autobiographies collected for a dissertation project (Maeder 2011), and highlights similarities between the life stories of expellees in West Germany and Canada. Despite the disparate conditions at the outset, in both countries expellees were exposed to prejudice and xenophobia, starting out as an "underclass", confined often to lowerskilled jobs, and noted and scorned for their physical appearance, language and culture. And yet, as shown here in the second part of this paper, these personal accounts taken in late 1970s and 1980 also document how, in the end, they became part of their new homeland. In these accounts they highlight the opportunities they were given in capitalist societies bent on economic growth and prosperity; and the hard work and industry they showed to "make their way up", all of which they attributed to ethno-cultural traits they had brought along to the new country. In so doing, and drawing on scholarship on nationalism and social integration (Giddens 1984), this paper shows how expellees in both countries eventually adopted identities as Germans or Canadians which reflected their experience of extreme nationalism, war and expulsion, as well as the initially difficult settlement into a new political, social and cultural environment.

#### > Prejudice and xenophobia

In the years immediately after 1945, newcomers in what was left of Germany and Canada faced strong resentments. In Germany, as widely documented by other research, locals blamed expellees for the radically deteriorating living conditions, the soaring incidence of crime, the spread of contagious diseases, hunger, the ubiquitous destitution or, even, for the outbreak and loss of the war. Expellees in Germany faced rampant xenophobia, setting them apart from locals and making them the object of ridicule and hatred. Mainly in the countryside and in small towns that had been less affected by the Allied bombing and the war, locals easily recognised the distinct dialects of expelled Germans from Central and Eastern Europe and collectively branded them as "riff-raff". Wearing frayed clothing or pulling a handcart packed with all their belongings in search of shelter, they were pigeonholed as Rucksackdeutsche ("Backpack Germans") or "gypsies". Expellees looked different, ate different food, possessed nothing and, above all, were seen as using resources that locals deemed they did not deserve. Even once the economic situation in West Germany improved, expellees continued to be singled out as undeserving people who unduly benefit from assistance from the state. For instance, when the West German government passed the Equalization of the Burden Act in 1952, providing expellees with some compensation for lost properties in Central and Eastern Europe, people recalled in their personal accounts how they were accused of inflating claims and profiteering from the government.

Decidedly, albeit of German background, expellees were "strangers in their own land".

Meanwhile, in Canada, the Nazi German stigma was pervasive. During and after the war, German immigrants changed their names (Hans became John; Heinrich turned into Henry, etc.) and German was not spoken in public often. As for expellees, Canadians frequently made no distinction: After all, in their eyes, they were Germans, too. Consequently, aid for the numerous needy expellees in occupied Germany came essentially from Canadians with an ethnic German background, whereas Canadians, in general, accused Germans of war crimes and genocide, and stereotyped them as obedient and warmongering. After 1945, German nationals continued to be banned from immigration, though this started to change even before the Cold War turned hot.

A German-Canadian lobby (Canadian Christian Council for the Resettlement of Refugees, CCCRR) managed to open immigration to ethnic Germans, though not to German nationals, but to Czechs, Poles, Russians and stateless people or, in short, the so-called Volksdeutsche and/or "displaced persons". Drawing directly from nationalist pan-German and Nazi rhetoric, German-Canadian lobby groups managed to convince Canadian authorities that the so-called Volksdeutsche were presumably less guilty than "real" Germans from the pre-1938 Reich. In so doing, these lobby groups drew on long-standing traditions in Canadian immigration policy, which since the late 19th century had favoured white immigrants from Britain and, second to them, immigrants from Germany, Eastern Europe and Scandinavia.

By 1950, Canadian authorities dropped the immigration ban on German nationals and reinstated their old favoured status. In the subsequent ten years, over 200,000 German immigrants arrived in Canada, representing nearly one in six immigrants in Canada in the 1950s (Maeder 2011). Two-fifths of the German immigrants had an expellee background, suggesting that expellees were 2.5 times as likely to immigrate to Canada than German immigrants born in West Germany. However, one should note that this over-representation was mainly due to German immigrants from Russia, the Baltics and Southeastern Europe. Though only small minorities among the overall expellee population, a very high proportion of them left war-torn Germany. By comparison, only 5% of the German immigrants arriving in the late 1940s and 1950s to Canada were Ger-
mans from former Czechoslovakia or the so-called Sudetenland. This is comparatively few given that they made up nearly a third of West Germany's expellee population. Similarly, German nationals who were born in what became Polish territories in 1945 were just as likely to migrate to Canada as Germans born in the western parts of the country. This suggests a complex web of interrelated factors that led to the disproportionate settlement of expellees who originated from ethnic German communities in Russia, the Baltics, Ukraine, Romania or Hungary – all of whom were groups which German authorities viewed as backward peasants and thought of as difficult to integrate. Yet, for Canadian officials, these were precisely the type of immigrants they held in esteem.

#### Expellees as fellow citizens

Life histories as told by expellees typically narrate at length the years of the war and its aftermath. Stories include the horror of the war, flight, evictions and the loss of the Heimat (which women experienced quite differently than men who often lived through the early post-war years in prisoner-of-war camps). The subsequent years of settlement and integration are not given as much time and attention in their accounts even though they generally cover two decades or more of their life. In the accounts of expellees in West Germany and Canada, these were years marked by work and the unprecedented economic boom of the post-war years. Besides family events, their accounts testify to increased prosperity and affluence. That said, purchases of the first fridge, television or even car are well remembered.

The same holds true for their cultural integration. While they extensively document the kind of xenophobia they encountered in the early post-war years in both West Germany and Canada, they say considerably less about the way they perceive themselves in their new society. Most scholars have thus far argued that expellees assimilated to West German and Canadian society, adopting an identity centred on economic success and the "golden years" of the postwar years (Lehmann 1991; Bassler 1991). However, this is only one side of the coin. Prosperity and economic success certainly played an important role to construct new identities of belonging, yet expellees in both West Germany and Canada also thought of themselves as having contributed to this economic boom through their labour and mobility. In so doing, they used cultural traits to explain the outcome, i.e.

they were industrious because they were Germans from Silesia, Pomerania, the Danube, the Baltic or wherever else expellees originated from. In both West Germany and Canada, alongside economic success, expellees cast their origins into their new sense of belonging. As historian Celia Applegate suggests about the role of the *Heimat* in German society, since the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century, Germans focus on local or regional traditions to celebrate the nation, especially after 1945 when the *Heimat* represented the least objectionable expression of ethnic and/or national belonging (Applegate 1990). Not surprisingly, the 1950s and 1960s saw the rise of a flourishing industry of *Heimat* films (Tiews 2017).

This process of identity formation was fuelled by expellee organisations which celebrated the Heimat to lay claim to the lost territories. Yet, while for expellee organisations the loss of the homeland remained unacceptable until the 1970s and beyond, for most ordinary expellees in both Canada and West Germany, the use of the Heimat was a way to reconcile the past with the present. To expellees on both sides of the Atlantic, it made sense to celebrate regional traditions and cultures. After all, in their daily lives, they encountered them every day. In West Germany, they heard dialects from Westphalia or Bavaria as much as dialects from former East Prussia, Silesia or from the former German settlements in Hungary and Romania. In Canada, this was the same with the added and significant difference that they heard even more different accents and languages with immigrants flocking into the country from elsewhere in Europe. So, in short, while immigrants from the Ukraine or Italy celebrated their cultural origins, German immigrants in Canada, including expellees, observed traditions from the home region on the "old continent" so as to avoid the Nazi stigma and join Canada's emerging new national identity centred on cultural diversity and the so-called "Canadian mosaic" (Iacovetta et al. 1998).

# "German provincials" and "Euro-Canadians"

Two examples illustrate this process of identity formation. In his autobiography, Horst, one of the interviewees, told the story of his release from a prisoner-of-war camp, finding himself stranded in Schleswig-Holstein, Northern Germany. With the help of the Red Cross, he found his wife shortly thereafter in a camp also located in Northern Germany. Like

most other expellees, he encountered strong resentment. After 1948, he moved to the Frankfurt region, taking a job with an electricity company. In marked contrast to his time in Schleswig-Holstein, he found that in the Frankfurt region, his German dialect from Gdansk (Danzig) was very much appreciated, especially by middle-class customers who could understand his clearly enunciated German better. He could live again as a Danziger in his new environment. Not surprisingly, he also associated the industriousness of the Danzig people with the German "economic miracle". To him, Danzigers, East Prussians or Silesians had been instrumental for West Germany's rapid economic recovery. Moreover, like many other expellees, Horst also had a negative view of his former home region, which he saw lost to communism and the Polish people.

Elisabeth, another interviewee, had come to Canada after World War II. She had left her home region in Southern Hungary (Banat) with the retreating German armies and in May 1945, found herself stranded in Austria. She quickly moved to Munich, Bavaria, where she later located a family member. Three years later she moved to Canada as a displaced Volksdeutsche. In her oral history, taken in the late 1970s, she romanticised her home region, which in her mind had always been a peaceful and prosperous farming region. The war years and the immediate post-war period had been terrible, filled with hunger and resentment from the local people. Yet, her memories of the first years in Canada were equally filled with obstacles and offences. As she explained to the interviewer, she did not see herself as a "real" German, but rather a Volksdeutsche who, she presumed, had nothing to do with Nazi war crimes. Thus, while distancing herself from the presumably more guilty Germans from Germany, she associated herself with an ethnic German identity. As she put it, she was a proud Canadian of Danube-Swabian origin. In Canada she felt at home and accepted, and as part of "the United Nations at work". In her personal account, she saw herself as one of the many keen immigrants from war-torn Europe who had left the old continent and helped build a prosperous country in Canada.

#### Conclusion

Comparing Horst and Elisabeth's accounts of their lives in West Germany and Canada, an image of the

original Heimat as a source of strength and industry emerges which they mould into their new sense of belonging. This clearly shows some of the patterns of exclusion and inclusion. At first unwanted and not welcome, expellees in both West Germany and Canada even found their way into national representations, by celebrating homeland traditions alongside the economic prosperity they had contributed to. In order to give meaning to successful social and economic integration processes, migrants such as German expellees turned to local homeland traditions to gain public acceptance and feel integrated. However, the representations they foster are themselves the source of new exclusions. This is particularly obvious when comparing the views of non-German ethnic groups, which Horst and Elisabeth did in their accounts of the post-war years. These may be generalised, clearly indicating that the interplay of contexts and experience shape people's cultural adaptation quite differently. Thus, while in West Germany, expellees such as Horst had nothing good to say about Poles, Russians and Czechs; in Canada, these ethnic groups were fully part of the nation they celebrated and belonged to. In marked contrast to their West German counterparts, expellees in Canada like Elisabeth had learned to be tolerant and be part of a white, multi-ethnic state. Migration systems going back to the late 19th century had clearly favoured their admission to Canada, perceived as white settlers, industrious and hard working. Needless to say, with the onset of new forms of inclusion in the 1970s and 1980s, stressing racial discrimination and diversity, expellees like many other immigrants and white Canadians struggled to come to terms with change.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> From a migration point of view, there are many ways expellees came to be in West Germany. Most fled to the Western parts of the crumbling Third Reich and were stranded in what became West Germany. Many (i.e. four million) were shipped/transported from Eastern Europe to the West. And then there are the many German men who were released from prisoner-of-war camps who found that they could not go back to their home in Eastern Europe, so they went to occupied Germany instead. And then there are also German people in exile, including in Canada, who found themselves unable to return and therefore stayed. All these are expellees – including those who then immigrated to Canada after 1950.

<sup>2</sup> Whilst in exile (coming originally from the Sudetenland

or Poland), Germans found themselves stranded in Canada and elsewhere. Sweden notably had a large German exile community; most stayed after the war, some "returned" like Willy Brandt. The bulk of expellees referred to here are immigrants from West Germany, but there are also substantial numbers coming from Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Mexico where it was "easier" to go after the war. Many among them were Mennonites.

#### References

Ahonen, P. (2004). *After the Expulsion: West Germany and Eastern Europe, 1945-1990.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Applegate, C. (1990). *A Nation of Provincials: The German Idea of Heimat*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Bassler, G. (1991). *German-Canadian Mosaic Today and Yesterday: Identities, Roots and Heritage*. Ottawa: German-Canadian Congress.

Beer, M. (2011). Flucht und Vertreibung der Deutschen. Voraussetzungen, Verlauf, Folgen [Flight and Explusion of the Germans. Origins, Events, Consequences]. Munich: Beck.

Connor, I. (2007). *Refugees and Expellees in Post-War Germany*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Giddens, A. (1984). *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Knowles, V. (2016). *Strangers at Our Gates. Canadian Immigration and Immigration Policy*, *1540-2015*. 4th ed. Toronto: Dundrun.

Iacovetta, F., Drager, P. & R. Ventresca (Eds.). (1998). *Nation of Immigrants: Women, Workers and Communities in Canadian History, 1840 – 1960s.* Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Lehmann, A. (1991). Im Fremden ungewollt zuhaus: Flüchtlinge und Vertriebene in Westdeutschland 1945-1990 [At Home in Stranger's Land. Refugees and Expellees in West Germany, 1945-1990]. Munich: Beck.

Maeder, P. (2011). Forging a New Heimat: Expellees in Post-War West Germany and Canada. Göttingen: V & R Unipress.

Reichling, G. (1989). *Die deutschen Vertriebenen in Zahlen:* 40 Jahre Eingliederung in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland [The German Expellees in Figures: 40 years of Integration in the Federal Republic of Germany]. Bonn: Kulturstiftung der Deutschen Vertriebenen.

Schmalz, R. (2000). Former Enemies Come to Canada: Ottawa and the Postwar German Immigration Boom, 1951–57. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Ottawa.

Tiews, A. L. (2017). Fluchtpunkt Film: Integrationen von Flüchtlingen und Vertriebenen durch den deutschen Nachkriegsfilm 1945-1990 [Flight in Film. The Integration of Refugees and Expellees in German Post-War Cinema]. Berlin: be.bra wissenschaft verlag.

# German Expellees in West Germany After 1945 and Their Integration into Church Communities

#### Soňa Mikulová

Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Germany

- German expellees had to face various forms of discrimination by the local population, especially in the first several years after their arrival to Germany.
- Adherence to the religion of the same denomination as the receiving community did not automatically lead to a smooth integration of the expellees into a local church community.
- Although some segments of the local population refused or were hesitant to make any concessions to the expellees within their process of integration, the receiving society as a whole went through large and long-lasting structural changes.
- The impact of the integration of expellee members on the development of church communities of both denominations was predominately positive.

#### Introduction

Between 1944 and 1950, postwar Germany experienced one of the biggest and most significant waves of immigration in its history, which consisted of German Reich citizens or ethnic Germans who had been living in East, Central and Southeast Europe up until then. Already in the last months of the war, hundreds of thousands of East Prussian Germans and members of German minorities in Eastern Europe became refugees while fleeing from the advancing Soviet army. Once the war was over, many other Germans were forced to leave their homes due to the newly established German-Polish borders. At the same time, most German minorities were expelled to Germany or other neighbouring countries by governments of liberated states in East, Central and Southeast Europe as revenge for occupation by German Nazis and war atrocities (Beer 2011).

As a consequence, around 12 million German war refugees and post-war expellees arrived in the war-destroyed land, under the control of Allied powers, 8 million of which landed in West German zones (Connor 2007). As ethnic Germans or citizens of the former German Reich (*Volksdeutsche*), they obtained the same legal status as the local German population almost immediately. Their economic integration was mainly completed within the following decade and it was then considered one of the first big political achievements of the young West German Republic. The economic indicators highlight, however, only a part of the complex and dynamic process of the integration. Although the individual trajectories of every single newcomer differed from each other, an overwhelming majority of witnesses remembered the process of integration from being far from smooth (Kossert 2008).

The term expellees<sup>1</sup>, which from here on refers to the whole group of above-mentioned immigrants, should not hide the fact that this group was very heterogeneous. They came from various socio-economic milieus in both rural and urban areas, which differed from country of origin. Nevertheless, these and many other differences were overshadowed by several commonalities as soon as they crossed the German border: As members of German minorities, they all had experienced some kinds of disadvantage and even violence in their lands of origin after the end of the war and during their expulsion; they arrived in Germany with no or very little property; they suffered from loss of their homeland and relatives.<sup>2</sup> As a consequence, they had to cope with their new identity as immigrants and face prejudices connected to it.

From the perspective of the local population, the expellees seemed to be first and foremost a homogeneous mass of strangers, despite the fact that the new citizens had similar cultural backgrounds and spoke German as their mother tongue. The potential danger of the "intruders" was mainly caused by the fear that they would make the life of the impoverished receiving society even harder (Erker 1988: 384). However, it would be a mistake to also consider the receiving society as a homogeneous group of people who all believed the same negative stereotypes and prejudices. Numerous testimonies tell stories about receiving warm welcomes, living peacefully together, selfless help and both open and hidden support from individuals, as well as organisations or community representatives all over the country. In the first several years, however, the negative approach of the locals towards expellees was more common (Lehmann 1991, Wagnerová 1990).

The following text will shed some light on the most important areas of everyday interaction between the expellees and the West German receiving society in the first post-war decade. It will focus on the emotional dimension of friction and conflict between expellees and the local community, and its consequences. Subsequently, it will take a closer look at church communities and their double role as areas and actors in the integration of expellees.

# German expellees in West Germany: Challenges of integration

The most urgent goals of the Allied powers and German local authorities regarding the expellees were to provide them with housing and employment in order to arrange for their self-sufficiency as soon as possible. Poor food supplies and the lack of housing in Germany reached alarming dimensions even before millions of expellees joined hundreds of thousands of Holocaust survivors, released forced labourers and other displaced persons who stayed all over Germany for several months or years after the war ended. Numerous inhabitants of German cities evacuated to the countryside after heavy air raids, which created enormous burdens on the rural areas where transports of expellees were heading. The capacity of relatives, support volunteers and charitable organisations to host the influx of individuals and entire families ran out fast. Improvised shelters and so-called refugee camps were organised in public spaces, such as taverns and gyms, in former labour barracks or military facilities.

How long people spent in refugee camps differed from place to place. The move into the first room or flat in private houses was usually only the first of many stops before they finally settled down, given the temporary character of living in involuntarily shared flats and houses with the landlord or another expellee family. In many cases, living together peacefully only lasted several months because as it became clearer that the expellees would not be able to return to their homelands, they were not seen as guests, but more as insufferable or openly hated cohabitators (Dettmer 1983: 312-313). Many other witnesses reported constant bullying on the part of the locals from the very start, such as removing all of the furniture or refusing to provide wood for heating in the winter (Wagnerová 1990: 388).

Unquestionably, homes were areas of frequent conflicts between the expellees and the locals on an everyday level. This could have lasted for several months or years because the definitive solution was finding privacy in one's own house or flat, which was not possible without a job and money. It was easier for qualified workers to find an appropriate job in and around urban and industrialised areas, yet expellees were not allowed to change their assigned domicile without permission until 1949. That is why many expellees might have felt trapped; especially older people and single mothers with children living and working on a farm, who were often paid in kind (Dettmer 1983: 313). Besides that, hard work in the fields, unfamiliar for those who came from urban and industrialised environments, led to other conflicts between expellees and the owners of the farm accompanied by feelings of annoyance, defiance, anger and contemptuousness (Erker 1988: 389). But not all expellees considered their living conditions desperate. Farmers who saved their farm animals had a big advantage in obtaining well-paid jobs. Specific craftsmen or teachers were also more successful in finding jobs than other expellees because their skills and knowledge were needed (Lehmann 1991: 25).

Generally, being employed and engaged in social and cultural associations positively influenced the acceptance of expellees by the receiving society. It was usually easier in cities and agglomerations, which provided anonymity to expellees and more possibilities to interact with their cohabitants than small towns and villages did (Parisius 2011). The stronger and tighter the bonds within a community, the more persistent the fears and prejudices against unknown and allegedly dangerous newcomers might have been, regardless of their individual histories and future ambitions. An expellee was commonly labelled as someone who belongs to a subordinate social category, further specified by other stereotypes. "Refugees" as a swear word implied the presumed foreignness and volatile nature of migrants. Other offensive words regarding the lack of assets (Habenichts) were usually accompanied with incredulousness or contempt of the natives for expellees' depiction of their former living standards and lost property (Dettmer 1983: 384). Mixed couples of locals and expellees who wanted to marry had to count on serious conflicts within families, especially if one member of the pair was of different faith.

The fact that expellees were ethnic Germans did not protect them from being treated as others by the receiving society because on the local level, differences usually played a bigger role than commonalities. The use of various regional dialects by expellees was not only a typical object of ridicule, but it indeed created some problems in understanding between natives and newcomers at the beginning. While children easily learned the standard German or the local dialect, older expellees continued to speak the way they did in their homelands, not least because of nostalgia they felt. That is why many of them also preserved their regional traditions and manners although this might have caused displeasure and misunderstanding by the natives (Kossert 2008: 126–127).

During the 1950s, most expellees succeeded in gaining jobs and respected socio-economic status, which weakened the impact of the mentioned labels. However, the stigma of being a "refugee" still created long-lasting visible hierarchies and borders between "us" and "them". For example, separate housing settlements for expellees, seating arrangements in the local church, or divided groups of locals and expellees in the local pub, at village feasts or at weddings of mixed couples (Dettmer 1983: 315). Nevertheless, these differences did not usually lead to open hostility and conflicts any more.

## Integration of Catholic expellees into church communities

Both Catholic and Protestant Churches, together with affiliated charitable organisations, participated in providing first aid for expellees, which involved supplying and delivering food, clothes and other necessities directly after their arrival. Later, they organised donation campaigns among local populations and a service to try to find missing relatives for expellees. They also provided legal assistance and help finding jobs and houses, especially for expellees living in refugee camps (Bendel 2009a: 817-818). Therefore, they significantly helped to improve the material situation of many expellees, regardless of their denomination.

At the same time, both Churches made a great effort to take care of the mental and spiritual state of expellees through realising their primary aim of serving God. It meant that they had to both integrate their new expellee members into their old structures and deal with the presence of expellees of different faith. Since most expellees were not permitted to decide themselves about their residence, many Protestants landed in predominantly Catholic regions and vice versa. Districts which remained homogeneous regarding the religion of its inhabitants almost ceased to exist (Erker 1988: 382-383). Such development was perceived by some representatives of both Churches as a threat to the solidity of faith of their members.

From the perspective of expellees, the changes in practising their religion were not less dramatic. Being scattered all over Germany, they lost their close connection to the well-known and trusted home priests and other members of their church communities. The biggest challenge for both Catholic and Protestant expellees was to practice their religion in the region with another dominant denomination (Bendel 2009b: 61-85). This meant joining an existing diaspora church community or creating a new one. The latter was especially difficult because of missing clergy personnel and poor material logistics. The first solutions regarding the lack of a house of worship differed from place to place. In some locations, clergymen of both Churches agreed on the use of the same building for a certain period while in other places, local church authorities were against such practice. Some expellee priests preferred conducting service in a tavern, gym or on a hayfield than in a house of different denomination in order to save

their community members from temptation by the different faith.

Since the diasporic priests were responsible for a high number of little communities scattered throughout a vast area, services in some villages did not take place frequently. Some religiously affiliated expellees were willing to walk several kilometers to another church of the same denomination in the neighbourhood. Other expellees did not mind attending religious service at the local church, even if it was of different denomination (Bendel 2009a: 236). Testimonies spoke of expellees working on farms who were forced to go to church of different denomination together with the farmer's family. Yet, forced conversion could have had a more attractive side: Talented, but poor expellees were offered a scholarship under the condition they would convert (Kossert 2008: 226).

Challenges for Catholic or Protestant expellees came, however, not only from the outside. Diaspora church communities consisted of Christians from different regions and countries, who were singing different songs and practising more or less different religious rituals and traditions. It took time to get to know each other, to negotiate and to agree on practices to be shared, especially if the members of the church community changed often due to the high fluctuation of expellees in the first several years. In many cases, however, expellees in diaspora church communities were more successful in preserving their idiosyncratic religious traditions, liturgy elements and songs than expellees who had integrated into an already existing church structure whose denomination was predominant in the region. This was, for example, the case of many Sudeten Germans who predominantly belonged to the Catholic Church and settled in Southern Bavaria, West Hesse and other Catholic regions. While insisting on their own religious practices and traditions, they received the label "Bohemian Catholics", which stood for a lack of piety and general religious demeanour of the accepted Bavarian Catholicism (Erker 1988: 398). Some local priests were even afraid of "religious bolshevism" brought by liberal Sudeten German Catholics who would ruin the "good customs" of locals. Sudeten German Catholics, on the other hand, refused to assimilate because they considered Bavarian priests to be too strict and orthodox (Erker 1988: 397).

Thus, integration of expellees into church communities was not automatically easier if most of the expellees were of the same denomination as the majority of the local population. Following up with the example of Sudeten Germans in Bavaria, it was not a lack of sacred buildings or lack of staff that local church communities struggled with most. On the contrary, the arrival of expellee priests created a surplus of clergymen. Some expellee priests had to wait for an appointment for several years until missing priests from local parishes were declared dead. Existing rivalry and disagreement between local and expellee priests were especially evident regarding the question of Pastoral care for expellees. Even if the needs of expellees for solace and consolation of their specific traumas and suffering were recognised and taken into consideration, the Church authorities generally disapproved of adopting foreign traditions in order to avoid the creation of distinctive expellee church communities. Therefore, Catholic expellees were supposed to give up their specific religious practices and assimilate themselves to established church communities as soon as possible (Kossert 2008: 232). The majority of expellee priests, however, tended to make more concessions to the expellee members. Some leading expellee priests like Catholic Pater Paulus Sladek tried to create the spiritual homeland of expellees in a new community joining expellees and locals on the ground of commonly shared values and with respect to their mutual idiosyncracy (Sladek 1948/1949: 348-349). Yet, his endeavour was only partially put into practice depending on specific communities.

#### Conclusion

With the mass arrival of expellees, the majority of the local population viewed them as strange, poor or a danger to the stability and security of the local society. Most of these fears did not prove to be true or the stereotypes became less believable over the course of 1950s. Concurrently, the frequency of everyday conflicts on the ground of negative stereotypes and the open hostility between the receiving society and the expellees declined and the mutual trust, acceptance and respect rose. The process of integration, however, took place at different speeds and intensity in various private and public areas of life depending on the gender, the age, professional skills, aims and ambitions of the expellees, as well as based on coincidences which determined geographical localities as their starting positions.

The last aspect played an important role regarding

the integration process in church communities. Almost everywhere, the presence of expellees of different faiths strengthened the sense of alienation of locals towards expellees. Surprisingly, expellees of the same denomination also felt like strangers in the new church communities because of their different religious traditions. Since religious practices of the local and expellee members of the community were themselves objects of negotiation, they could not have served immediately as integration vehicles. The same faith of the expellees was thus not a guarantee for their easier integration, even if many clergymen, especially expellees themselves, made a great effort to reach it.

Most problems and conflicts between new and old members of church communities of both denominations faded out over several years. From a long-standing perspective, there is no doubt, that the arrival of expellees accelerated the dissolution of the religious homogeneity all over Germany, yet revitalised the community life in rural districts and led to the individualisation of religious practices. The arrival of expellees also enriched religious traditions of the locals – new forms of piety, which went hand-inhand with the revitalisation of community life (Kosser 2008: 230).

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> The most common name for the German immigrants at the time of their arrival was "refugees", opposed by many expellees themselves who intended to stress the involuntary nature of their migration. Unlike German law, which differs between several terms such as *Heimatvertriebene*, *Vertriebene* or *politische Flüchtlinge*, current scholars tend to use the term expellee as an umbrella name for Germans who were evacuated or fled from war, as well as for Germans from Eastern Europe who went through Soviet prisons of war or escaped illegally from from the Soviet Zone / GDR and arrived later in West Germany.

<sup>2</sup> The earliest and largest collection of documentation and eyewitness reports was created by a commission of the Federal Ministry for Displaced Persons, Refugees and War Victims. See Schieder, T. et al. (1992).

References

Beer, M. (2011). Flucht und Vertreibung der Deutschen: Voraussetzungen, Verlauf, Folgen [Flight and Expulsion of *Germans: Preconditions, Course and Consequences*]. Munich: C.H. Beck.

Bendel, R. (2009a). Kirchliche Vergemeinschaftung bei den vertriebenen Sudetendeutschen [Church Community Formation of Sudeten German Expellees]. In M. Schulze Wessel & M. Zückert (Eds.), Handbuch der Religions- und Kirchengeschichte der böhmischen Länder und Tschechiens im 20. Jahrhundert [Handbook of Religion and Church History of Bohemian and Czech Lands in 20<sup>th</sup> Century] (pp. 815–874). Munich: Oldenbourg.

Bendel, R. (2009b). Die Aufnahme von Vertriebenen in katholischen süd- und südwestdeutschen Diasporagebieten [The Reception of Expellees in Catholic South- and Southwest German Diasporas]. In J. Pilvousek & E. Preuss (Eds.), *Aufnahme – Integration – Beheimatung. Flüchtlinge, Vertriebene und die "Ankunftsgesellschaft" [Reception – Integration – Establishment. Refugees, Expellees and the "Receiving Society"]* (pp. 61–85). Berlin: Lit.

Connor, I. (2007). *Refugees and Expellees in Post-War Germany.* Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Dettmer, F. (1983). Konflikte zwischen Flüchtlingen und Einheimischen nach Ende des Zweiten Weltkrieges [Conflicts between Refugees and Local Population after the World War II]. *Jahrbuch für ostdeutsche Volkskunde, 26*, 311-324, pp. 312-313.

Erker, P. (1988). Revolution des Dorfes? Ländliche Bevölkerung zwischen Flüchtlingszustrom und landwirtschaftlichem Strukturwandel [Revolution of the Village? Rural Population between Refugee influx and Agricultural Structural Change]. In M. Broszat (Ed.), *Von Stalingrad zur Währungsreform. Zur Sozialgeschichte des Umbruchs in Deutschland [From Stalingrad to Currency Reform. Social History of the Change in Germany]* (pp. 367–425). Munich: Oldenbourg.

Kossert, A. (2008). Kalte Heimat: Die Geschichte der deutschen Vertriebenen nach 1945 [Cold Fatherland: The History of German Exiles after 1945]. Bonn: Bundeszentrale für Politische Bildung.

Lehmann, A. (1991). Im Fremden ungewollt zuhaus: Flüchtlinge und Vertriebene in Westdeutschland; 1945 – 1990 [At Home in Stranger's Land. Refugees and Expellees in West Germany, 1945-1990]. Munich: Beck.

Parisius, B. (2011): "Dass man natürlich in der Stadt mehr Möglichkeiten hat, das zu verwirklichen, was man will, ist klar." Integrationen in Niedersachsen und Hamburg. ["It's Obvious That One Had More Possibilities in the Town to Realize What They Wanted". Processes of integration in Lower Saxony and Hamburg]. In M. Krauss (Ed.), *Integrationen. Vertriebene in den deutschen Ländern nach 1945 [Processes of Integration. Expellees in German Lands after 1945]* (pp. 93–119). Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht.

Schieder, T. et al. (Ed.) (1992): Dokumentation der Vertreibung der Deutschen aus Ost-Mitteleuropa [Documents on the Expulsion of the Germans from East-Central Europe], Vol. I. –V. Berlin: Hayn's Erben.

Sladek, P. (1948/1949): Die Flüchtlingsfrage soziologisch gesehen [The Refugee Question in Sociological Perspective]. *Stimmen der Zeit* (144), 343-352.

Wagnerová, A. (1990): *1945 waren sie Kinder: Flucht und Vertreibung im Leben einer Generation [In 1945 They Were Children: Flight and Expulsion in the Life of a Generation]*. Köln: Kiepenheuer & Witsch.

# **The Alchemy of Integration**

# **Russians in Bulgaria**

#### Anna Krasteva

Centre for European Refugees Migration and Ethnic Studies (CERMES), New Bulgarian University, Bulgaria

- Bulgarians and Russians share an Orthodox religion, Slavic languages, the Cyrillic alphabet and key historic periods, yet policies of integration have fluctuated from the humanitarian treatment of Russian refugees after the First World War to hostile discourse in the current post-communist period.
- The methodological framework of the study is defined as the triangle of the "alchemy of integration" with its three apexes of culture, politics and policy, and migrant agency at the analytical centre.
- The Russians in Bulgaria are analysed in three perspectives: The socio-economic profile, the waves of Russian immigration and the respective policies of integration of the Bulgarian State, and the strategies of integration of the Russian community.
- In the interactions between politics and culture, politics always wins in the conception and implementation of integration policies. The cultural similarities have not softened or dampened the abrupt political transitions.
- Culture prevails in the micro-strategies of migrant agency. They occupy a broad spectrum, from voluntary assimilation to hybrid Russo-Bulgarian identities.
- The alchemy of integration is expressed in the paradox that despite the political discourses fluctuating from admiration to accusation, the micro-strategies of integration of most Russians in Bulgaria are successful in building intercultural bridges.

#### > Polarised "lieux de mémoire"

One morning, Bulgaria made the global news: The Soviet Army Monument in Sofia had been painted in vibrant colours. Both the Bulgarian and the international public were impressed by the similarities between the heroes from the two symbolic universes – the Soviet one and the Hollywood one. I chose to start with this example because the Soviet Army Monument in the centre of Sofia is a polarised "lieu de mémoire" (site of memory), the subject of symbolic battles<sup>1</sup> and interpretations, which also characterises the public discourses about the Russian community in Bulgaria.

This contribution examines whether cultural resemblances, such as a shared cultural heritage, language or religion, may systematically lead to better integra-



Скулптури от Паметника на Съветската армия изрисувани в попарт стил (18 юни - 21 юни 2011 г.) Copyright: Wikimedia Commons (https://bit.ly/2JhXfVp) under GNU Free Documentation License 1.2.

tion. The case of the Russian community in Bulgaria will show that politics plays first violin and culture comes second. Bulgarians and Russians share an Orthodox religion, Slavic languages, the Cyrilic alphabet and key historic periods, yet policies of integration have fluctuated from the humanitarian treatment of Russian refugees after the First World War to hostile discourse in the current post-communist period.

The following analysis is divided into four parts. The first part outlines the methodological framework of the study as the triangle of the "alchemy of integration" with its three apexes of culture, politics and policy, and migrant agency at the analytical centre. The second section presents the socio-economic profile of the Russian community in Bulgaria. In the third part, the periods of waves of Russian migration and the respective policies of integration are defined. The fourth part introduces three portraits and three strategies of integration. The concluding remarks "measure" the analytical weight of politics and policies, from one side, and culture, from another side, in the integration of Russians in Bulgaria.

## Migrant agency, or the alchemy of integration

I have structured the triangle of the alchemy of integration around the three apexes of culture, politics and policies. Its analytical centre is occupied by migrant agency, which defines and unfolds its integration strategies in the dynamic political environment.



Figure 1: Triangle of the alchemy of integration.

The culture in the analysed case of the Russian community in Bulgaria consists of three major "substances" shared by both communities – Slavic languages, Orthodox religion and the Cyrillic alphabet. The alchemical message the scheme conveys is that politics and migrant agency shape the culture and its shared "substances" in different, various and, sometimes, opposite ways.

Politics is intimately interwoven with sites of memory, identities and integration alike. The narratives –

political, public or academic – about the Russian community are perhaps the most politicised. Politics – pre-communist, communist and post-communist – form the intersection between the integration policies of the Bulgarian state and the integration strategies of the Russian community. The present contribution focuses on the complex and dynamic interactions between politics, integration and migrant agency. It examines the ways in which different political regimes impose different interpretations and uses on a single cultural identity.

## Being Russian in Bulgaria: A demographic and socio-economic profile

The Russian community (9,978 members as of 2011, or 0.1% of the population of Bulgaria)<sup>2</sup> is the largest migrant group in Bulgaria. Russians – like most migrants – are predominantly part of the urban population, concentrated in the capital and the major cities: Sofia (3,127), Varna (1,358) and Burgas (1,107) (Bulgarian National Statistical Institute).

Their professional portrait looks considerably different from other groups of foreigners. Its most specific trait is diversification. While members of certain migrant groups work only in particular ethnic niches – ethnic restaurants and shops – Russians work everywhere: In businesses, the service sector, education, science and culture. They also work in the national or local public administration – an occupation that is untypical for any other migrant community (Krasteva 2008).

Each wave of Russian migration has shown a specific gender (dis)balance. The first waves – of the few veterans from the 1877-78 Russo-Turkish War and the many individuals from the White movement in 1917-23 – were almost exclusively male, whereas Soviet migration was almost exclusively female. Most Russians in Bulgaria are in mixed marriages. The vast majority of Russian women arrived with their Bulgarian husband. No other community demonstrates such high levels of intermarriage – a crucial indicator for integration.

	Total Population of Bulgaria	Russians	
		Total	In Percent of the Total Population
1881	2,007,919	1,124	0.06
1888	3,154,375	5,768*	0.04
1893	3,079 379	928	0.03
1900	3,744 283	1,685	0.05
1905	4,035 575	3,245	0.08
1910	4,337 513	2,505	0.06
1920	4,846 971	9,080	0.19
1926	5,478 741	19,706	0.36
1934	6,077 939	11,928	0.20
1946	7,029 349	13,200	0.19
1956	7,613 709	10,551	0.14
1965	8,227 966	10,815	0.13
1992	8,487 371	17,139	0.20
2001	7 928 901	15,595	0.20
2011	7,364,570	9,978	0.13

Table 1: Number of Russians in Bulgaria.

Notes: \*Total number of Slavs.

Source: Census data from the Bulgarian National Statistical Institute.

## Four migration waves, four types of integration policies

I divide the history of Russian migration to Bulgaria into four periods corresponding to waves, each characterised by its specific profile and integration strategy.

## The first wave (beginning of the 19th century): The "Old Believers" – well negotiated elasticity of identity

The Cossack Old Believers came to Bulgaria in the early 19th century. Their migration was religious in nature: They left Russia after a reform of the Orthodox Church that they refused to accept, remaining true to the old rites. Nowadays, their descendants live in two villages near Varna and Silistra (Atanasova 1998; 2005). This small colourful community is interesting for three reasons. The first reason is because of the parallel worlds of the community and macro-society: The religious ethos of the group is extremely rigorous; there is no talk of divorce and adultery, men have long beards, etc. In order to reconcile modern life with the strict religious norms, Old Believers have adopted a parallel existence in their social spaces and their life cycles. The fact that an official in the local municipality is divorced does

not impact social communication, but severely limits it during community celebrations, religious holidays, rituals, etc. Explicit signs of identity, such as long beards, are a privilege of the elderly when they are at that stage of their lives when they can develop all aspects of their faith (Atanasova 1998; 2005). Old Believers perfectly illustrate the heuristic notion of elasticity of identity while "negotiating" the relations between their community and various political regimes: During communism, they emphasised their Russian ethnicity and language, whereas in post-secular, post-communist countries, they openly demonstrate the true core of their group identity: Old Belief Orthodoxy.

## The second wave (after the October Revolution): The Whites – a subject of humanitarian and integration policies

The October Revolution, like all revolutions, generated an enormous wave of refugees, fleeing from the Bolshevik regime and from famine: Supporters of the White movement, aristocrats, bourgeois, Mensheviks (Krasteva 2006). Between 1919 and 1923, 35,000 disarmed soldiers and officers from Pyotr Wrangel's army came to Bulgaria, along with civilian refugees. In 1922, the Committee on Russian Refugees was established. Some refugees were offered jobs in the state administration, others received free medical treatment. There was a duty-free import of humanitarian aid from international organisations (Kisiova 2002). The coalition governing Bulgaria between 1923 and 1930 established the "Golden Age" of Russian immigration (Kisiova 2002). Each year, the Bulgarian state provided 11 to 12 million leva from the budget, which constituted more than two-thirds of the support for the needy Russian migrants. When the Parliament approved the allocation of lifetime allowances to some 50 veterans from the 1877-78 Russo-Turkish War, it created a precedent in the history of Russian migration around the world (Kisiova 2002). Russian schools thrived, and so did the overall conditions for maintaining a Russian identity. Russians became the most favoured minority in Bulgaria (Kisiova 2002).

Germany's assault on Russia in 1941 radically split the Russian community. Some of its members sided with Germany: 2,000 men enlisted in the "Russian Security Corps", which was part of the German army. Others became actively involved in the communist resistance. The majority, however, remained politically neutral (Kisiova 2002). The subsequent communist regime overhauled their policies: 22 out of 26 Russian organisations were disbanded and had their property confiscated. In 1946, the Ministry of the Interior established a department called "Whites". The stricter political control made many migrants adopt Soviet or Bulgarian citizenship. In the mid-1950s, the new Soviet citizens were allowed to return to the USSR and take part in the development of agriculture. 5,000 Russians went back to their homeland; another 7,500 chose to remain in Bulgaria (Kisiova 2002).

#### The third wave (after 1944): Communist migrations - from ideologisation to sentimentalisation

The communist regime after World War II witnessed a considerable change in the profile of Russian migration. The new migrants were mostly members of mixed marriages, which had taken place while Bulgarian specialists studied or worked in the USSR.

I would distinguish between two lines of interpretation. The first one was drawn by the regime, which viewed everything through an ideological prism. This led to family migration becoming an embodiment of Bulgarian-Soviet comradeship.

I refer to the second line of interpretation as sentimentalisation: Both Russians and Bulgarians from mixed marriages appropriated the "authorship" over defining family migration and overturned its meaning, distancing it from ideology and bringing it closer to identity, affection and love. This interpretative alchemy resembles a scene from George Orwell's 1984: The protagonist listens to an ordinary woman singing a song composed by a machine. The song eventually begins to sound human and genuine, and the protagonist understands that there is hope, and change will come from below. Thus, the stories told by Russian women replace ideology with affection and identity:

My home is Bulgaria. When my plane from Russia lands here, I can feel this tickle under my chin .... I don't know the reason: Maybe it was the people who accepted me so warmly, maybe it was me – I came here out of love, on my own .... I've come to live here.<sup>3</sup> (Krasteva 2014: 460)

Another illustration of this existential affective perspective is the transformation of female identities: In Russia, everything is borne by women. History has made it so: Our men have been killed, decimated in several wars in a row, starting at the end of the 19th century. Women had to plow, give birth, build, reconstruct .... In Russia, women look after themselves. Here in Bulgaria, it's the opposite. (Krasteva 2014: 459)

This excerpt from an interview with a Russian woman married to a Bulgarian for about 20 years demonstrates the contrasting experiences of femininity. In both countries, women are emancipated, professionally and socially. Bulgarian women have strived to establish and solidify gender equality, whereas Russian history has frequently put women in the difficult position to face hardships on their own and raise their children as single mothers. The shared responsibilities in a family and the supporting shoulder of a strong and caring husband are among the advantages of living in a Bulgarian environment.

## The fourth wave (after 1990): Post-communist transnationalism – Russians as investors or invaders

The democratic changes in the early 1990s brought in a new, different wave. A lot of Russians bought housing properties, especially along the sea. A considerable part of this wave exhibits the spirit of transnationalism: Russians do not settle here, but continue to live in Russia and take their vacations in Bulgaria; children, grandparents and family members with fewer professional commitments stay longer.

Once again, narratives fly in opposite directions. The first one is economics-tinted and presents Russians as some of the largest foreign investors in Bulgaria. The second one is politicised and paints them as a "fifth column," invaders who take over through financial acquisition. Interestingly, this narrative can be heard in opposite quarters: Both from Russophobe public figures in Bulgaria (Indjev 2016) and from Russian politicians. Pyotr Tolstoy, a Russian MP, declared that the Russians are going to "buy" Bulgaria – and, according to him, already bought half of the coast (Καπμταπ/Capital 2016).

This fourth wave also features a new phenomenon – lifestyle migrants. These are Russians settling in Bulgaria because of its mild climate combined with a similar culture and language, which facilitate and accelerate integration. Atypical cases are young retirees, looking for a healthier living environment after completing their professional career. They do not merely avoid the polar interpretations of investors versus invaders; they build bridges between the Russian community and Bulgarian society, sometimes through strong symbolic gestures: "Together with Russian friends, we donated blood as an expression of gratitude for the hospitality" (Offnews 14.03.16). Among the heavily politicised communist and post-communist discourse, which hates or loves Russia with a passion and transfers these political preferences to the Russian community in Bulgaria, migrant agency has chosen to transform cultural similarities into a potent symbolic resource for openness, inclusion and building bridges.

# Three portraits – Three integration strategies

- The White: Ivan<sup>4</sup> was one of the Whites who found refuge in Bulgaria after the Bolshevik revolution. He lived modestly and inconspicuously and managed to hide his difference. He completely blended in with his surroundings: No Russian traditions, not a word of the language, whispered or entrusted to children and grandchildren, almost no tales about that other homeland in the family memory.
- The Russian lady: She was a dignified woman with an air of spirituality and culture. She was also an incredibly strong person: She lost her Bulgarian husband on their way to Bulgaria and arrived here alone with her four children, whom she proceeded to raise entirely on her own. Everything around her was extraordinary: Her children were two pairs of twins born on the same day, four years apart. She never made an effort to lose her Russian accent; on the contrary, it emphasised the appeal of the unique Russian environment she created around herself. Russian was the only language spoken at home, also for the Bulgarian members of the large family.
- The migrant woman: She married her Bulgarian husband during their studies in the USSR. At home with their three children, they spoke both Russian and Bulgarian. Today, the elder son lives in the U.S., the daughter lives in Belgium and the younger son is in Sofia.

Three identification strategies can be distinguished. The first is assimilation. Voluntary and systematic, it permeates everything: School, your children study your native language as a foreign language, you speak like the locals, and by and by start feeling like one of them. When talking to his brother, who said, "we Russians," Ivan responded with "we Bulgarians." This strategy is most common when the past has been traumatic. You do not wish to remember; therefore, you make it so that there is nothing to remember.

The second strategy preserves and even reinforces the identity. Everything about the Russian women was Russian. From addressing people by their first and second names, to the cultural atmosphere imbued with music and literature, to the reverence for the Russian language. This Russian-ness was so powerful and appealing that it generated reverse integration: It attracted members of the national majority to join the micro-circle of the Russian family community.

The third situation is the classical hybrid identity of the migrant: You are in between the native and the host culture, where you belong equally to both: "They're both my home. I cherish Bulgaria and Russia in equal measure – as nations and countries alike" (Krasteva 2014: 455). This hybrid nature paves the straightest road to cosmopolitanism, to seeing other places, even the entire world, as a living space; hence, one son is in the U.S., the daughter is in Belgium and the other son is in Bulgaria.

# Conclusions or the unfinished battle between politics and culture

Culture and politics play different roles in the micro-strategies of integration of the migrants themselves and in the political discourses and integration policies of the governmental elites.

On the one hand, culture prevails in the micro-strategies of migrant agency. They occupy a broad spectrum, from voluntary assimilation to hybrid Russo-Bulgarian identities. Yet all of them lie within the boundaries of inclusion and integration. Post-communist transnationalism is a new phenomenon, and we are yet to see whether it will reinforce or re-examine these boundaries.

On the other hand, in the interactions between politics and culture, politics always wins. The cultural similarities – Slavic languages, Orthodox faith, Cyrillic alphabet – have not influenced or dampened the abrupt political transitions. The Communist authorities created the "Whites department" at the Ministry of the Interior and shut down Russian organisations, radically redefining the state policies towards Russian migrants from humanitarian and integrationist to securitarian. Post-communism, just as radically, rejected "Bulgarian-Soviet comradeship" and tagged Russian investors as invaders.

Cultural proximity is less valued by politics than by migrant agency. Even during the communist period when relations between Bulgaria and the former USSR were the closest, the reasons were less connected to the Slavic, but rather to the communist international solidarity. Other elements of the cultural closeness – the Orthodox religion – have been conspicuously ignored and marginalised. Migrants are the crucial agency which cherishes the shared cultural capital. The alchemy of integration consists in the almost magic result that despite the political discourses fluctuating from admiration to accusation, the micro-strategies of integration of most Russians in Bulgaria are successful in building intercultural bridges.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> Debates are usually about whether the monument should be dismantled and relocated or preserved.

 $^{\rm 2}$  All data are from the Bulgarian National Statistical Institute.

<sup>3</sup> All interviews and portraits are from the author's fieldwork.

<sup>4</sup> The names are pseudonyms.

#### References

Анастасова/Anastasova, E. (1998). Некрасовците в България – мит, история, идентичност [The Nekrasov School in Bulgaria: Myth, History, Identity]. София: АИ Проф.Марин Дринов [Sofia: Marin Drinov Publisher].

Анастасова/Anastasova, E. (2005). Руснаци [Russians]. In A. Кръстева/Krasteva (Ed.), Имиграцията в България. [Immigration in Bulgaria]. София: IMIR [Sofia: International Centre for Minority Studies and Intercultural Relations]. "България ще я изкупим цялата"; институциите не peaгират/ [Russian MP "We'll Buy the Whole of Bulgaria"; Institutions Do Not React]. 19.09.16. Retrieved from https://www.capital.bg/politika\_i\_ikonomika/bulgaria/2016 /09/19/2829584\_ruskiiat\_deputat\_pyotr\_tolstoi\_bulgariia\_ shte\_ia/.

Инджев, И./Indzhev, I. (2016). Петата колона на Путин се кани да направи стотици хиляди руснаци постоянно пребиваващи в България [The Fifth Column of Putin Envisages to Transform Hundreds of Thousands Russians into Permanent Residents in Bulgaria]. 31.05.16. Retrieved from http://ivo.bg/

Кьосева, Ц./Kioseva, Т. (2002). Руската емиграция в България [*Russian Emigration to Bulgaria*]. София: IMIR. [Sofia: International Centre for Minority Studies and Intercultural Relations].

Krasteva, A. (Ed.). (1999). *Communities and Identities in Bulgaria*. Ravenna: Longo Editore.

Кръстева/Krasteva, A. (2005). The Bulgarian Migration Phenomenon. In A. Krasteva (Ed.), *Immigration in Bulgaria* (pp. 7-19). Sofia: IMIR.

Кръстева/Krasteva, А. (2006). Фигурите на бежанеца [*Portraits of Refugees*]. София: НБУ [Sofia: New Bulgarian University].

Кръстева/Krasteva, А. (2014). От миграция към мобилност: политики и пътища [*From Migration to Mobility: Policies and Paths*]. София: НБУ [Sofia: New Bulgarian University].

Krasteva, A. (2008). L'immigration en Bulgarie: Culture d'entreprise et questions d'intégration [Immigration in Bulgaria: Corporate Culture and Integration Issues]. *Hommes et migrations*, (1275), 112-126.

Krasteva, A. (2011). Regards de femmes [Women's Looks]. SociologieS [Online], Dossiers, Migrations, pluralisation, ethnicisation des sociétés contemporaines. Retrieved from http://sociologies.revues.org/index3715.html.

Offnews (2016). От СССР в България.Три рускини разказват за живота си в България [From Soviet Union to Bulgaria. Three Russian Ladies Narrate Their Lives in Bulgaria]. Retrieved from https://offnews.bg/litca/ ot-sssr-v-balgaria-tri-ruskini-razkazvat-za-zhivota-vavvarna-625758.html.

Капитал/Capital (2016). Руски депутат Пьотр Толстой

# Historical Links and Integration of Migrants from Neighbouring Countries in Hungary

#### Attila Melegh and Attila Papp Z.

Demographic Research Institute Budapest, Hungary and HAS Centre for Social Science, Hungarian Academy of Science, Hungary

- Eastern Europe and Hungary mainly established immigration links with their immediate neighbours (based on country of birth, more than 65% of all residents come from Romania, Slovakia, Serbia and Ukraine), while it only has less important links with other European or non-European countries. In this regard, Hungary has a well-developed institutional system that supports co-ethnic groups, which leads to very high levels of naturalisation among them.
- Nonetheless, it can be demonstrated that their immigration can also be negatively seen by the receiving communities, as evidenced in interviews with immigrants, and their integration level can be associated with various factors like length of stay or level of education.
- Immigrants that arrive without the ability to speak Hungarian can have relatively high levels of integration into the labour market if they are in the country for a longer period of time and have a high level of education.
- Thus, immigrant groups with or, very interestingly, without a Hungarian background show relatively high levels of integration. Hungary faces little structural integration problems in this respect.

#### Introduction

Research on the integration of migrants in Hungary is often conducted on either one country of origin, one group of migrants (based on ethnicity, etc.) and/ or on one historical period. Consequently, we have little comparative knowledge on how the historically evolving migratory spaces have integrated various groups. Moreover, we lack proper and systematic comparisons in the above aspects to test and to see what integration mechanisms exist for various groups in the same migratory space and to check whether ethnically-, linguistically- and historically-linked immigrant groups follow much faster and successful integration trajectories compared to the more "distant" groups.

Therefore, the analysis of the integration of historically- and ethnically-related groups is very complex. There are various mechanisms leading to integration problems and exclusion (Lucassen et al. 2006; Kovács & Melegh 2007). Ethnic or cultural identity can, on the one hand, be denied by the host communities. On the other hand, migrant groups may also face numerous challenges in becoming integrated in the labour market because educational records are not acknowledged, they are discriminated against, there is a mismatch between skills they have and what the labour market demands, or they form a diaspora identity and become isolated from the host society even in the varying institutional contexts (Brubaker 1998, Gödri 2010, Joppke 2005, Feinschmidt & Zakariás 2010).

In terms of historical migratory links, Hungary shares a lot of similarities with other East European countries, but, simultaneously, it also represents a special case. Hungary is not an extreme case of a country in need of human and labour resources, but it increasingly faces demographic challenges. This includes a possible loss of more than 2 million people, out of a total population of 10 million, if current migration and fertility trends are maintained (Földházi et al. 2014). Partially as a reaction, the country has developed a rather sophisticated system of preferential treatment for people with historical and ethnic ties. Since 2011, this has included granting Hungarian citizenship to applicants (even those living outside the country) with Hungarian or non-Hungarian ancestors who lived in the historical territory of the Hungarian Kingdom (which was divided up after the First World War). Thus many of these "new citizens" can enter the country as Hungarian citizens.

What do we know about the structural integration (access to labour market, level of education and access to citizenship) of the migrants with Hungarian background? In this contribution, this question will be examined by analysing integration in the context of the legal and institutional systems, as well as with regard to the discursive environment. This will first show how the public perceives the different incoming groups and what expectations they have. Second, it will illustrate whether ethnically-closed groups are able to use this advantage during the process of integration.

# Migratory links in Eastern Europe and Hungary

Eastern European countries (all countries of the former Eastern Bloc, excluding Russia and ex-Soviet Union Republics beyond the Black Sea) are mainly sending areas, while immigration is mostly characterised by migrants with historical and ethnic ties from neighbouring countries. This immigrant stock, nonetheless, is considerably smaller than the emigrant numbers in the region. In 2015, according to UN statistics (United Nations 2015), based on country of birth, there were slightly more than 10 million immigrants (those living in countries different from the country of birth), as opposed to 25 million emigrants from the region. The importance of intraregional immigrants is not only relevant in terms of numbers.<sup>1</sup> It is symbolically relevant in public discourses as they represent links to territories "lost" during historical changes to borders during the 20<sup>th</sup> century.

Despite these discrepancies, according to the Eurobarometer survey (European Commission 2016), the majority of respondents in the region have a negative perception of migration. When asked about what the most important issue is facing Europe, East European countries are among the ones where respondents are the most worried about migration and terrorism. In a 2016 survey conducted in Hungary and Romania, 63% of the respondents in Hungary agreed that the number of immigrants should be reduced – and in more than 50% of the cases, respondents agreed that it should be reduced substantially.<sup>2</sup>

## Institutional and discursive environment

When looking at the different levels of integration, it is also important to look at the institutional environment and discursive frameworks (the patterns in which migration is discussed in various forms of media or in the public opinion) as they provide the immediate social context of immigration.

Hungarian migration and population policy can be understood as a hierarchical and selective system based on an idea of demographic nationalism (Melegh 2016). This means a combination of selective migration regulations, state-sponsored pronatalism and the overall policy aim of promoting "Hungarian resources" in population development, and the "survival" and the "rise" of a small nation in the context of global competition. The most preferred immigrant group is the one with Hungarian origin, born mainly in neighbouring countries (e.g. in Romania, Serbia, Slovakia or Ukraine), but linked to the historic territories of the Hungarian Kingdom (Melegh 2016). This, however, does not satisfy Joppke's distinction between settler, colonial or diaspora type of ethnic migration generally used in the case of "ethnic migration", since it is the result of historical border changes and not migration as such (Joppke 2005). This institutionally supported group is seen as the closest group, the one most preferred by the local population in addition to being seen as a resource in the competition.

Beyond the ethnic-historical, nation-building process using citizenship linkages, the country institutionally supports the free movement of people within the EU and fully respects the Schengen agreement. As compared to the previous groups (ethnically- and historically-linked Hungarians and European Economic Area (EEA) citizens), for the last two decades, Hungary has followed a much harder and non-supportive policy toward Third Country Nationals (TCNs, non-EEA) of non-Hungarian origin in terms of naturalisation and any form of institutional help.

In the previous 10-15 years, various public discourses could be identified concerning migration issues based on the complex analysis of press materials, legal texts and public statements (Melegh 2016, Hegyesi & Melegh 2003). First, there is a dominant nationalist discourse, highlighting the importance of the symbolic "reunification" of the nation across borders, building the Hungarian nation and the connection between all Hungarians even across borders in order to avoid treating them as "migrants". There is also a liberal discourse formulated around following an imagined humanitarian "West" in fighting against the "racism" of the majority, against discrimination and for equality, the extension of human rights, multiple identities and the use of migrant labour. The third major type of discourse focuses on social exclusion in order to defend jobs and social security, and pension opportunities of the "inborn" people as opposed to incoming groups (even Hungarians coming from neighbouring countries). The fourth type of discourse is securitisation, which has similarities with the discourse focusing on social exclusion, but here the emphasis is on national or "European" security threatened by illegal migrants.



Figure 1: Structure of Prejudices toward Ethnic Groups (Multidimensional Scaling).

Source: The acceptance and support of national integration. Research report. Minority Studies Institute of the Social Science Centre at the Hungarian Academy of Science (Manuscript 2017). These observed discourses, in almost all elements, point towards the exclusion of "distant" groups. Even historically- and ethnically-tied groups can be seen as risks for the local population in certain discourses (Feischmidt & Zakariás 2010). However, they are also targeted by strong positive discourses of cross-border nation-building. According to questions measuring social distance in a survey carried out in 2016 by the Minority Studies Institute of the Social Science Centre at the Hungarian Academy of Science, the Hungarian public views different Hungarian groups from neighbouring countries (Romania, Serbia, Slovakia and Ukraine) as very close to "Hungarians" (from Hungary) (see Figure 1).<sup>3</sup> Meanwhile, based on answers in the same survey, migrant groups and refugees were seen as being distant from any kind of ethnic Hungarian groups.

#### Indicators of integration

The institutional and discursive framework positively discriminates in favour of historically- and ethnically-close groups. Is this advantage reflected in the successful integration of these groups? To answer this question, we will focus on some key indicators like employment, education and citizenship (Asselin, Dureau, Fonseca, et al. 2006).

We carry out this analysis on immigrants from neighbouring countries (more than 65% of all residents born outside the country) and immigrants from China and Vietnam, as they are the largest group of immigrants from outside Europe. Here we analyse separately individuals with Hungarian language competences (proxy for ethnically- and historically-linked groups) and those without such competences, and according to the date of arrival.

In 2016, among the foreign-born population between the age of 25-64, almost two-thirds only spoke Hungarian, which shows that Hungary has mainly attracted immigrants who already had knowledge of the Hungarian language.<sup>4</sup> In the case of immigrants coming from neighbouring countries (Romania, Serbia, Slovakia and Ukraine), this was more than three-quarters. This shows that a large proportion of immigrants have great advantages since language is not a barrier for them. Thus, their integration was not hindered by the use of "poor" Hungarian or no Hungarian at all.

#### Citizenship

The knowledge of Hungarian and the institutionally provided advantages clearly appear in another aspect of integration, namely naturalisation. As mentioned above, since 2011, for the immigrants ethnically- and historically-linked to Hungary (living and not living in Hungary), the access to Hungarian citizenship is very easy and they receive plenty of institutional support, even in the bureaucratic process itself.<sup>5</sup> Other immigrant groups residing in Hungary face much harder conditions when trying to become naturalised. In interviews with such individuals, they complain about administrative difficulties even after residing and working in Hungary for a long period of time. Previously, this complaint was just the other way around: Immigrants ethnically- and historically-linked to Hungary had a more difficult time (Melegh 2011). This institutional support is evident in the fact that in 2016, among residing people born in Romania, Serbia and Ukraine, more than 85% had Hungarian citizenship, which could also be dual citizenship.6

The only exception where high rates of naturalisation are not observed is Slovakia. This is likely because the Slovakian government is very restrictive about dual citizenship. In the case of more "distant" groups outside Europe, this ratio is below 40-45%. In the case of those coming from Asia, it is below 15%.<sup>7</sup> This suggests that the integration process was slowed down due to administrative obstacles in Hungary, the choice of migrants and the influence of sending communities (by not allowing dual citizenship for instance).

#### **Employment levels**

In 2016, on average, working-age immigrants (between the age of 15 and 64) coming from major migration sending countries showed higher levels of employment than the population born in Hungary, with the exception of those coming from Ukraine, which had a somewhat smaller level of employment.<sup>8</sup> Thus, we can argue that residing immigrants from the selected countries represented "gains" in terms of employment if a utilitarian approach is used.

Figure 2 describes immigrants based on employment characteristics, date of arrival, language and country of origin. It shows that employment figures change depending on the date of arrival and one's knowledge of the Hungarian language. Those living in Hungary for less than ten years with no knowledge of the Hungarian language show lower levels of employment compared to those who remained for a longer period of time.<sup>9</sup>



Figure 2: The ratio of employed among people of 15-64 by language use, country of birth and the time of arrival, Microcensus, 2016.

\*In the case of Hungary, the first column refers to people with Hungarian as their mother tongue, the second column to people with a non-Hungarian language as their mother tongue.

Source: Own calculation with data from Microcensus 2016.

Employment rates do differ by country of birth within the same geographic region of origin (as seen in Figure 2). Individuals coming from Ukraine show very different patterns compared to those from Slovakia, where non-Hungarians have relatively high levels of employment even within the first ten years of residence. In comparison, individuals born in China differ from those born in Vietnam: Vietnamese immigrants without Hungarian language skills are much better employed after ten years of residence than those coming from China. The ratio of self-employed (economic activity carried out individually without establishing entrepreneurship) among the employed individuals also matters and is country specific, for instance for people born in Vietnam and China (Hárs 2013, Várhalmi 2017). Therefore, country-specific factors matter for the chances of being employed.

#### **Education levels**

In terms of education level, non-Hungarian speakers have, on average, higher levels of education in comparison to those who speak the language: Almost 50% of those not speaking Hungarian had higher education levels compared to 30% of those speaking Hungarian (Figure 3).





This "advantage" of non-Hungarians (almost 50% had higher education as opposed to foreign-born Hungarians with around 30%) varies according to countries of origin (Figure 4). The "advantage", however, disappears if we observe the people who arrived more than 10 years before (in the case of the migratory link between Serbia and Hungary for instance, where the relevant ratio is a little bit above 20%).

If we link the observations that are based on educational level to language and date of arrival, and even employment (Figure 2 and Figure 4), then we can see that, overall, those individuals with a lower level of education that arrived more than ten years ago have higher levels of employment, particularly non-Hungarian speakers. Those not speaking Hungarian who have not resided in Hungary for more than ten years show an opposite pattern, namely that they have relatively high levels of education, but lower levels of employment. This might indicate that integration can be uneven among the ones not speaking the local language and that "closeness" makes integration more secure in all relevant aspects.

Nonetheless, this statistical picture can be due to various factors. Either this is a question of historical change in the migratory patterns (the social composition changes and less qualified individuals migrate as Hungary becomes less attractive<sup>10</sup>). Or it can be explained by the fact that only those remain in the country who are willing to give up the opportunities and benefits from having a high level of education

and settle for jobs they are overqualified for, and thus a selection process continues. It could also be that the stock of recent immigrants contains a large number of students who eventually leave Hungary when higher education degrees are completed. Or it can be the combination of various mechanisms. In any case, further analysis is necessary.



Figure 4: Language, arrival date and educational level among those over 25, by country of birth, Hungary, 2016. \*In the case of Hungary, the first column refers to people with Hungarian as their mother tongue, the second column to people with a non-Hungarian language as their morher tongue.

Source: Own calculation with data from Microcensus 2016.

By using logistic regression models, which show causal mechanisms, we demonstrated that the odds of being integrated into the labour force (to be employed) is positively affected by educational level, the status of being foreign-born and one's knowledge of the Hungarian language. Moreover, by keeping education level, Hungarian knowledge, period of stay in Hungary under statistical control, the foreign-born population in general, but especially from China, Romania and Vietnam, have much higher odds of being integrated into the labour force. Of course, there exist various integration mechanisms; however, the logistic regression model demonstrates that the integration of migrant groups in Hungary has no obstacles in terms of the labour force, regardless of cultural closeness (Gödri 2017).

#### Conclusion

Partially as a "self-fulfilling prophecy", closeness and institutional support provide higher levels of integration in some institutional aspects, like access to citizenship, but it does not mean that other groups do not or cannot achieve high levels of integration. There is no overall rule that "closeness" makes integration easier and more balanced in the crude social indicators of integration. It seems that a longer length of stay in the country can go together with relatively high employment levels among non-Hungarian speakers, while such high levels cannot be observed among those staying only for a shorter period of time.

The opposite can be observed in terms of educational levels. This can be due to the fact that those staying less than ten years are young people who study or have just finished their studies (therefore, they are also not employed at high levels). The ones who stay longer are the ones with a lower education. If this is the case, then Hungary loses certain potential. But surely this can also be due to other factors like historical changes (what varying "demand" for incoming people appears in certain periods of social development, like the need for unskilled labour). Or there can be change regarding how and why Hungary is chosen. For example, mainly students from Vietnam first came in the 1980s and 1990s and then later, the immigrants became employees of entrepreneurs coming from China (Várhalmi 2017). It is clear that historical links with certain countries and groups have their own history and that country-specific factors also play a role.

Overall, when thinking about the integration of migrants "close" to Hungary, we have to do a complex analysis that takes into account historical structural factors and the several aspects of integration, which include such subtle factors like the rivalry and exclusion toward ethnically-linked groups in various contexts (Feischmidt 2004). This explains, even in the integration of "identical" people, that there is a need to have such policy and opportunity structures which allow them to find links to the host society.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> According to the 2016 Microcensus in Hungary, the foreign-born population of 15-64-year-olds consisted of 272,525 people. Among them, 43.5% were born in Romania, 6.4% in Serbia, 6.6% in Slovakia and 9.3% in Ukraine.

<sup>2</sup> This research was conducted by the Romanian Institute for Research on National Minorities and Migration Research Institute in 2016 (unpublished research report compiled by RIRNM). Hungary and Eastern Europe have always responded more negatively than Western Europe in various comparative survey analysis. For similar tendencies in 2002, see Avramov (2008).

<sup>3</sup> The question and the scale used in the survey was: To what measure do you like or dislike the members of the following social groups? (Scale: 1 – I don't like at all ... 5 – I like absolutely). The research did not differentiate among certain migrants groups; only generally formulated terms for different items were used for "refugees" and "migrants".

<sup>4, 6, 7</sup> Own calculation with data from Microcensus 2016.

<sup>5</sup> On the impact of dual citizenship on ethnic Hungarians' minority identity and the role of the Hungarian state in offering Hungarian citizenship, see Papp (2017).

<sup>8</sup> This is a historical tendency as similar patterns could be observed in 2011 when those were analysed who came between 2001 and 2011. See Melegh and Sárosi (2015).

<sup>9</sup> Gödri (2017) observed similar mechanisms in the 2011 census (namely that citizenship, time of arrival and knowledge of Hungarian language has a positive impact on labour market status based on a multivariate regression analysis) and even drew attention to gender aspects, namely that the above mechanisms are less obvious in the case of men.

<sup>10</sup> Gödri and Kiss (2009) observed that Hungary remained attractive only for lower class Hungarians in Romania.

#### References

Asselin, O., Dureau, F., Fonseca, L., et al. (2006). Social Integration of Immigrants with Special Reference to the Local and Spatial Dimension. In R. Penninx, M. Berger & K. Kraal (Eds.): *The Dynamics of International Migration and Settlement in Europe. A State of the Art. IMISCOE JOINT STUDIES* (pp. 139-139). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.

Avramov, D. (Ed.) (2008). Acceptance of immigrants in Europe? Viewpoints about immigration and expectations towards foreigners in the Czech Republic, Germany, Estonia, Hungary, Austria, Poland, Slovenia and Finland. Berlin: Pro Business.

Brubaker, R. (1998). Migrations of Ethnic Unmixing in the New Europe. *International Migration Review 32*(4): 1047-1066.

European Commission (2016). Eurobarometer. July 2016.

52

Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/COMMFrontOffice/publicopinion/index.cfm/Survey/getSurveyDetail/instruments/ STANDARD/surveyKy/2130.

Feischmidt, M. (2004). A határ és a román stigma [The Border and the Romanian Stigma]. In N. Kovács, A. Osvát & L. Szarka (Eds.), *Tér és terep : Tanulmányok az etnicitás és az identitás kérdésköréből [Space and fields, Studies in ethnicity and identity]* (pp. 43-58). Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó.

Feischmidt, M. & Zakariás, I. (2010). Migráció és etnicitás: A mobilitás formái és politikái nemzeti és transznacionális térben [Migration and Ethnicitiy: The Forms and Politics of Mobility in National and Transnational Space]. In M. Feischmidt (Ed.), *Etnicitás: Különbségteremtő társadalom.* [*Ethnicity: Difference Making Society*] (pp.152-169). Budapest: Gondolat.

Földházi, E., Bleha, B., Šprocha, B. & Vaňo, B. (2014): Population Projections for Hungary and Slovakia at National, Regional and Local Levels. Population Projections Developed Within the Project "Seemig Managing Migration and Its Effects – Transnational Actions Towards Evidence Based Strategies". Retrieved from http://www.seemig.eu/downloads/outputs/SEEMIGPopulationProjectionsHUSK.pdf. Accessed: 28-12-2016.

Gödri, I. & Kiss, T. (2009). Migrációs hajlandóság, tervek és attitűdök az erdélyi magyarok körében [Migration Potential, Plans and Attitudes Among Hungarians in Transylvania]. In: Z. Spéder (Ed.): *Párhuzamok. Anyaországi és erdélyi magyarok a századfordulón [Parallels Between Mother Country and the Hungarians in Transylvania at the Turn of the Century]* (pp. 183–215). KSH NKI Kutatási Jelentések 86. Budapest: KSH Népességtudományi Kutatóintézet.

Gödri, I. (2017). Az integráció mutatói és esélykülönbségei a Magyarországon élő bevándorlók körében [The Indicators of Integration and Differences in Odds Ratios Among Immigrant Groups]. *Demográfia 60*(1): 5-55.

Hárs, Á. (2013). Harmadik országbeli migránsok munkaerőpiaci helyzete [The Labor Market Status of Third Country Nationals]. In Kováts, A. (Ed.), *Bevándorlás és integráció [Immigration and Integration]*. MTA TK, Kisebbségkutató Intézet, Budapest: 42.

Hegyesi, A. & Melegh, A. (2003). Immár nem mi vagyunk a szegény rokon a nemzetközi világban. A státustörvény és az Orbán-Nastase-egyezmény vitájának sajtóbeli reprezentációja és diksurzív rendje. [We are no longer the world's poor relative. The media representation and the discursive order of the status law and the Orbán-Nastase pact]. In S. Sárközy

& N. Schleicher (Eds.), *Kampánykommunikáció [Campaign communication]* (pp.135-171). Budapest: Akadémiai.

Joppke, C. (2005). *Selecting by Origin: Ethnic Migration in the Liberal State*. Cambridge MA: Harvard University Press.

Kovács, É. & Melegh, A. (2007). In a Gendered Space. Forms and Reasons of Migration and the Integration of Female Migrants. *Demográfia 50*(5), English Edition: 26–59.

Lucassen, L., Feldman, D., & Oltmer, J. (Eds.). (2006). *Paths* of Integration. Migrants in Western Europe (1880-2004). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.

Melegh, A. (2011). Tettem valamit az asztalra [I Have Put Something on the Table]. In: A. Kováts (Ed.), *Magyarrá válni: bevándorlók honosítási és integrációs stratégiái [Becoming Hungarian: Naturalisation and Integration Strategies of Immigrants]* (pp. 199-242). Budapest: MTA Etnikai-nemzeti Kisebbségkutató Intézet.

Melegh, A. & Sárosi, A. (2015): Magyarország bekapcsolódása a migrációs folyamatokba: történeti-strukturális megközelítés [The Integration of Hungary into Migratory Processes: A Historical-Structural Approach]. *Demográfia 58*(4): 223–267.

Melegh, A. (2016). Unequal Exchanges and the Radicalization of Demographic Nationalism in Hungary Intersections. *EEJSP 2*(4): 87-108.

Microcensus (2016). Retrieved from http://www.ksh.hu/ mikrocenzus2016/

Papp Z., A. (2017). Trickster Logics in the Hungarian Dual-Citizenship Offer. *Nationalism and Ethnic Politics 23*(1): 18-32.

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2015): *Trends in International Migrant Stock: Migrants by Destination and Origin*. United Nations database, POP/DB/ MIG/Stock/Rev.2015.

Várhalmi, Z. (2017): Migráns gazdasági klaszterek működésének jellemzői [The Characteristics of Migrants Economic Clusters]. Eötvös Lóránd University, Budapest, Dissertation defended on March 30, 2017.

# **The End of Fraternity?**

# Twenty-Seven Years After the Collapse of the Soviet Union – Xenophobia in Russia

#### **Paul Becker**

Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany

- Police statistics show an increasing proportion of registered committed crimes against foreigners and stateless persons in Russia.
- However, since the successful election of the ruling party's candidate, Sergey Sobyanin, and the increasing importance of neighbourhood policies (e.g. Eurasian Economic Union (EEU)) for Russia, the strong, articulated, official Russian nationalism lost its significance.
- Strengthening of patriotism and the efforts by the national government to rally the support of the Russian population and to set the agenda is based no longer on the fight against "illegal migration", but to a large extent is based on the external "enemy" images and the "encirclement" of the country by NATO.
- Some data suggest, that among others, the use of anti-extremism laws has enabled Russian state authorities to fight the racially motivated attacks and hate crimes. However, there is a lack of reliable official statistics and (representative) scientific studies, calling for a further clarification and improvement of the data situation.
- Several authors argue that the life of migrants seems to be characterised by frequent cases of discrimination, their vulnerability to extortion by the state authorities and their obligation to make bribery payments.

#### Introduction

According to the United Nations (UN) International Migration Report 2015, the number of international migrants worldwide has continued to grow rapidly over the past 15 years, reaching 244 million in 2015, which is up from 222 million in 2010, 191 million in 2005 and 173 million in 2000 (United Nations 2015). Since 2000, Russia hosts 12 million international migrants permanently and ranks 3rd, after the USA and Germany, in the international statistics on total stock of international immigrants.

After the collapse of the Soviet Union and the establishment of 15 new independent states, Russia has become a centre of migration from the peripheral regions of the former Soviet Union (Mukomel 2005:13). The increased immigration to Russia in the 1990s was characterised by the inflows of mostly ethnic Russians and Russian-speakers from the new independent states of the former Soviet Union. Since the beginning of the new millennium, Russia has experienced a decrease in immigration of Russians and Russian-speakers, but an increase in the immigration of migrants with only basic or no command of Russian. Poletayev (2014: 8) identified a growing cultural distance in the religious and linguistic aspect of incoming migrants in Russia in the recent years compared to the 1990s.

According to the 2010 census data, more than 195 different ethnicities were living in Russia – 67 more in Russia compared to the last Soviet census data from 1989.<sup>1</sup>

"Fraternity of people" - a concept of a natural broth-

erhood of all workers, which would make the idea of separate nations obsolete – was a designated goal of the Soviet government. Lurye (2011) states that at the very basis of the Soviet concept of "fraternity of people", there was an ideology of internationalism: "As a result, the Soviet people had to represent an ideal of internationalism, that is, not to form a single nation, but to remain a formation of nations" (Lurye 2011: 148). Yet already ten years after the collapse of the Soviet Union, the media coverage on inter-ethnic relations in Russia was dominated by xenophobic headlines.<sup>2</sup>

Thus, the questions posed in this contribution are how xenophobia and discrimination have developed over the recent years, and how internal policies and the paradigm changes of foreign policy impact public opinion on migrants and the level of discrimination and racially motivated attacks on migrants in Russia. This article, via a review of existing survey data, statistics and anti-extremism legislation, will outline the situation in the country. It offers an insight on discrimination and xenophobia in Russia and on the action taken by the Russian government to fight xenophobia and discrimination against migrants.

This chapter is specifically tailored to the overarching thematic framework of inclusion and exclusion of migrant communities sharing similar cultural backgrounds with their host societies. In the elaboration of this contribution, the author took into consideration that Russia is a multi-ethnic country, with at least 200 different nationalities having been counted in the last census in 2010, and that there are data problems regarding the experience of xenophobia by internal migrants in Russia (e.g. from the north Caucasus region). The author acknowledges that this topic is of vast scientific importance and deserves to be expanded upon in standalone articles and studies. Due to the emphasis on the experiences of international migrants, it was not possible to also include the perspective of the internal migrants in the present chapter.

# Immigration to Russia after the collapse of the former Soviet Union

In the past two decades, the yearly total net migration (difference between the number of immigrants and emigrants) to Russia has been consistently positive. Most of the migrants arriving to Russia were from the new successor states of the former Soviet Union. Up until 2006, the migration flows from the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) have undoubtedly overcompensated for the otherwise overall negative net migration rate of Russia (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Total net migration to Russia and net migration from the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS). Source: Author's own calculations based on the data from the Russian statistical office. See GKS (n.d.) (a, b).

The first years after the break-up of the former Soviet Union were marked in Russia by a major influx of international migrants from the former Soviet Republics, followed by a period where migration levelled off from 2001-2006 and again began to increase in 2007. However, the rising numbers of international net migration since 2007 have not reached the same levels of the 1990s. Simultaneously, the ethnic composition of migration flows from the CIS have undergone a substantial transformation (Figure 2).

Until 2004, the ethnic composition of migrants from the CIS was characterised by Russians and Russian speakers, especially from Kazakhstan. From 2005 onwards, the ethnic composition diversified due to the arrival of migrants from Central Asia and the South Caucasus, with basic, or in many cases, no command of Russian. Until 2014, migrants from Uzbekistan were the major group of immigrants arriving to Russia. The start of the Ukrainian crisis in 2014 was a clear push factor for many Ukrainians to leave the country and move to Russia. The changes in procedure and the increased cost for obtaining labour permits led to a negative net migration rate with Uzbekistan in 2015, the first time since 1997.



Figure 2: Ethnic composition of net migration from the CIS to Russia.

Source: Author's own calculations based on the data from the Russian statistical office. See GKS (n.d.) (a).

## Racially motivated attacks: The role of state policies

According to official statistics from the Ministry of Internal Affairs, the overall positive net migration has been accompanied in Russia by an increase in the number of registered committed crimes against international migrants: From 0.4% of the total number of registered crimes in 2003 up to 0.7% in 2017 (Figure 3). Unfortunately, there is no publicly available itemisation on the kind of committed crimes against foreign citizens and stateless persons.

Official statistics of the Ministry of Internal Affairs offer no differentiation based on ethnicity and/or nationality of attacked persons. Therefore, it is very difficult to make any reliable statement about the question which groups are the most vulnerable. Furthermore, there is a clear limitation of the official crime statistics, which provide basically no statistics on the reality of crime, but statistics on the activities of the police forces. The incompleteness of the crime statistics is often caused by underreporting of known crimes, not recording all known crime, selective law enforcement, unwillingness of the public to report crime and changes in the law. The official statistics also do not provide a distinction between the type of committed crimes against foreign citizens and stateless persons. A closer examination of the proportion of committed crimes against foreign citizens and stateless persons given by the official statistics could create the feeling that they could be artificially predefined, since the numbers remained the same for several years.



Figure 3: Official statistics of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Russian Federation. Source: Ministry of the Internal Affairs of the Russian Federation (n.d.).

There is a clear lack of statistical data on racially motivated attacks in Russia. Founded in 2002, the Moscow-based, Russian non-profit organisation, SOVA Center for Information and Analysis, is a non-governmental organisation (NGO) conducting research, monitoring and collecting information on nationalism and racism on a daily basis. However, the source of information needs to be criticised: The Center depends mostly on reported crimes in the daily newspapers, which are ambiguously labelled as committed hate crimes. The organisation maintains a database of registered cases on murder and beatings of migrants and visible minorities. Notwithstanding, the data offers an insight in the development of racially motivated attacks and hate crime in Russia for the time period since 2007 - a year where the number of registered hate crimes and racially motivated attacks peaked (Figure 4 and also retraceable in Figure 3).



Figure 4: Minimum number of victims of hate crime and racially motivated attacks 2007-2017 and the number of imposed sentences. Source: SOVA Center (n.d.).

The number of registered homicides decreased from 103 in 2008 to one in 2017. Likewise, the number of registered beatings went from 354 in 2007 to 19 in 2017. The strong decrease in the registered number of beatings and homicides over the years shows a clear dependence on the number of sentences imposed by courts for hate crimes and racially motivated attacks (Figure 4). The annual yearbooks of the SOVA Center show that in the second half of 2008 and in 2009, the largest and most aggressive farright groups in the Moscow region were disbanded by law enforcement authorities, causing "the apparent reduction in the number of victims for the first time in six years" (SOVA 2009: 5), which continued to decrease in the following years. A legitimate and unanswered question that still remains is: Is the improvement in the numbers of registered, committed hate crimes due to the government's action or due to a underreporting of those crimes in the media?

#### The election of Moscow's mayor and the public's opinion on migrants

The slight increase in beatings and homicides in 2012-2013 (Figure 4) is possibly attributable to the election of Moscow's mayor in the summer of 2013 and the preceding election campaign, which was dominated by the topics of nationalism and "fighting of illegal immigration". Sergey Sobyanin was appoin-

ted Mayor by Dimitry Medvedev in 2010 after Yury Luzhkov's removal from office, who was not due to face election until 2015. Saikkonen (2015) highlights that "while his direct election would help to legitimize Sobyanin's position, there was also a strategic aspect of the timing. The scheduling of the important Moscow executive elections in 2015, only several months before the 2016 State Duma elections, could have risked opposition coalescence in one of the most important regions in the country." (Saikkonen 2015: 12-13)

Abashin (2014: 28 f.) addressed that all six candidates' campaigns focused on the threats and dangers of international migration and migrants in Russia, using in their debates images of Central Asian and Caucasian migrants. He also argued that the discussion about the social aspects of migration, even without the racist hints of the candidates themselves, created a wave of openly racist statements in the media and on the Internet, seemingly legitimated by a political discussion on migration (Abashin 2014: 29-30). Abashin highlighted that the elections became a catalyst for a growth of anti-migrant opinion. Since 2004, the Russian public opinion Levada-Center has conducted a series of representative surveys on attitudes towards migrants. The percentage of respondents who answered in the affirmative to the question of whether the residency of individuals from the following nations should be limited in Russia rose significantly during the election campaign of 2013 (Figure 5) and decreased in 2014 after the successful election of Sobyanin in September 2013.

Levada-Center analyst Pipiya (2016) argues that the significant decrease in the negative stance towards the foreigners and migrants from 2014 onwards is due to an absence of a strongly articulated, official, Russian nationalism as seen in the elections campaigns. Pipiya (2016) highlights further that the decrease in the negative stance towards foreigners and migrants is also due to a lack of a "grassroots nationalism, which has been taken under the strict control of anti-extremism legislation" and due to a minimisation of the transfer of xenophobic ideas into the masses and its "implantation" in public opinion by the media.

Another possible explanation could be the paradigm change of the Russian neighbourhood policy. Since the successful election of the ruling party's candidate Sobyanin and the increasing importance of the neighbourhood policies (e.g. Eurasian Economic Union

(EEU)) for Russia, the strongly articulated, official, Russian nationalism lost its significance. The negative headlines on xenophobia in Russia are counterproductive when it comes to expanding Russia's influence in the region and bond the former Soviet Republics - donors to the labour migration to Russia and beneficiaries of high remittances of migrants closely to itself. Besides the founding countries, the EEU consists of Russia, Kazakhstan, Belarus, and now Armenia (on 2 January 2015) and Kyrgyzstan (on 6 August 2015). In the case of the Ukraine, the pro-Russian President Viktor Yanukovych decided to abandon an association agreement with the European Union and pursue exclusive integration with the EEU. This was the key factor, which led to the Euromaidan protests, followed by the outbreak of the Crimean Crisis and imposition of sanctions on Russia. Thus, strengthening of patriotism and the efforts by the government to rally the support of the population and set the agenda is based no longer on the fight against the "illegal migration", but on the external enemy images and the encirclement of the country by NATO.



Figure 5: Percentages of positive responses to the question "What do you think, shall the residency of individuals from the following nations be limited in Russia?" Source: Levada-Center (n.d.).

 Discrimination of migrants on an everyday basis and the need for further development of antidiscrimination legislation

The legal basis for the state's action against hate crimes and racially motivated attacks is provided by the Constitution, Criminal Code and the Administrative Offences Code. Article 19.2 of the Russian constitution guarantees equal rights and freedom to all individuals, regardless of sex, race, nationality, language, origin, property and official status, place of residence, religion, convictions, membership to public associations, and other circumstances. All forms of limitations on human rights on social, racial, national, linguistic or religious grounds shall be banned. The Criminal Code and the Administrative Offences Code of the Russian Federation contain several anti-extremism articles which partly foresee very high sentences.<sup>3</sup> Stringent implementation of these legal sources allow the Russian authorities to have an impact on the level of attacks and racial hate crimes, and the paradigm shift in the Russian neighbourhood policies is an incentive for this. The everyday life of migrants, though, still seems to be characterised by discrimination. Several authors highlighted the situations of discrimination and exploitation migrants face on the labour and housing markets, and their vulnerability for extortion by the state authorities and their obligation of bribery payments for gaining access to necessary labour and residence permits (Chupik 2014; Deminzeva et al. 2014; Lokshin et al 2013; Reeves 2013; Solovyeva et al. 2011; Bezborodova et al. 2011).

By adoption of several laws on 1 January 2015, the regulation on labour activity have been simplified for migrants from the countries of the former Soviet Union, which enjoy a visa-free entrance regime with Russia. The quota mechanism for limited labour allowances and the labour patent system have been consolidated to just a labour patent system, which, contrary to the former procedure, can now be directly purchased by every migrant and allow them to work for every employer. The adoption of these laws could be considered as an endeavour by the Russian government to take control of corruption and informal trading with allowances. However, the field of anti-discrimination legislation in Russia is relatively underdeveloped (EITC). Thus, in 2003, article 136 of the Criminal Code of the Russian Federation introduced the definition of discrimination.<sup>4</sup> Yet, this legislation needs further elaboration and development,

since the article, for example, does not explain the distinction between direct and indirect discrimination. The first step in this direction was the signing of the federal law 162 on 2 July 2013, which banned the inclusion of discriminatory requirements in job advertisements. Federal law 162 forbids employers to indicate any restrictions on sex, age, attitude to religion, place of residence, marital status and nationality in their vacancies. And the further development of Russian anti-discrimination legislation could be based on the valuable experience of and in cooperation with its' European neighbouring countries. The lack of new data makes it difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of this policy and calls for a further investigation of this topic.

#### Conclusions

As shown in this contribution, several political decisions and a stringent implementation of the available legal basis in Russia seem to have positively impacted the decrease of racially motivated attacks and hate crimes against migrants in Russia. However, lack of reliable official statistics and (representative) scientific studies calls for a further clarification and improvement of the data situation in the field in order to validate this probable improvement for migrants in their everyday life in Russia. Furthermore, several authors argue that the life of migrants is still characterised by frequent cases of discrimination, vulnerability to extortion by state authorities and their obligation to make bribery payments for gaining access to necessary labour allowances and residence permits. Simplification of the regulation on labour activity of migrants in Russia on 1 January 2015 is a significant step towards the containment of corruption and increasing the predictability of life for migrants from the successor States of the former Soviet Union in Russia. However, the anti-discrimination legislation in Russia is at a very early stage and needs further elaboration.

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> See All-Russian census data 2010: Ethnic composition of population of the Russian Federation (http://www.demo-scope.ru/weekly/ssp/rus\_nac\_10.php); All-Union population census 1989: Ethnic composition of population of the RSFSR (http://www.demoscope.ru/weekly/ssp/rus\_nac\_89.php).

<sup>2</sup> For example, The New Yorker: "Race Riots in Russia" (https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/race-riots-inrussia); Radio Free Europe: Russia: "Racism 'Out Of Control,' Says Amnesty" (https://www.rferl.org/a/1068160.html); Radio Free Europe: "Central Asia: Labor Migrants Face Abuse, Xenophobia" (https://www.rferl.org/a/1078995.html); Los Angeles Times: "White Supremacist Gathering Underscores Russia's Nationalist Trend" (http://www.latimes. com/world/europe/la-fg-russia-neonazi-20150822-story. html); Public Radio International: "Russia's Xenophobia Problem" (https://www.pri.org/stories/2012-04-29/russias-xenophobia-problem); Time: "Russia Responds to Anti-Migrant Riots by Arresting Migrants" (http://world.time. com/2013/10/14/russia-responds-to-anti-migrant-riots-byarresting-migrants/); Financial Times: "Russia: Nationalism on the March" (https://www.ft.com/content/63b7857e-42dc-11e3-8350-00144feabdc0).

<sup>3</sup> For example, chapter 19 of the the Criminal Code of the Russian Federation: Crimes Against the Constitutional Rights and Freedoms of Man and Citizen; chapter 29 of the Criminal Code of the Russian Federation: Crimes Against the Fundamentals of the Constitutional System and State Security; article 20.3 of the Russian Federation Administrative Offence Code: Displaying Fascist Attributes and Symbols.

<sup>4</sup> Discrimination, that is, violation of the rights, freedoms and legitimate interests of man and citizen based on gender, race, nationality, language, origin, property or official status, place or residence, attitude to religion, convictions, or affiliation with public associations or any social groups, made by a person through the use of the official position thereof shall be punishable with a fine in the amount of 100 thousand to 300 thousand roubles, or in the amount of a wage/salary or any other income of the convicted person for a period of one year to two years, or by deprivation of the right to hold specified offices or engage in specified activities for a term of up to five years, or by obligatory labour for a term of up to four hundred and eighty hours, or by corrective labour for a term of up to two years, or by deprivation of liberty for the same term.

#### References

Abashin, S. (2014). "Goryacheye leto 2013": Vybory I migraciya ["Hot Summer of 2013". Elections and Migration]. In V. Mukomel (Ed.), *Migranty, migrantofobii I migracionnaya politika [Migrants, Phobias of Migrants and Migration Policy]* (pp. 20-30). Moscow: Academia.

Bezborodova, T. et al. (2011). Diskriminaziya migrantov v social´no- trudovoy sfere: prichiny I puti preodoleniya

[Discrimination of Migrants in the Social Labour Sphere: Reasons and the Ways to Overcome]. Vestnik Omskogo universiteta, Seriya "Ekonomika", 1, 81-89.

Chupik, V. (2014). Diskriminaciya migrantov v Rossii [Discrimination of migrants in Russia]. In V. Mukomel (Ed.), *Migranty, migrantofobii I migracionnaya politika [Migrants, Phobias of Migrants and Migration Policy]* (pp. 111-138). Moscow: Academia.

Deminzeva, E. et al. (2014). Migranty iz Sredney Asii v Moskve [Migrants from Central Asia in Moscow]. Demoscope Weekly, (597-598), 1-32.

Demoscope Weekly (2018). All-Russian census data 2010: Ethnic composition of population of the Russian Federation. Demoscope Weekly. Retrieved from http://www.demoscope.ru/weekly/ssp/rus\_nac\_10.php.

Demoscope Weekly (2018). All-Union population census 1989: Ethnic composition of population of the RSFSR. Demoscope Weekly. Retrieved from http://www.demoscope.ru/weekly/ssp/rus\_nac\_89.php.

Civic Nation. Россия- Антидискриминационное законодательство [Russian Anti-Discrimination Legislation]. Retrieved from https://www.ru.civic-nation.org/ rossiya/vlast/zakonodatelstvo/antidiskriminatsionnoe\_zakonodatelstvo/.

GKS (n.d.) (a). Mezhdunarodnaya migraciya [International Migration]. Retrieved from http://www.gks.ru/wps/wcm/ connect/rosstat\_main/rosstat/ru/statistics/population/ demography/#.

GKS (n.d.) (b). Nacional 'nyy sostav migrantov. Migraciya mezhdu Rossiyskoy Federaciey i stranami SNG i Baltii [Ethnic composition of migrants. Migration flows between the Russian Federation and the countries of the Commonwealth of Independent States and Baltic states]. Retrieved from http://www.gks.ru/bgd/regl/B02\_16/IssWWW.exe/Stg/ d010/i010690r.htm.

Levada-Center (n.d.). Ksenofobiya v 2017 godu [Xenophoby in 2017]. Retrieved from https://www.levada. ru/2017/08/23/16486/.

Lokshin, M. & Chernina, E. (2013): Migranty na rossiyskom rynke truda: portret I zarabotnaya plata, [Migrants on the Russian Labour Market: Profiles and Wages]. *Higher School of Economics Economic Journal*, *17*(1), 44-80.

proyekt ili primer spontannoy mezhetnicheskoy samoorganisacii? ["Fraternity of People" in the USSR: National Project or an Example of a Spontaneous Interethnic Self-Organisation?]. *Obshhestvennye nauki I sovremennost, (4),* 145-156.

Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Russian Federation (n.d.). Sostoyanie prestupnosti [Crime situation]. Retrieved from https://мвд.pф/reports/.

Mukomel, V. (2005). *Migracionnaya politika Rossii: Postsovetskiye konteksty.* [*Russian Migration Policy: Postsoviet Contextes*]. Moscow: Institut sociologii RAN.

Pipiya, K. (2016): Intolerantnost'I ksenofobiya, [Intolerance and Xenophobia]. Levada-Center. Retrieved from https://www.levada.ru/2016/10/11/intolerantnost-i-ksenofobiya/

Poletayev, D. (2004). Migrantofobiya i migracionnaya politika [Phobias of Migrants and Migration Policy]. In V. Mukomel (Ed.), *Migranty, migrantofobii I migracionnaya politika* [*Migrants, Phobias of Migrants and Migration Policy*] (pp. 5-19). Moscow: Academia.

Reeves, M. (2013). Clean Fake: Authenticating Documents and Persons in Migrant Moscow. *American Ethnologist*, *40*(3), 508-524.

Saikkonen, I. (2015). Russian Federalism, Regional Elections and Party System Change. In Europa Publications (Eds.), *The Territories of the Russian Federation 2016* (pp. 3-16). Routledge: London and New York.

Solovyeva, N. et al. (2011). Trudovye migranty v Rossii: usloviya zhisni I truda, [Labour Migrants in Russia: Living and Labour Conditions]. *Rossiyskoye predprinematel* 'stvo, 12(1), 62-65.

SOVA Center (n.d.). Database: Acts of Violence (2018). Retrieved from http://www.sova-center.ru/en/database/ violence/?tip1=301&xfield=phenotype&yfield=y&victims=Min&show=1.

United Nations (2016). International Migration Report 2015. Department of Economic and Social Affairs: New York. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/ population/migration/publications/migrationreport/docs/MigrationReport2015\_Highlights.pdf.

Lurye, S. (2011). "Druzhba narodov" v SSSR: nacional`nyy

# **Refugees in India after 1947**

#### **Deepra Dandekar**

Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Germany

#### Introduction

This contribution discusses the partition of India and Pakistan in 1947 as one of the largest refugee-producing moments in the global history of 20th century nation-building (Alexander et al. 2016). The partition led to the homelessness of millions of Sikhs, Hindus and Muslims on both sides of the border (Roy & Bhatia 2008). While newly-formed national and religious boundaries between India and Pakistan witnessed an exodus of approximately 15 million refugees, thousands lost their lives. Thousands of women were abducted, raped and forced to convert to Islam, Hinduism or Sikhism, depending on the religion of their abductors. The abduction and conversion of women aimed at increasing the demographic strength of either country, characterised the partition as biological warfare between emergent religious nationalism in 1947 (Das 1995). While the Indian and Pakistani governments rescued abducted women from both sides of the border, their Hindu and Sikh pre-partition families rejected these women, considering them "impure". Children born out of this biological warfare were considered products of the "enemy" and largely abandoned (Butalia 1993; Das 2006). The partition, especially for women and children, was perilous (Menon and Bhasin 1998) and transformative (Tan & Kudaisya 2000): A catastrophe that transformed the postcolonial Indian psyche into becoming migratory (Nandy 2007).

My research describes the history of emotions associated with partition migration in North India, focussing specifically on refugees in India after 1947, and I base my arguments on the theoretical outline of "Emotional Communities" by Barbara Rosenwein (2010: 1-32). Rosenwein situates the history of emotions as emerging between self-defined communities (like families) and historical change within these, impacted by emotions. Rosenwein deconstructs biological perspectives about emotions, while refusing to give undue primacy to currently-experienced emotions. Instead, she identifies emotions as historical agents that impact and transform community identity over time.

Applying Rosenwein's theory of emotional communities to the partition and refugees in India after 1947, one observes the formation of a three-layered emotional community originating from India's nationalist struggle. While Indian anti-colonial movement inhabited one layer, the political demand for a separate Muslim nation (Pakistan) and separate religions (Muslim for Pakistan and Hindu for India), the partition and ensuing religious nationalism formed the second mutually conflicting layer. This ambivalence characterises the partition between India and Pakistan as a liminal movement that overlapped with the uncertainty of British withdrawal from India and the euphoria of independence (Iob 2018). While the first anti-colonial layer witnessed unity between Muslims and Hindus against the British, this was over-ridden by the second layer that witnessed division between Muslim (Pakistani) nationalism and Hindu (Indian) nationalism.

These two conflicting layers were further complicated by territorial divisions that constituted the third layer of India's emotional community. The linguistically united Punjabi community was internally bonded due to their common vernacular expressions and regional customs (Mir 2010), but partition led to conflicts between Muslim Punjabis, Hindu Punjabis and Sikhs over commonly owned territories and the question of Punjab's belonging to India and Pakistan. Indeed, as Iob describes (2018: 13-44), religious communities in the Punjab attempted to maximise territorial control in the months before the partition through violence. Hindus and Muslims sought to eliminate each other in every village to conquer as much territory on their side of the border. They fought each other not just for nationalism or religion, but for control over their villages and vernacular micro-regions. Partition therefore ruptured all three layers of India's emotional community (national, religious and vernacular) as refugees from opposite sides of the border rushed to its "right" side.

Muslims who stayed behind in India and Hindus who stayed behind in Pakistan were considered "minorities" and treated like hostages by both countries. Anti-Hindu minority violence in Pakistan was reciprocated by anti-Muslim minority violence in India (Talbot 2006). Sikh-Hindu refugees were viewed as upholders of Indian nationalism, as their arrival from across the border supported the idea of Hindu-India against a Muslim-Pakistan. The heroism ascribed to Sikh-Hindu refugees became gradually associated with their entitlement to gain new material prosperity in India, as stories of their courage were accompanied by their representation as victims.

For example, this advertisement from the *Times of India* dated December 1947, encouraged Indians to help refugees materially, while portraying Sikhs (in the forefront of the long caravan) as leaders. Refugee heroism intensified hatred against Muslim minorities in India (Talbot 2006) and their residential areas were ghettoised and dubbed "mini-Pakistan" (Zamindar 2007) to mark refugee entitlement over these spaces, since refugee homes in Pakistan had been taken by Muslims.



Copyright: British Library Board (*Times of India*; December 4, 1947).

### Emotional responses to refugees in India after 1947

Emotional responses to refugees were heterogeneous, impacting the formation of various complex emotional communities in postcolonial India. In this discussion, I highlight six emotional responses to partition that altered the postcolonial history of refugees.

The first emotional response criticised refugees for spreading partition violence within "peaceful" Indian society, especially in places that had not undergone partition or witnessed rioting. Feminist scholarship on refugee violence has also outlined how refugees murdered women from their own family to prevent their abduction by Muslims (Butalia 1998). This image of the violent refugee was likened to the spreading contagion of partition, as refugee struggles for financial stability were ascribed to greed (Talbot & Tatla 2006). This emotional response led to the emergence of anti-refugee and anti-North India politics in vernacular regions outside the partition zone (like Maharashtra), where refugees demanded resettlement (Purandare 2012). This growing antipathy towards refugees was sharply criticised by Gandhi, who urged host society members to accept them (Akbar 2003).

The **second emotional response**, somewhat associated with the first, challenged refugees for their claimed entitlement to prosperity. This challenge was publicly articulated through displays of "pity". Pity, thinly-veiled as refugee antipathy, humiliated refugees and deprived them from rightful material gain in India. Pity produced refugees at the mercy of host-society charity. This advertisement from December 1947 (*Times of India* (Bombay) - see next page), for example, demonstrates the public pity projected on impoverished refugees. The political veneer of this advertisement is noteworthy, since the price of the folding bed in question (Rs. 35) was relatively expensive for 1947 in India.

The **third emotional response**, associated with the first two, likened Sikh-Hindu refugees with Muslim minorities in India, reducing them both to their common Pakistan connection. While Sikh-Hindu refugees had lost homes in Pakistan and carried nostalgic memories, Muslim minorities in India were associated with the exodus to lost Hindu homes in Pakistan. Refugees and Muslims became symbols of the partition and of Pakistan that reduced the purity of the



Copyright: British Library Board (*Times of India*; December 2, 1947).

Hindu nation (Zamindar 2007), as both refugees and Muslims were considered Pakistani at heart. Sikh-Hindu refugees and Muslim minorities also belonged to the same vernacular region in North India and shared languages like Hindustani and Punjabi. Their similarity with one another produced competitive violence between them. Refugees attacked Muslims to occupy Muslim neighbourhoods in "mini-Pakistan" that compensated for their losses in Pakistan and simultaneously demonstrated Indian-ness (Zamindar 2007: 79-119). Hindu nationalism that blamed Muslim minorities for refugee woes led to the gradual internalisation of anti-Muslim violence as a valid form of Indian integration (Pandey 2001).

The fourth emotional response to partition segregated Hindu Punjabi refugees from Sikh refugees. Sikh refugees who had once united with Hindu refugees against Muslims and Pakistanis separated ways violently as they competed for resources. Hindu refugees seeking to integrate with other Hindu Indians derided Sikhs as ridiculous, violent and uncivilized. As the public domain in India overflowed with anti-Sikh humour, the Sikhs implored the Indian Supreme Court in March 2017 to implement a legal prohibition on anti-Sikh jokes that offended their religious sentiments. While Sikhs expressed disappointment at their exclusion within Hindu society, they asserted their religious self-determination through the Khalistan movement (Kinnvall 2006), as Hindu refugees sought to integrate with other North Indian Hindus by joining religious-political groups like the Arya Samaj that endorsed Hindu revivalism (Thursby 1975).

The fifth emotional response to partition and refugees was first expressed by the British, and later inherited by elite Indians. Since the British and other elites escaped partition violence when crossing the border by taking expensive flights and ship journeys, their emotional response to partition claimed to "not understand" religious nationalism and its ensuing violence. While this claim of "not understanding" was aimed at preserving the first anti-colonial emotional layer of the Indian community that had once united Sikhs, Hindus and Muslims against the British, it also demarcated elite political positioning in post-partition India as important agents of Indian secularism. Furthermore, the emotional response of not "understanding" originated from personal and family disconnection with the displacement and violence of partition, and reflected commonly-held British emotions of "not understanding" religious nationalism, despite colonial discourse embodying nation-building, and their policies of governance through "divide and rule" in India (Khan 2007). In the cartoon below, published by the Times of India (Bombay) in October 1947, two British women express dismay about the partition and separating neighbours, while sitting in a movie theatre.

The final sixth emotional response to partition highlights refugee "silence". This silence is contextualised within emotions of not finding a united voice or establishing a fourth layer of India's emotional community. Instead, refugees became fragmented as their infighting religious groups competed for resources. While this infighting characterised refugees as violently competitive about others, it also highlighted their patriarchal oppression of women within their own micro-groups. Feminist scholarship (Butalia 1998; 1993; 2010) has explored the resulting silence of refugee women, unable to challenge in-group patriarchal violence, since this would result in their excommunication. While Hindu refugees became woven into the emotional fabric of postcolonial Hindu-Indian nationalism, they became fragmented from Sikh refugees, who had also supported Hindu-India in 1947. The emotional isolation, oppression and silence of refugee women within fragmented Hindu and Sikh groups have been likened to a drone of unresolved emotions: Shame, confusion and trauma (Chakravarti 1994; Das 2006). While the silence of refugee women symbolised the national trauma of the Indian partition, it is also marked partition with revulsion and associated it with the horror

# Conclusion: Theoretical underpinnings and internal linkages

I have so far outlined six emotional responses to the formation of a triple-layered emotional community in India that impacted the history of partition refugees, creating smaller and competitive micro-groups that segregated Hindus from Sikhs, and refugee men from refugee women. While these splits produced by government irresponsibility towards refugees and minorities perpetuated colonial policies of "divide and rule", it blamed refugees for host society difficulties. Further, it blamed Muslim minorities for refugee difficulties, Sikh refugees and Hindu refugees for each other's difficulties and male refugees for the oppression of female refugees. Ensuing infighting between these already fragmented groups was justified as a form of righteous honour that allegedly explained violence: Refugee honour for supporting Hindu-Indian nationalism, Sikh honour as leaders of the partition exodus, Hindu honour for establishing religious-majority nationalism, and the masculine honour of instituting ethnic purity. Based on Ranajit Guha's (2012) debate on Indian history that can be considered relevant only when invoking the moral value invested in writing world history more meaningfully, I will end this article by applying some of the already explored problems of Indian refugees in 1947 to the general question of refugee exclusion.

It becomes evident for example that imagining refugees as monolithic and as the same-culture groups (Punjabis, Hindus, Indian and men) confounds the issue of integration. Not all Punjabis could integrate across national and religious boundaries after partition, and neither did men and women refugees share the same experiences of embodying ethnic honour, and its related validation of violence against those who were accused of threatening its purity. Neither was the host society monolithic. Within newly independent Hindu India, there were Muslim minorities as well as other Hindu regions that had neither undergone territorial division nor migration. These regional groups and minorities contested refugee pride and honour. Partition refugees in India also did not receive much government support.

Being unable to accommodate millions of refugees, the Indian government assumed specific tasks like establishing temporary camps and retrieving abducted women. They left the resettlement of refugees largely to a civil society that lacked the partition experience, despite sharing similar cultural backgrounds. Other refugees and disempowered members of host society were so financially insecure that they also competed with refugees. There were millions of refugees in India between 1946 and 1948 who were unable to find work and resettlement. Their competitiveness against other more successful refugees expressed itself in allying with underprivileged members of the host society. Left alone without government support or civil society empathy, refugees and disempowered members of the host society organised into tighter religious and ethnic groups that struggled for financial stability and nationalist belonging by claiming purity and honour. Women, who could not complain against government apathy or men from their own ethnic kin group that governed community interests, were silenced with the partition, as their task became relegated to upholding the honour and purity of their community.



What we learn in general about refugees on a global

Copyright: British Library Board (Times of India; October 30th 1947).

scale from the partition example can be better posed as questions:

- Would government support reduce refugee exclusion, mitigating their fragmentation into smaller, competitive and hard line groups?
- Would enabling refugee financial stability constitute a constructive path towards solving problems encountered within refugee integration?
- Would civil society empathy about the migration experience (irrespective of cultural difference/ similarity) alleviate distrust against refugees?
- Would educating refugees about notions of upholding community honour and purity help them integrate better?

#### References

Akbar, M.J. (2003). *India the Siege Within: Challenges to a Nation's Unity*. New Delhi: Roli Books.

Alexander, C., Chatterji, J. & Jalais, A. (2016). *The Bengal Diaspora: Rethinking Muslim Migration*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Butalia, U. (1993). Community, State and Gender: On Women's Agency during Partition. *Economic and Political Weekly*, *28*(17): 12-24

Butalia, U. (2010). Voices from the Partition. In D. P. Mines,
& L. Sarah (Ed.), *Everyday Life in South Asia* (pp. 314 - 327). Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Butalia, U. (1998). *The Other Side of Silence: Voices from the Partition of India*. New Delhi: Penguin Books.

Chakravarti, U. (1994). Victims, "Neighbours" and "Watan": Survivors of Anti-Sikh Carnage of 1984. *Economic and Political Weekly*, *29*(42): 2722-2726.

Das, V. (1995). *Critical Events: An Anthropological Perspective on Contemporary India*. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Das, V. (2006). *Life and Words: Violence and the Descent into the Ordinary*. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.

Guha, R. (2012). *History at the Limit of World History*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Iob, E. (2018). *Refugees and the Politics of the Everyday State in Pakistan: Resettlement in Punjab, 1947-1962.* Abingdon and New York: Routledge.

Khan, Y. (2008). *The Great Partition: the making of India and Pakistan*. London: Yale University Press.

Kinnvall, C. (2006). *Globalization and Religious Nationalism in India: The Search for Ontological Security*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Kristeva, J. (1941). *Powers of Horror: An Essay on Abjection*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Menon, R. & Bhasin, K. (1998). *Borders and Boundaries: Women in India's Partition*. New Delhi: Kali for Women and Women Unlimited.

Mir, F. (2010). *The Social Space of Language: Vernacular Culture in British Colonial Punjab.* Berkeley and Los Angeles: The University of California Press.

Nandy, A. (2007). *An Ambiguous Journey to the City: The Village and Other Odd Ruins of the Self in the Indian Imagination*. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.

Pandey, G. (2001). *Remembering Partition: Violence, Nationalism and History in India*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Purandare, V. (2012). *Bal Thackeray* & *The Rise of Shiv Sena*. New Delhi: Roli Books.

Rosenwein, B. (2010). Problems and Methods in the History of Emotions. *Passions in Context*, 1(1): 1-32.

Roy, A. G. & Bhatia, N. (Ed.) (2008). *Partitioned Lives: Narratives of Home, Displacement, and Settlement*. New Delhi: Dorling Kindersley (India) Pvt. Ltd.

Talbot, I. (2006). *Divided Cities: Partition and its Aftermath in Lahore and Amritsar 1947-1957*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Talbot, I. & Tatla, D. S. (Ed.) (2006). *Epicentre of Violence: Partition Voices and Memories from Amritsar*. Ranikhet: Permanent Black.

Tan T. Y. & Kudaisya, G. (2000). The Aftermath of Partition in

South Asia. London and New York: Routledge.

Thursby, G. R. (1975). *Hindu-Muslim Relations in British India: a study of controversy, conflict, and communal movements in Northern India 1923-1928*. Leiden: E.J. Brill.

Zamindar, V. F.-Y. (2007). *The Long Partition and the Making of Modern South Asia: Refugees, Boundaries and Histories*. New York: Columbia University Press.

# Conclusions

# Reflections on Culture as a Driver of Inclusion (To Be Continued)

#### Andreas Edel and Aimie Bouju

Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany

Cultural divergence, insufficient language skills and knowledge of the norms and values of the country of destination, as well as pronounced religious otherness are often considered as one of the **main obstacles to successful integration of immigrants**. However, this discussion paper showed that even under "optimal" conditions with regard to the categories mentioned above, i.e. bilingualism or even the same mother tongue, shared cultural traditions and narratives, as well as same religious beliefs, the pathway to inclusion is not necessarily any smoother.

Three different scenarios have been taken into regard: Migrants originating from "broken" communities after a dissolution of the political entity where they were living for centuries; the situation of immigrants in multi-ethnic communities who share some cultural traditions with the majority of the population in the country of destination due to their common colonial past; and societies where ethnic diversity has been a less pronounced obstacle on the way to integration due to an overarching concept of social cohesion, such as the socialist notion of transnational solidarity within the "working class".

Regarding the first group, the example of **ethnic Germans**, who arrived as expellees in the residual territories of Germany after the Second World War, is particularly striking. They were often welcomed by their fellow countrymen with strong resentment and some often faced discrimination. As **Soňa Mikulová** pointed out, even religion did not always help to unite both groups during the first years after arrival. In the churches of the same denomination, the "otherness" of the refugees in terms of liturgical practices caused tensions with the existing parishes. As **Pascal Maeder** discovered from oral history interviews with German expellees who moved to Germany after leaving eastern European countries or those who moved to Canada, discrimination happened in both countries, independent of cultural similarity (or dissimilarity). Still, ethnic Germans were able to renegotiate their identities after migration. The cultural context provided in the country one migrated to shaped the framework conditions for it. In the case of Hungary, evidence from population data presented by Attila Melegh and Attila Papp Z. showed that the political support for immigration and naturalisation of individuals who were born within the boundaries of the former Kingdom of Hungary effectively did not disadvantage other immigrant groups in terms of integration (such as Vietnamese immigrants), where a longer stay in the country and better educational attainment also mattered. Furthermore, "co-ethnic" immigrants could be exposed to discrimination, too. Deepra Dandekar focused on the drivers of segregation among the Hindu, Muslim and Sikh population in the former Punjab province of British India, which after the independence of 1947 was partitioned among the two successor states India and Pakistan. Here again, in an even more dramatic way, the partition of India and Pakistan produced violence and barbarism between religious groups, despite previously belonging to the same British Indian Empire. Applying the concept of "emotional communities", her contribution highlighted that we can gain a deeper understanding of the conflict lines, the emotional responses and the traumatic experience caused by the separation.

The second group of case studies referred to the experience of **post-colonial migration to states in Europe with a strong imperial legacy**, namely the United Kingdom, France, Spain and Portugal. As **Laurence Lessard-Phillips** showed in the **United Kingdom**, immigrants from the "Commonwealth" increasingly became subject to distinction along the lines of ancestry and "partiality", namely ethnicity and even race. This especially provided "white" immigrants from the so-called "Old Commonwealth States" (Australia, Canada and New Zealand) advantages in the process of integration. Even if language proficiency, when tested, facilitated the access to education and the labour market, inequalities among the Commonwealth immigrants were still persistent. In France, as Tatiana Eremenko pointed out, ethnic categorisations, such as in the United Kingdom, did not exist, at least not in the official data. Proficiency in French, as well as cultural entanglements and transnational networks between former colonies and France, encouraged migration towards the metropole, and also after arrival facilitated the pathway towards integration. However, discrimination still took place and continues, particularly towards immigrants from Sub-Saharan Africa who have worse outcomes with regard to integration in comparison to other immigrant groups. The development in Spain, as laid out by Andreu Domingo i Valls, is a different case insofar as it was characterised more by "positive discrimination" of Latin American immigrants, following a "pan-Spanish" ideology since the times of Franco, but also in reaction to labour force shortages. On the one hand, preferences for Latin Americans had negative effects on the integration chances of immigrants from other countries and particularly Morocco; on the other hand, this did not automatically mean that the privileged could overcome disadvantages in comparison to Spanish natives, e.g. with regard to access to jobs equivalent to their qualification and upward social mobility. Furthermore, there are also considerable differentiations within the Latin American immigrant groups, which led to discrimination, e.g. based on racial characteristics. In the case of Brazilian immigrants to Portugal, João Sardinha drew attention to another important factor beyond shared language and cultural backgrounds, which has a strong impact on integration pathways, namely stereotypes, such as the clichés about typical "characteristics' of an immigrant population. Such prejudices reduced the access of Brazilians to special branches of the labour market, and the line between connotations of immigrants as "exotic", active discrimination and transgressive behaviour is blurred.

The cases of **Bulgaria and Russia** are particularly interesting since during the communist period, discrimination based on ethnic diversity was not an appropriate feature of the policy discourse due to the overarching idea of "socialist brotherhood" within the Soviet hegemony. It is therefore more interesting to see what happened when this factor was diminished after 1989. As Anna Krasteva pointed out, in the interactions between politics and culture, politics always wins in the conception and implementation of integration policies. The cultural similarities have not softened or dampened the abrupt political transitions from the humanitarian treatment of Russian refugees after the First World War to privileged reception during the communist period and to hostile discourse in the current post-communist period. The case of Russia after the collapse of the Soviet Union introduced by Paul Becker shows that there have been waves of discrimination and hate crimes against non-Russian populations that require further explanation. Nevertheless, one can see that the idea of the socialist "brotherhood of people" had not survived the political environment it was born in. However, as far as one can see from the scarce reliable data, it matters how the issue of ethnic discrimination and hate crimes has been treated within political campaigns, in the media, by political leadership, by state legislation and in crime prosecution.

By retracing the journey to integration for various immigrant groups who share basic cultural patterns with the receiving countries, the authors of this discussion paper highlighted that in most cases "culture" is only used as an analogy for "foreignness", i.e. much less an objective pattern, but a subjective perception within the public discourse of the country of destination. As some authors suggest, the role of political agenda setting within the public discourse needs to be considered more. Policies are twofold: They can decisively counteract discriminatory incitements and hate crimes, or they can also support agitation against immigrants, both passively and actively. On the one side, they may pursue an inclusive strategy, promoting supranational concepts such as the "socialist brotherhood" or the invention of a "greater" national community, which also includes those living abroad, but considered ethnically, culturally or linguistically similar into the own community. On the other side, policies provide a framework defining who are the "foreigners" and "undesirables". This concept can be continuously shifted to other (new) immigrant groups.

With a focus on the **native population in the country of destination**, it seems that despite the arguments of cultural diversity, fears of losing privileged access to socio-economic resources and particularly advantages in the labour market play an important role in discriminatory attitudes. This does not only apply to poorly developed regions or socially disadvantaged groups. Anticipated fear of social decline and threats of one's own social status is often the root of resentment - even if individuals' living conditions may have considerably improved over the last decades. Not surprisingly, strong anti-migrant resentments also appear in regions which either do not face any immigration at all, or are exposed to socio-economic issues caused by causes other than migrants. Populist campaigns can also not be forgotten, which use alienation and social discrimination as an easy argument to sell themselves as advocates of the disregarded.

There are also some inconsistencies with regard to what actually constitutes cultural identity. Arguments referring to the concept of "the West", "the Occident", "Europe", or "Christianity", often completely disregard that in the process of historical evolution in most of the European countries, ethnic, cultural and religious plurality has evolved - but not uniformity. In some countries which were formed by two or more ethnicities, there is not even consensus about what language should be predominately spoken. As authors pointed out, neither immigrant nor the native population in the host countries can be seen as monolithic, and this especially refers to cultural identities; not to forget that there are also strong variations according to ethnic backgrounds and gender preferences in the host countries, as well as, within the migrant communities.

Finally, **patience may sometimes matter**: Many articles showed that integration of culturally diverse, but also homogenous populations takes time, sometimes 10 years, sometimes even a generation. As shown for the German migrants, some were heavily discriminated after they arrived, but after a few decades, they had completely assimilated. Still, time as an argument needs to be discussed as we see that some disparities may be reproduced across generations, especially when we think about the experience of "visible" ethnic groups, for instance in the labour market.

Generally speaking, most countries have gained from waves of immigration since they have existed, and immigration waves are quite common throughout history for any country, as some authors mentioned. In any case, this discussion paper makes a strong case that cultural diversity as an argument should be used more carefully, and more research has to be done on the issue to better understand what in fact supports exclusion vs. inclusion and how cultural diversity can be weighed against those factors. The Max Planck Society's research initiative on migration and integration is currently underway to explore the drivers and mechanisms, the actors and agencies, as well as the obstacles of exclusion. One of the take-home messages from this discussion paper could be: Similarities between migrants and natives do not imply a smooth integration into hosts societies. Consequently, cultural distance as an obstacle towards successful integration of immigrants should be revised as a political argument, and tackled with responsibility in words and deeds.

www.population-europe.eu **70** 

# **About the Authors**



**Dr Paul Becker** Research Scientist *Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany* becker@demogr.mpg.de



Aimie Bouju, MA Research Scientist Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany bouju@demogr.mpg.de



**Dr Deepra Dandekar** Researcher *Center for the History of Emotions, Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Germany* dandekar@mpib-berlin.mpg.de



**Prof. Dr Andreu Domingo i Valls** Deputy Director and Adjunct Professor in the Department of Geography *Centre d'Estudis Demogràfics, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Spain* adomingo@ced.uab.es



**Dr Andreas Edel** Executive Secretary Population Europe / Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Germany edel@demogr.mpg.de

© Lina Grün



**Dr Tatiana Eremenko** Post-doctoral Researcher *National University of Distance Education (UNED) / French Institute for Demographic Studies (Ined)* tatiana.eremenko@ined.fr



Director

## Prof. Anna Krasteva doctor honoris causa

Centre for European Refugees Migration and Ethnic Studies (CERMES), New Bulgarian University anna.krasteva@gmail.com



**Dr Laurence Lessard-Phillips** Research Fellow *Institute for Research into Superdiversity (IRiS), University of Birmingham, United Kingdom* I.lessard-phillips@bham.ac.uk



**Dr Pascal Maeder** Knowledge Transfer Officer *Swiss National Centre of Competence in Research (NCCR Lives) / HES-SO, Switzerland* pascal.maeder@hes-so.ch



Dr Attila Melegh Senior Research Fellow Demographic Research Institute Budapest, Hungary attila.melegh@uni-corvinus.hu



**Dr Soňa Mikulová** Researcher *Center for the History of Emotions, Max Planck Institute for Human Development, Germany* mikulova@mpib-berlin.mpg.de



**Dr Attila Papp Z.** Senior Research Fellow, Director of Institute *HAS Centre for Social Science, Hungarian Academy of Science, Hungary* pappza@yahoo.com



**Dr João Sardinha** Researcher *Institute of Social Sciences, University of Lisbon, Portugal* jmssardinha@gmail.com

Discussion Paper | September 2018

www.population-europe.eu